

#### Addressing patient education gaps in obstructive sleep apnoea

Rabie Adel El Arab

http://hdl.handle.net/10803/689174

**ADVERTIMENT**. L'accés als continguts d'aquesta tesi doctoral i la seva utilització ha de respectar els drets de la persona autora. Pot ser utilitzada per a consulta o estudi personal, així com en activitats o materials d'investigació i docència en els termes establerts a l'art. 32 del Text Refós de la Llei de Propietat Intel·lectual (RDL 1/1996). Per altres utilitzacions es requereix l'autorització prèvia i expressa de la persona autora. En qualsevol cas, en la utilització dels seus continguts caldrà indicar de forma clara el nom i cognoms de la persona autora i el títol de la tesi doctoral. No s'autoritza la seva reproducció o altres formes d'explotació efectuades amb finalitats de lucre ni la seva comunicació pública des d'un lloc aliè al servei TDX. Tampoc s'autoritza la presentació del seu contingut en una finestra o marc aliè a TDX (framing). Aquesta reserva de drets afecta tant als continguts de la tesi com als seus resums i índexs.

**ADVERTENCIA.** El acceso a los contenidos de esta tesis doctoral y su utilización debe respetar los derechos de la persona autora. Puede ser utilizada para consulta o estudio personal, así como en actividades o materiales de investigación y docencia en los términos establecidos en el art. 32 del Texto Refundido de la Ley de Propiedad Intelectual (RDL 1/1996). Para otros usos se requiere la autorización previa y expresa de la persona autora. En cualquier caso, en la utilización de sus contenidos se deberá indicar de forma clara el nombre y apellidos de la persona autora y el título de la tesis doctoral. No se autoriza su reproducción u otras formas de explotación efectuadas con fines lucrativos ni su comunicación pública desde un sitio ajeno al servicio TDR. Tampoco se autoriza la presentación de su contenido en una ventana o marco ajeno a TDR (framing). Esta reserva de derechos afecta tanto al contenido de la tesis como a sus resúmenes e índices.

**WARNING**. Access to the contents of this doctoral thesis and its use must respect the rights of the author. It can be used for reference or private study, as well as research and learning activities or materials in the terms established by the 32nd article of the Spanish Consolidated Copyright Act (RDL 1/1996). Express and previous authorization of the author is required for any other uses. In any case, when using its content, full name of the author and title of the thesis must be clearly indicated. Reproduction or other forms of for profit use or public communication from outside TDX service is not allowed. Presentation of its content in a window or frame external to TDX (framing) is not authorized either. These rights affect both the content of the thesis and its abstracts and indexes.



### **TESI DOCTORAL**

### Addressing patient education gaps in

#### obstructive sleep apnoea

Rabie Adel

Memòria presentada per optar al grau de Doctor per la Universitat de Lleida Programa de Doctorat en Cures Integrals i Serveis de Salut

> Directores Dr. Manuel Sánchez de la Torre Dr. Francesc Valenzuela Pascual

> Tutor Dr. Francesc Valenzuela Pascual

> > 2023

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Throughout life's academic journey, there are threads woven by individuals who contribute their wisdom, support, and encouragement to the development of our most profound achievements. I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to those who have played a crucial role in the completion of my doctoral thesis.

Firstly, I would like to express my deep gratitude to the University of Lleida for providing me with the opportunity to participate in their -doctoral program, that has enabled me to devote myself fully to the pursuit of knowledge. Furthermore, I am grateful for the opportunity to complete my doctoral thesis under the distinguished affiliation of the Lleida Biomedical Research Institute, particularly the Grup de Recerca en Cures en Salut (GRECS).

It is with great honor that I send my sincere gratitude to Dr. Montserrat Gea-Sánchez, my academic godparent, who recognized my potential and selected me from a large number of candidates to participate in this life-changing PhD program. I would like to acknowledge Filip Bellon for his assistance with the preparation of incorporating PhD program documents and his unwavering guidance throughout the application process.

In particular, I wish to express my gratitude to Roland Pastells-Peiró, who was my first acquaintance in Lleida, for his tireless efforts in keeping me informed during the unprecedented challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic and in ensuring the smooth completion of all necessary institutional formalities.

Throughout these past three years, I am profoundly grateful to my exceptional supervisors, Dr. Manuel Sanchez de la Torre and Dr. Francesc Valenzuela Pascual, for their mentoring and support. A special mention should be made of Dr. Esther Rubinat, whose encouragement reinforced my resolve to persevere even in the face of doubt. I am also grateful to Dr. Joan Blanco, Dr. Francesc Rubí, and Dr. Olga Mediano for their overwhelming kindness.

To my colleagues Erica Briones Vozmediano, José Tomás Mateos, Josep Maria Gutiérrez Vilaplana, Helena Fernández-Lago, Maria Masbernat-Almenara, Carolina Climent-Sanz, Oriol Martínez-Navarro, Xisco Verdejo-Amengual, Jordi Martínez-Soldevila, Laia Llubes Arrià and my office co-workers Laza Celmira, Carla Cami and Mariana Loezar Hernández: our camaraderie has been a beacon of light throughout this journey.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all members of the Department of Nursing and Physiotherapy for their unwavering support. I would also like to acknowledge the heroes behind the scenes who worked tirelessly to ensure all students had the best experience possible.

The U-care research group at Uppsala University with special recognition for hosting me during my three-month tenure. My appreciation extends to Dr. Louise von Essen, Dr. Joanne Woodford, Chelsea Coumoundouros, and all the members of the Department of Women's and Children's Health at Uppsala University.

Finally, I dedicate this achievement to my loving nieces, nephews, and siblings.

As I pen this acknowledgement, I am reminded of the innumerable individuals who have contributed to my academic journey. To each and every one of you, I extend my sincerest gratitude for your invaluable contributions. TABLE OF CONTENTS

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGMENTSII
LIST OF TABLESX
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ANNEXESXIV
RESUMENXIX
RESUMXXII
ABSTRACTXXIV
AN OVERVIEW OF THE THESISXXVI
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. Prevalence of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea2
1.2. Defining OSA: Apnoea and Hypopnoea3
1.3. A Global Perspective
1.4. Unpacking the Multifactorial Pathophysiology of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea5
1.5. The Multifaceted Nature of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea Symptoms and Consequences
1.6. Unmodifiable and modifiable Risk Factors for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea7
1.7. An Exploration of Comorbidities Associated with Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: Implications for Diagnosis and Treatment10
1.8. Overview of Screening Tools for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea
1.8.1. Epworth Sleepiness Scale19
1.8.2. Berlin Questionnaire20
1.8.3. STOP-BANG Questionnaire21
1.9. Diagnosis of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea22
1.9.1. Polysomnography- Gold Standard Diagnostic Test
1.10. Tailored Treatment Approach for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea25
1.11. Patient Education
1.12. Behavioural Change Interventions28
1.12.1. Weight Management29
1.12.2. Physical Activity
1.13. Positive Airway Pressure Therapy32

1.14. Exploring Non-PAP Therapies for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea	38
1.14.1. Pharmacological Treatment	41
1.14.2. Surgical Treatment	
1.15. International Consensus Document on Obstructive Sleep Apnoea	45
1.16. Research Gap	47
1.17. Thesis Hypothesis and Objectives	48
2. METHODOLOGY	50
2.1. Literature Review	50
2.2. Qualitative Study	51
2.2.1. Conceptual Framework	51
2.3. Study Design	53
2.4. Sampling	53
2.5. Participants	54
2.6. Data Collection	54
2.7. Interview Guide	55
2.8. Data Analysis	56
3. RESULTS	59
3.1. Literature Review	59
3.2. Qualitative Study	60
3.2.1. An Introduction to Obstructive Sleep Apnoea 101	60
3.2.2. Weight Management: How to Do it?	63
3.2.3. Sleep, it's all that Matters	67
3.2.4. Physical Activity: Let's Talk About It	71
3.2.5. Physical Activity and OSA Symptom Severity	
3.2.6. Barriers to Exercise	
4. DISCUSSION	76
4.1. Literature Review	76
4.2. Qualitative Study	77
4.2.1. Theme 1: An Introduction to OSA 101	77
4.2.2. Theme 2. Weight Management	79
4.2.3. Theme 3. Sleep, it's all that Matters	80

4.2.4. Theme 4. Physical Activity: Let's Talk About it	80
4.3. Theoretical discussion	82
4.4. Recommendations and Implications	83
4.4.1. Recommendations	83
4.4.2. Implications	84
4.5. Limitations	88
4.5.1. Overall PhD Project Limitations	88
4.5.2. Literature Review Limitations	89
4.5.3. Qualitative Study	90
4.5.4. Trustworthiness	91
4.6. Conclusion	91
4.7. Ethical Considerations	92
REFERENCES	94
ANNEXES 1	39
APPENDIX A: Nursing Professionals' Role in the Comprehensive Management of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: A Literature Review	: 40
APPENDIX B: Information Sheet	141
APPENDIX C: Consent Form 1	46

### LIST OF TABLES

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. The AHI scoring according to the manual of 2012 from American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM).         4
Table 2. AASM algorithms of the two pathways to an OSA diagnosis.         24
Table 3. Treatment options for obstructive sleep apnoea: narrative summary
Table 5. An overview of the four main themes, subthemes, and corresponding codesderived from the transcripts.73
Table 5. An overview of the four main themes, subthemes, and corresponding codesderived from the transcripts.74

## LIST OF FIGURES

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Schematic of the four key phenotypes that cause obstructive sleep apnoea. From (18)6
Figure 2. Obstructive sleep apnoea symptoms and diagnosis from (71)23
Figure 3. Current considerations on the heterogeneity of obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA). From (164)27
Figure 4. Proposed therapeutic algorithm for obstructive sleep apnoea. From (257).
Figure 5. Conceptualisation of nurse roles in care of patients with OSA. From (10)77

## LIST OF ANNEXES

# LIST OF ANNEXES

APPENDIX A: Nursing Professionals' Role in the Comprehensive Management of		
Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: A Literature Review		
APPENDIX B: Information Sheet141		
APPENDIX C: Consent Form146		

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- 24-h ABPM 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring
- AASM American Academy of Sleep Medicine
- AHI Apnoea-Hypopnoea Index
- BIPAP Bilevel Positive Airway Pressure
- BMI Body Mass Index
- BP Blood Pressure
- BQ Berlin Questionnaire
- CPAP Continuous Positive Airway Pressure
- CSA Central Sleep Apnoea
- CVD Cardiovascular Disease
- DISE Drug-Induced Sleep Endoscopy
- ECG Electrocardiogram
- ED Erectile Dysfunction
- EDS Excessive Daytime Sleepiness
- EEG Electroencephalography
- EQ-5D Five-Dimensions Questionnaire
- ERS European Respiratory Society
- ESS Epworth Sleepiness Scale
- FOSQ Functional Outcomes of Sleep Questionnaire
- HRP Home Respiratory Polygraphy
- HSAT Home Sleep Apnoea Test
- ICSD-3 International Classification of Sleep Disorders third version
- MAD Mandibular Advancement Device
- MCI Mild Cognitive Impairment

- MMA Maxillomandibular Advancement
- MDD Major Depressive Disorder
- OCST Out-of-Center Sleep Testing
- OA Oral Appliance
- OR Odds Ratio
- OSA Obstructive Sleep Apnoea
- PAP Positive Airway Pressure
- PSG Polysomnography
- PSQI Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index
- PTSD Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
- RDI Respiratory Disturbance Index
- REM Rapid Eye Movement
- SAVE Sleep Apnea Cardiovascular Endpoints
- SF-36 36-item Short Form Health Survey
- SDB Sleep-Disordered Breathing
- SHHS Sleep Heart Health Study
- SPO2 Oxygen Saturation
- STOP-BANG Snoring, Tiredness, Observed apnea, high blood Pressure-

BMI, Age, Neck circumference, Gender

T2D Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

## RESUMEN

Resumen

### Resumen

Objetivos: Esta tesis doctoral tuvo como objetivo investigar el papel de las enfermeras en el manejo de la apnea obstructiva del sueño y examinar las necesidades educativas y creencias, centrándose en los siguientes objetivos: 1) Revisar la literatura existente sobre los roles de las enfermeras en el manejo de la apnea obstructiva del sueño, con especial atención a la rentabilidad y efectividad de las intervenciones dirigidas por enfermeras. 2) Explorar las necesidades educativas, creencias y experiencias de las personas con apnea obstructiva del sueño, y 3) Proporcionar recomendaciones basadas en la evidencia para informar el desarrollo de materiales educativos e intervenciones. Métodos: Se empleó un enfoque de métodos mixtos, incluida una revisión de la literatura y entrevistas semiestructuradas presenciales con 11 personas con apnea obstructiva del sueño en Lleida, España. La revisión de la literatura evaluó el papel de las enfermeras, y el análisis cualitativo de las entrevistas empleó un enfoque temático. El Modelo de Creencias de Salud sirvió como marco teórico para la discusión. Resultados: La revisión de la literatura reveló que las enfermeras pueden contribuir al manejo de la apnea obstructiva del sueño en diversos aspectos, como el cribado, la evaluación y la educación del paciente. El estudio cualitativo identificó cuatro temas clave que arrojan luz sobre las diversas experiencias e impactos de la apnea obstructiva del sueño en la vida de las personas. Discusión: Los hallazgos de la revisión de la literatura y del estudio cualitativo demuestran que las intervenciones lideradas por enfermeras pueden mejorar significativamente el manejo de la apnea obstructiva del sueño y los resultados en los pacientes. Los temas identificados destacan la necesidad de materiales educativos e intervenciones centrados en el paciente que aborden las brechas de conocimiento y los desafíos que los pacientes pueden enfrentar en el manejo de la apnea obstructiva del sueño. Es necesario involucrar a nutricionistas y fisioterapeutas en el proceso y que el sistema de atención médica cubra los costos asociados con estos profesionales. Las conclusiones de este estudio enfatizan la importancia de las enfermeras, nutricionistas y fisioterapeutas en la atención de la apnea obstructiva del sueño y en la educación de los pacientes. Se proporcionan recomendaciones basadas en la

evidencia para orientar el desarrollo de materiales educativos e intervenciones destinadas a mejorar el manejo de la apnea obstructiva del sueño y los resultados en los pacientes. Esta tesis aporta valiosos conocimientos a los campos de la medicina del sueño y la enfermería, promoviendo un modelo de atención médica centrado en el paciente y eficiente. Palabras clave: Apnea obstructiva del sueño, atención de enfermería; roles de las enfermeras; educación del paciente; atención integral.

### RESUM

## Resum

Objectius: Aquesta tesi doctoral va tenir com a objectiu investigar el paper de les infermeres en el maneig de l'apnea obstructiva del son i examinar les necessitats educatives i creences, centrant-se en els següents objectius: 1) Revisar la literatura existent sobre els rols de les infermeres en el maneig de l'apnea obstructiva del son, amb especial atenció a la rendibilitat i efectivitat de les intervencions dirigides per infermeres. 2) Explorar les necessitats educatives, creences i experiències de les persones amb apnea obstructiva del son, i 3) Proporcionar recomanacions basades en l'evidència per informar el desenvolupament de materials educatius i intervencions. Mètodes: Es va emprar un enfocament de mètodes mixtes, incloent una revisió de la literatura i entrevistes semiestructurades presencials amb 11 persones amb apnea obstructiva del son a Lleida, Espanya. La revisió de la literatura va avaluar el paper de les infermeres, i l'anàlisi qualitativa de les entrevistes va emprar un enfocament temàtic. El Model de Creences de Salut va servir com a marc teòric per a la discussió. Resultats: La revisió de la literatura va revelar que les infermeres poden contribuir al maneig de l'apnea obstructiva del son en diversos aspectes, com el cribratge, l'avaluació i l'educació del pacient. L'estudi qualitatiu va identificar quatre temes clau que llancen llum sobre les diverses experiències i impactes de l'apnea obstructiva del son en la vida de les persones. Discussió: Les troballes de la revisió de la literatura i de l'estudi qualitatiu demostren que les intervencions liderades per infermeres poden millorar significativament el maneig de l'apnea obstructiva del son i els resultats en els pacients. Els temes identificats destaquen la necessitat de materials educatius i intervencions centrats en el pacient que abordin les mancances de coneixement i els reptes que els pacients poden enfrontar en el maneig de l'apnea obstructiva del son. És necessari implicar a nutricionistes i fisioterapeutes en el procés i que el sistema d'atenció mèdica cobreixi els costos associats amb aquests professionals. Les conclusions d'aquest estudi enfatitzen la importància de les infermeres, nutricionistes i fisioterapeutes en l'atenció de l'apnea obstructiva del son i en l'educació dels pacients. Es proporcionen recomanacions basades en l'evidència per orientar el desenvolupament de materials

educatius i intervencions destinades a millorar el maneig de l'apnea obstructiva del son i els resultats en els pacients. Aquesta tesi aporta coneixements valiosos als camps de la medicina del son i la infermeria, promovent un model d'atenció mèdica centrat en el pacient i eficient.

Paraules clau: Apnea obstructiva del son, atenció d'infermeria; rols de les infermeres; educació del pacient; atenció integral.

#### Abstract

Objectives: This PhD thesis aimed to investigate the role of nurses in managing obstructive sleep apnoea and to examine educational needs and beliefs, focusing on the following objectives: 1) To review the existing literature on nurses' roles in obstructive sleep apnoea management, and with a focus on the cost-effectiveness and effectiveness of nurseled interventions. 2) To explore the educational needs, beliefs, and experiences of individuals with obstructive sleep apnoea, and 3) To provide evidence-based recommendations to inform the development of educational materials and interventions. Methods: A mixed-methods approach was employed, including a literature review and face-to-face semi-structured interviews with 11 individuals with obstructive sleep apnoea in Lleida, Spain. The literature review assessed the role of nurses, and the qualitative data analysis of the interviews employed a thematic approach. The Health Belief Model served as the theoretical framework for the discussion. Results: The literature review revealed that nurses can contribute to obstructive sleep apnoea management in various aspects, such as screening, assessment, and patient education. The qualitative study identified four key themes shedding light on the diverse experiences and impacts of obstructive sleep apnoea on individuals' lives. Discussion: Findings from the literature review and qualitative study demonstrate that nursing-led interventions can significantly improve obstructive sleep apnoea management and patient outcomes. The identified themes highlight the need for patient-centered education materials and interventions that address knowledge gaps and challenges patients may face in managing obstructive sleep apnoea. It is necessary that nutritionists and physical therapists be involved in the process, and that the healthcare system cover the costs associated with these professionals. The findings of this study emphasize the importance of nurses, nutritionists, and physical therapists in providing obstructive sleep apnoea care and providing education to patients. Evidence-based recommendations are provided to guide the development of educational materials and interventions aimed at improving obsructive sleep apnoea management and patient

outcomes. This thesis contributes valuable insights to both the fields of sleep medicine and nursing by promoting a patient-centered and efficient healthcare delivery model.

Keywords: Obstructive sleep apnoea, nursing care; nurses' roles; patient education; comprehensive care.

### $\mathbf{A}_{\mathsf{N}}$ overview of the thesis

Obstructive sleep apnoea is a common sleep breathing disorder affecting a significant number of individuals worldwide. There are several health conditions associated with this chronic disease. As a result, obstructive sleep apnoea can have a profound impact on the individual quality of life, including their ability to work, to perform daily activities and to maintain social relationships. In the first chapter, an in-depth discussion of obstructive sleep apnoea is presented, including its risk factors, symptoms, comorbidities, and treatment options. This introduction provides a context for the rest of the thesis, enabling the reader to better understand the significance of the research, and demonstrating the potential impact of the research on the management of obstructive sleep apnoea.

To illustrate, it was important to emphasize the prevalence of the condition, as well as its impact on individuals, families, and the healthcare systems. There is also discussion of several risk factors that contribute to obstructive sleep apnoea, including obesity and aging. Among the topics discussed are obstructive sleep apnoea symptoms, such as snoring, daytime sleepiness, and fatigue, as well as obstructive sleep apnoea -related comorbidities, such as hypertension, and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. The introduction chapter concludes by discussing the various treatment options for obstructive sleep apnoea, including lifestyle modifications such as weight loss and physical activity, positive airway pressure therapy, oral appliances, and surgery, as well as their advantages and disadvantages.

A literature review is devoted to the role nurses play in managing obstructive sleep apnoea both in sleep units and in primary care settings. Nursing plays a vital role in managing individuals with obstructive sleep apnoea, as they are often the first point of contact for individuals seeking treatment. Moreover, the review highlights the effectiveness of nursing-led interventions in the management of obstructive sleep apnoea, as well as the cost-effectiveness of managing obstructive sleep apnoea in primary care. The review indicates that nurses play a variety of key roles in managing obstructive sleep apnoea, including screening, diagnosing, and managing individuals with obstructive sleep apnoea, and providing education about the importance of adhering to treatment and the potential effectiveness of using telemedicine, and their roles in monitoring any side effects related to treatment, such as irritation in the face from using the CPAP device. As well as the coordination of care between different healthcare providers.

In addition, the review highlights several studies that have demonstrated the effectiveness of nurse-led interventions in the management of obstructive sleep apnoea. Lastly, the review emphasized the cost-effectiveness of managing obstructive sleep apnoea in primary care settings.

The findings of the qualitative phase of the Moore4Medical project, which involved semi-structured interviews with individuals suffering from obstructive sleep apnoea. In total, eleven individuals with obstructive sleep apnoea participated in interviews conducted between May 2022 and December 2022 in Lleida, Spain. The analysis of the data adopted the thematic analysis done through using Atlas.ti.

The findings indicate a lack of knowledge about the basics of obstructive sleep apnoea, such as the risk factors, treatment options, as well as the need for information related to weight loss, physical activity, and sleeping habits.

The findings are discussed using the health belief model as a framework. The purpose of using the health belief model to discuss the findings of this study was to better understand how individuals with obstructive sleep apnea perceive their health and their condition and how those perceptions influence their attitudes and behaviors. Also, how this information may be used in the development of more effective educational interventions or resources to provide better support to this population. The qualitative study presented in the thesis highlights the importance of developing educational resources and interventions that address these knowledge gaps by identifying the need for more information related to these aspects of OSA. The findings of this study will be utilized to develop educational materials using the web-based platform, thereby allowing better management of the condition and improving quality of life.

# INTRODUCTION

Introduction

#### **1.** INTRODUCTION

The term sleep disordered breathing (SDB) refers to periodic disruptions in respiratory pattern or inadequate ventilation during sleep (1). In the literature, SDB is often used interchangeably with obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA), however, the focus of this thesis is on OSA. It is noteworthy that the term SDB is also referred to as primary or secondary central sleep apnea (CSA), Cheyne-Stokes respiration, periodic breathing at high altitude, nonobstructive hypoventilation, or hypoxemia resulting from pulmonary parenchymal, vascular, neuromuscular, or chest wall problems (1).

An OSA is a common and burdensome sleep disorder characterized by recurrent obstructions of the pharyngeal airway during sleep, which may or may not be accompanied by symptoms (2,3). Central sleep apnea, on the other hand, results from a malfunction of the respiratory control system during sleep (3). This thesis focuses specifically on OSA, rather than on sleep-related breathing disorders that are not obstructive. A distinct understanding of the unique features of each disorder is crucial in developing tailored diagnostic and therapeutic strategies for the individuals.

#### 1.1. Prevalence of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

OSA is a prevalent sleep disorder that affects a significant portion of the global population. However, OSA remains underdiagnosed and undertreated despite its high prevalence (4). The prevalence of OSA varies by country and region, with a global estimate of one billion adults aged 30 to 69 years suffering from the condition. Moreover, almost 425 million individuals may suffer from moderate to severe cases based on AHI cutoff value, for which treatment is recommended(4). There are approximately 175 million people living with OSA in Europe, with approximately 90 million individuals suffering from moderate to severe OSA (5). OSA management varies across countries and depends upon individual symptoms manifestation. Healthcare systems should adopt effective diagnostic and management strategies to mitigate the adverse health effects of this condition (4). There have been significant advances in the diagnosis and management of OSA in well-resourced

environment (6). Despite this, most OSA cases remain undiagnosed and untreated(7), even in high-income countries. There is a lack of awareness surrounding OSA in low- and middle-income countries and diagnostic and treatment modalities are frequently unavailable or inadequately adapted to these settings (6).

Due to the associated comorbidities, potential public health implications, and longterm economic burden of untreated OSA, it is imperative to identify and manage these patients. Despite this, the demand for specialized sleep units and the waitlists for consultations in these facilities continue to rise. The chronic nature, prevalence, and longterm consequences of OSA make its effective management of paramount importance. It has been proposed that OSA can be managed in primary care settings through a comprehensive approach that encompasses a variety of clinical settings similar to other prevalent chronic diseases (8).

While specialized sleep units are often used for OSA management, it is important to recognize that this approach may not be feasible or necessary for many patients, and there is a significant shortage of sleep specialists to provide comprehensive care for this condition (9). There is evidence that primary care settings can offer cost savings and comparable efficacy (10).

#### 1.2. Defining OSA: Apnoea and Hypopnoea

Studies of sleep are conducted to determine the frequency and severity of apnoeas and hypopnoeas. The term apnoea refers to a complete obstruction of the upper airway (>90%) lasting for more than 10 seconds, while hypopnoea refers to a partial obstruction of the upper airway (>30%) resulting in a decrease of at least 3% in blood oxygen saturation or sleep arousals (11,12). The number of events associated with OSA is usually five or more per hour of sleep for individuals with the condition of partial (hypopnoea) or total (apnoea) despite trying to breathe (11,12). The apnoea-hypopnoea index (AHI) is the most widely used measure to diagnose and classify the severity of OSA. The AHI is the average number of apnoea and hypopnoea events per hour of sleep. In terms of severity, an AHI of 5-15 is considered mild, 15-30 is moderate, and more than 30 indicates severe OSA (13). There are, however, the AHI has limitations, such as not considering the degree of accompanying hypoxia or the length of respiratory events (13). See table1which shows the AHI scoring according to the manual of 2012 from American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM)(12).

The International Classification of Sleep Disorders (ICSD-3) provides a broader definition of OSA incorporating clinical symptoms and complaints of diurnal sleepiness, or witnessed apnoeas by a partner, or cardiometabolic abnormalities and an AHI of >5 events per hour of sleep; or AHI  $\geq$  15 or more predominantly obstructive breathing events per hour of sleep (with no attendant symptoms or comorbidities specifically listed)(14).

An individual's sleeping position can also have an impact on the diagnosis of OSA. Due to the tendency for individuals to change their sleeping positions frequently during the night, there may be a difference in the proportion of time spent sleeping supine versus non-supine, which could have implications for the diagnosis of OSA based on the AHI (15).

Apnea (all criteria must be satisfied)	Hypopnea (all criteria must be satisfied)
In children, the respiratory event lasts for at least	The event is associated with a $\ge$ 30% drop in
two missed breaths, determined by the baseline	airflow signal amplitude.
breathing pattern, or $\geq$ 10 seconds in adults.	
The event is associated with a $\ge$ 90% drop in the	The respiratory event lasts for at least two
airflow signal amplitude.	missed breaths in children, determined by the
	baseline breathing pattern, or ≥ 10 seconds in
	adults.
To qualify as an obstructive apnea, the event	There is a $\geq$ 3% desaturation, or the event is
must be associated with the presence of	associated with an arousal.
respiratory effort throughout the entire period of	
absent airflow.	

 Table 1. The AHI scoring according to the manual of 2012 from American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM) (12).

#### 1.3. A Global Perspective

OSA is a prevalent sleep disorder that affects a significant portion of the global population. However, OSA remains underdiagnosed and undertreated despite its high prevalence(4). The prevalence of OSA varies by country and region, with a global estimate of one billion adults aged 30 to 69 years suffering from the condition. Moreover, almost 425

million individuals may suffer from moderate to severe cases based on AHI cut-off value, for which treatment is recommended (4).There are approximately 175 million people living with OSA in Europe, with approximately 90 million individuals suffering from moderate to severe OSA (5).

#### 1.4. Unpacking the Multifactorial Pathophysiology of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

The pathogenesis of OSA is multifactorial. In addition to "anatomical" traits there are also "non-anatomical" traits. As such, OSA is likely to develop as a result of a combination of factors, whose combination may vary substantially from individual to individual (16). It has now been indicated that there are at least four critical traits that play a role in the pathogenesis of OSA (17,18). A key determinant is the presence of an anatomically narrow or collapsible upper airway anatomy (17,18). In this thesis section, similar to much of the literature, this trait is defined as 'impaired upper airway anatomy'. In spite of this, since OSA does not occur during wakefulness, it is evident that OSA is much more than an anatomical problem (17,18). Indeed, obesity and certain craniofacial properties can crowd the pharyngeal airway and contribute to the predisposition for OSA, the anatomical structures that surround the upper airway remain constant from wakefulness to sleep (17,18). It has been suggested that many individuals with OSA have an increase in fat within their tongues in comparison to equally obese individuals without OSA (19). Additionally, central adiposity may contribute to impaired upper airway anatomy and OSA (20).

Other traits, referred to as "non-anatomical factors", such as ineffective upper airway dilator muscle function during sleep, unstable respiratory control (high loop gain) and a low respiratory arousal threshold are play an important role in OSA pathogenesis for many individuals. Each of these phenotypes is a therapeutic target, and their relative contribution varies greatly between individuals (17,18).



Figure 1. Schematic of the four key phenotypes that cause obstructive sleep apnoea. From (18).

It has been estimated that 70% of patients have anatomical factors in combination with one or more non-anatomical phynotypes (21). Thus, anatomical traits, and nonanatomical traits contribute to the development of OSA. There is a need for further research in order to better understand the underlying mechanisms of OSA and in order to develop more effective and individualized treatment plans.

#### 1.5. The Multifaceted Nature of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea Symptoms and Consequences

There are a variety of symptoms, signs, and consequences associated with OSA. The most common symptoms of OSA include excessive daytime sleepiness, fatigue, lack of energy, tiredness, poor concentration, bad mood, morning headaches, snoring, and observed breathing pauses during sleep (22).

Furthermore, several sleep-related conditions can be associated with OSA and may be considered symptoms of the disorder themselves, although the causality remains unclear. Examples of such conditions include sleep-related movement disorders, insomnia, nocturia, xerostomia, and nocturnal esophageal reflux (23). Moreover, OSA increases the risk of a motor vehicle crash by two to three times (24). It is important to note that individuals with OSA will not experience the same symptoms or consequences. In contrast to more severe OSA, mild OSA does not seem to be associated with excessive daytime sleepiness, mood disturbances, hypertension, and other cardiovascular consequences (25,26). Moreover, OSA without complaints of sleepiness may have different adverse consequences and treatments as compared to OSA with complaints of sleepiness (27).

#### 1.6. Unmodifiable and modifiable Risk Factors for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

The development of OSA is influenced both by unmodifiable and modifiable risk factors. The most important unmodifiable factors are advancing age, male gender, race and ethnicity, and family history of OSA (28–30). Among the modifiable risk factors are obesity, smoking, and alcohol consumption (29,30). A comprehensive approach addressing these factors is necessary to achieve positive health outcomes and improve the quality of life for individuals with OSA. Consequently, we will now delve into the most important risk factors associated with OSA, including both unmodifiable and modifiable factors.

*Age*: The prevalence of OSA tends to increase with age, although it can also be diagnosed in individuals younger than 40 years of age (31). It has been reported, however, that OSA is common in old adult individuals, whereas it is more severe in younger individuals (31,32). A number of hypotheses have been proposed and tested in an effort to explain the relationship between OSA and age. For instance, the relationship between increasing age and upper airway pathophysiology.

It is indicated that as a result of aging there is an increase in upper airway resistance, an increase in parapharyngeal fat, a decrease in pharyngeal size, and an impairment of pharyngeal muscle reflexes that are crucial to maintain upper airway patency, so this explains the relationship between OSA and aging (33–35).

*Male Gender:* It is important to note that the clinical presentation of OSA in females differs from that of males, as well as its association with age and physiological status, e.g., menopause and pregnancy (36). Compared to males, females appear to be more

symptomatic, with lower scores on the AHI. In addition, they may experience more prolonged partial upper airway obstruction, and may report insomnia as a symptom of OSA more frequently (36). It has been shown that males are at a higher risk for OSA due to structural and functional differences in the upper airway (37). In light of these differences in clinical presentation, females with SDB may be underdiagnosed and undertreated as compared to their male counterparts (36).

*Race/ethnicity*: The concept of ethnicity refers to a group of individuals who possess a common racial or cultural background, in medical research, ethnicity is usually used to investigate the distribution of diseases and to plan services for health care delivery (38). It is likely that ethnicity plays a role in OSA's complex etiology. It has been demonstrated in a recent review that studies which have explored different ethnic populations have indicated that Chinese have a higher prevalence of OSA and a greater severity than those who are of European descent (39). Furthermore, there are indications that Hispanic Americans show higher rates of OSA as compared with African Americans (39). For instance, in a cross-sectional study evaluating OSA prevalence among different ethnic groups, it was concluded that Hispanic American individuals had the greatest increase in AHI in comparison to African Americans (40). The findings of this study emphasize the importance of taking ethnicity into account when assessing OSA risk (40). However, the ethnic/racial differences in OSA prevalence and severity maybe explained partially as a result of environmental factors, such as living in disadvantaged neighborhoods (41).

*Genetics/ family history of OSA*: OSA is a complex condition for which genetic and environmental factors contribute to its development. It is important to note that, although some underlying causes of OSA have been linked to genetics, suggesting a hereditary component, this contribution remains poorly understood (42). The landmark Cleveland Study investigated the genetic-epidemiological aspects of OSA, and it was found that the condition was more prevalent among relatives of index probands than in control subjects (43). In a meta-analysis of genetic association studies on OSA, the effect sizes were generally modest or small, with odds ratios (OR) of 0.87 to 1.3 (44). The small sample sizes of these studies, most of which included fewer than 100 cases and fewer than 60 controls,
made them underpowered to detect small or moderate genetic effects (44). Further research is required in order to understand the genetic component of OSA and its interaction with environmental factors.

*Obesity*: It is important to note that the etiology of OSA is complex, and obesity is one of the most prominent risk factors. It has been reported that approximately 70% of individuals with OSA have a body mass index (BMI) of  $\geq$ 30 kg/m2 (45). Moreover, OSA is present in 40% to 90% of individuals with a BMI of  $\geq$ 40 kg/m2, who are considered morbidly obese (45). Additionally, obese individuals are more likely to experience severe OSA due to the excess adipose tissue that surrounds the upper airway and makes it more prone to collapse (46).

It has been shown that central obesity reduces lung volume and tracheal traction forces, which can result in an increase in the collapsibility of the upper airway during sleep (47). Recent research by Kumar et al. (2020) suggests that non-obese individuals are more likely to have mild OSA AHI <15, while hypertension is more prevalent in obese individuals. Additionally, among non-obese individuals with OSA, the AHI is significantly lower, and minimum oxygen saturation above 90% is more common, while respiratory effort-related arousal is more frequent (48). These findings underscore the strong link between obesity and OSA, with obesity playing an important role in the development and severity of the condition. In light of this, managing obesity through lifestyle modifications and other interventions may be an integral part of treating and preventing OSA.

*Smoking and alcohol consumption:* The consumption of alcohol and the use of tobacco have been identified as potential risk factors for OSA and other metabolic diseases (49,50). The results of a systematic review have established a significant association between smoking behavior and OSA. In particular, heavy smokers with a long history of smoking are at a greater risk of OSA. Furthermore, individuals with severe OSA exhibited a significant association with smoking, as compared to those with mild or moderate OSA (51). The prevalence of smoking is higher among individuals with OSA as compared to those without OSA (52).

A study conducted in Warsaw, Poland investigated the impact of smoking on the severity of OSA among 3613 individuals who had been diagnosed with OSA by polysomnography between 2007 and 2017 (53). The study found that active smokers were more likely to develop OSA at a younger age and that OSA might be more severe in current smokers (53).

The consumption of alcohol may increase the risk of OSA since it decreases the genioglossal muscle tone, which increases the risk of upper airway collapse as well as increasing airway resistance (54). Alcohol consumption contributes to dietary energy intake, and subsequently to a high BMI, which is also a risk factor for OSA (55). A systematic review has also found an association between alcohol consumption and OSA (49). Overall, the findings indicate that alcohol and smoking can contribute to OSA and should be considered in the diagnosis and treatment of the condition.

# 1.7. An Exploration of Comorbidities Associated with Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: Implications for Diagnosis and Treatment

OSA is associated with a number of comorbid conditions that affect a variety of organ systems. The evidence indicates that OSA increases the risk of cardiovascular diseases, such as hypertension, arrhythmias, heart failure, coronary artery disease, stroke (56,57), and metabolic disturbances such as insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes (56).

Additionally, OSA is associated with cognitive impairment, including deficits in memory, attention, as well as an increased risk of developing dementia (58–60). Additionally, OSA has been associated with an increased incidence of certain cancers, such as colorectal, and breast cancer through different complex pathophysiological pathways (61). Furthermore, OSA is associated with other comorbidities, including depression (62–65), erectile dysfunction (ED) (66,67), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (68), and even COVID-19 (69,70).

Identifying individuals at increased risk for adverse health outcomes and developing effective treatment strategies that mitigate these risks requires an understanding of the relationship between OSA and comorbidities. *Cardiovascular disease and obstructive sleep apnoea:* OSA has been associated with a number of cardiovascular complications, including hypertension, atrial fibrillation (AF), other arrhythmias, heart failure, coronary artery disease, stroke, pulmonary hypertension, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular mortality (71).

There is also evidence that OSA can be associated with negative feedback in which it can enhance conditions that may exacerbate OSA (e.g., OSA accompanied by hypertension)(71). The prevalence of OSA in individuals with hypertensive is high, with an estimated 30% to 50% of individuals will have comorbid OSA (72) and particularly high in individuals with resistant hypertension, among whom up to 80% may have OSA (73). Several studies have shown an association between OSA and cardiovascular disease (74– 77). In a meta-analysis by Dong et al. (74), it was found that moderate to severe OSA significantly increased cardiovascular risks, particularly stroke risks.

As part of an efforts to assess the independent contribution of OSA to cardiovascular disease, the Sleep Heart Health Study (SHHS) was initiated in 1994 as a multi-center, prospective cohort study of the cardiovascular consequences of OSA (76). In order to minimize the risk of referral bias resulting in a spurious relationship between OSA and cardiovascular disease, this study was conducted in a community-based sample. The sample included ethnically diverse women and men (76). A cross-sectional data from the SHHS baseline examination revealed that OSA was associated with a greater prevalence of self-reported cardiovascular disease after adjusting for demographic and multiple cardiovascular risk factors (75).

In an observational study comparing fatal and non-fatal cardiovascular events among simple snorers, individuals with untreated OSA, individuals treated with CPAP (will be discussed later), and healthy individuals recruited from the general population, the results indicate that in untreated individuals with severe OSA, the risk of fatal and nonfatal cardiovascular events is increased (77). It has been suggested that there is a relationship between the severity of OSA and the risk of cardiovascular disease (77).

Overall, these findings emphasize the importance of identifying and treating OSA in individuals with cardiovascular risk factors to reduce their risk of cardiovascular disease

and related complications. Nevertheless, RCTs failed to demonstrate a positive effect of CPAP treatment on secondary cardiovascular disease prevention (78–80). Endotyping patients with OSA and cardiovascular disease could improve the management of these patients identifyng subgroups that would be affected by the deleterious consequences of OSA ang where the potential positive effect of CPAP treatment should be explored in future studies (81).

*Metabolic disturbances:* The presence of OSA is closely related to obesity, insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes (T2D), non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, and other metabolic diseases (82). The presence of obesity, however, has been identified as a major risk factor for the development and progression of OSA as discussed previously (29,45–48).

It is likely that intermittent hypoxemia, sleep fragmentation and circadian misalignment are causal pathways leading to metabolic dysfunction (82,83). The prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in individuals with OSA was estimated to range between 23% and 87% (84). It has been reported that individuals with OSA are more likely than those without OSA to develop T2D, and that more than half of the individuals with T2D have OSA (85). There is a relationship between OSA and insulin resistance in individuals who are not obese as well (82). AHI has been shown to be an independent risk factor for insulin resistance and T2D (82). A study conducted between 2009 and 2013 where anthropometric variables, metabolic indicators, and sleep parameters were collected from 2,046 participants (86). As a result of the findings, it has been concluded that insulin resistance, obesity, and the lipid profile are independently and strongly correlated with metabolic syndrome in individuals with OSA (86).

Further, OSA and its severity have been reported to be positively associated with T2D incidence, independent of adiposity, BMI, and age (85). It has also been corroborated in a retrospective study conducted on 1,206 Chinese adults in Hong Kong from 2006 to 2013 to examine the relationship between OSA and incident T2D (87). The study found that OSA severity independently predicted T2D incident (87). Additionally, it is estimated that type 1 diabetes accounts for between 5% and 10% of all diabetes cases and differs in its

pathogenesis from T<sub>2</sub>D (88). There is no evidence of incidence relationship between OSA and type 1 diabetes (88).

A non-alcoholic fatty liver disease now accounts for 25 % of all liver diseases worldwide (56). The mechanisms underlying dysmetabolism are of interest. Insulin resistance and obesity appear to play an important role in the development of both hepatic steatosis and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, the two stages of this disease progression (89). It has been demonstrated that OSA is independently associated with different pathological features associated with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, such as visceral obesity and abnormal lipid metabolism (90), and thus OSA may contribute to the exacerbation of the non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (56).

Based on these findings, OSA screening and treatment may play a crucial role in managing and preventing metabolic disturbances, particularly in individuals with obesity or T2D.

Depression and obstructive sleep apnoea: psychological symptoms such as depression and anxiety are commonly reported in individuals with OSA. The association between OSA and depressive symptoms has been demonstrated in several studies (62–65). A number of popular scales, including the Beck Depression Inventory, and Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory, have questions about sleep symptoms that are common to both OSA and psychiatric conditions, including insomnia and fatigue (91,92). The prevalence of depression symptoms in individuals with OSA has been reported to be 20% to 40% (63–65).

A systematic review has been indicated that OSA is more common among individuals with major depressive disorder (MDD) and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)(62). those with severe depression being five times more likely to develop OSA than the general population (93). The effects of sleep fragmentation, biological disorders, metabolic syndrome, mental diseases of the central nervous system, as well as certain psychotic drugs may also influence OSA and depression in a multidirectional manner (62). However, there is a debate regarding whether OSA and major depression are causally related (94). Depressive symptoms may also be a consequence of OSA rather than its cause (95).

*Erectile dysfunction and obstructive sleep apnoea:* there is a significant correlation between ED and OSA, with a greater prevalence of ED in individuals with severe OSA. For instance, it has been demonstrated that a prevalence of OSA with ED was 64.52%, and the prevalence of severe OSA with ED was 73.02% (96). A literature review (97) reports that 40.9% to 80% of OSA individuals suffer from ED, and ED risks in individuals without OSA are significantly lower than those individuals with OSA. Moreover, Chen's study (98) demonstrated that ED prevalence was 9.44 times greater in OSA individuals than in non-OSA individuals and that OSA was an independent risk factor for ED. It has been reported by Smith (99) that OSA and ED are closely related to individual psychological status, such as depression and anxiety.

Additionally, the prevalence of OSA With ED increases with age and BMI (96). It is possible that intermittent hypoxia causes ED due to damage to the vascular endothelium (100), and inhibition of sex hormone secretion (101), primarily suppressing central gonadal organ response, reducing testosterone and luteinizing hormone levels, and affecting libido (102). It has been shown that elevated estradiol and serum leptin in obese individuals can cause decreased testosterone secretion and ED (103). Additionally, it has been shown that testosterone, dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate, dehydroepiandrosterone and prolactin levels in the serum of individuals with OSA have decreased, reducing testosterone's bioavailability and causing erectile dysfunction (102). The present findings emphasize the importance of screening for ED among individuals with OSA, particularly those with severe OSA, in order to provide appropriate medical intervention and improve the quality of life of these individuals.

*Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and obstructive sleep apnoea*: COPD is characterized by persistent, usually progressive airflow limitation (104). COPD is primarily caused by exposure to first- or second-hand tobacco smoke (105). There are several additional environmental factors that may pose a risk, such as pollution indoors and

outdoors, dust, and hazardous fumes (105). Clinical manifestations of dyspnoea, cough, and chronic expectoration are caused by changes in lung mechanics (106).

As a result of the association between COPD and OSA, the condition is referred to as an "overlap syndrome" (107). It has been estimated that 10% - 30% of individuals with COPD also complains from OSA (108). There is no conclusive evidence that either COPD or OSA predisposes individuals to a higher incidence of the other (109); however, both conditions can influence one another in terms of pathophysiology (110). Both COPD and OSA are associated with similar physiological and molecular changes, such as hypoxia and systemic inflammation, which contribute to cardiovascular diseases and other comorbidities, and pulmonary hypertension is a common occurrence among patients with overlap syndromes (108). It has been recommended that individuals with COPD should have a risk assessment for OSA, and those with risk factors such as older age, obesity, severe COPD or recurrent exacerbations resulting in hospitalization may benefit from formal screening using validated questionnaires and formal polysomnography to determine whether there is OSA-COPD overlap (111). The overlap between OSA and COPD results in more severe respiratory symptoms and a reduced quality of life, as well as an increased risk of exacerbations, hospitalizations (111).

Based on a study by Naranjo et al. involving 256 individuals hospitalized with acute exacerbations of COPD who were screened for OSA by means of a validated sleep questionnaire, the majority of the individuals underwent overnight pulse oximetry or portable sleep monitoring (112). As a result of overnight sleep study evaluation, 46.6% of individuals were identified as having OSA, 28.6% as mild, 9.7% as moderate, and 8.4% as severe. Those with OSA-COPD overlap had significantly higher BMIs and heart failure prevalence rates (112). It was found that the likelihood of a readmission within 30 days was linearly related to the severity of OSA, with an OR of 2.1 times for mild OSA, 6.7 times for moderate OSA, and 10 times for severe OSA (112). The two conditions OSA and COPD are associated with high morbidity and mortality particularly when they co-occur (113).

An analysis of cross-sectional data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) reveals that COPD and COPD-OSA overlap syndrome groups have a significantly higher risk of death than those without either disease (114). As compared with individuals without either condition, OSA-COPD individuals had an adjusted hazard ratio of 2.4 for all-cause mortality, and COPD patients alone had an adjusted hazard ratio of 1.5 for all-cause mortality (114).

Based on the findings of these studies, preventative strategies such as lifestyle modifications, including weight loss interventions, and smoking cessation, can aid in reducing the severity of both conditions and improving overall health outcomes. Individuals with COPD and OSA may benefit from early identification and appropriate management in order to reduce the burden of hospitalizations and improve their quality of life.

*Cognitive impairment and obstructive sleep apnoea*: Individuals with OSA display a range of neuropsychological deficits as well as impaired motor functions and memory, sleep fragmentation as well as intermittent nocturnal hypoxia likely to contribute to the cognitive impairment (115–117). The relationship between OSA and cognitive impairment was first recognized in the 1980s (118,119). It is often thought that mild cognitive impairment (MCI) represents a prodromal stage of Alzheimer's disease (AD) and can progress to dementia. OSA has been shown to be highly prevalent among individuals with MCI and AD, and there is growing evidence that OSA is a risk factor for preclinical AD (120).

It has been reported that OSA is associated with MCI, with a 25% prevalence of cognitive dysfunction in those with OSA (120). Nevertheless, there is still a debate about the association between OSA and cognitive impairment. As a result, a meta-analysis found that SDB is associated with cognitive deficits across several domains (121). Among the most commonly affected cognitive domains are attention, vigilance, episodic memory, working memory, and executive function, while psychomotor abilities, language, and visuospatial function are less seriously affected (121), and other meta-analysis confirmed that those with AD are five times more likely to develop OSA than those of similar age who are not cognitively impaired (122), However, other studies have not indicated a positive relationship between OSA and cognitive impairment risk (59,60,123,124).

In a retrospective cohort study assessed the risk of AD in individuals with OSA with or without treatment (125). The study included individuals who were first diagnosed with OSA between 1997 and 2012 and were followed until death or until the end of 2013 (125). It was found that OSA was independently and significantly associated with a higher incidence of Alzheimer's disease (adjusted hazard ratio, 2.12), further, AD was first detected  $5.4 \pm 3$ years after the diagnosis of OSA (125).

A single-center study examined the influence of untreated OSA on cognitive decline and cognitive subdomains in individuals with mild-to-moderate AD (6o). It was demonstrated in the study that individuals with OSA performed as well as non-OSA individuals in terms of global cognition and specific cognitive domains after 12 months of follow-up (6o). The cognitive evolution of individuals with OSA did not appear to be clinically worse than that of their non-OSA counterparts after three years of follow-up (6o). The reason for inconsistent results may be attributed to differences in study designs, population characteristics, and cognitive outcomes, as well as the duration of follow-up in longitudinal studies (120). Therefore, the relationship between OSA and cognitive impairment requires further research, as well as the exploration of possible interventions to mitigate the negative effects of OSA on cognitive function.

*Cancer and obstructive sleep apnoea:* There has been a lack of unified consensus among clinical studies concerning the association between OSA and cancer incidence in prior literature. It has been shown that OSA is associated with incidence of cancer and there is a positive correlation between cancer and OSA severity in two retrospective cohort studies (126,127).

For instance, a multicentre, clinical cohort study was conducted in seven Spanish teaching hospitals between 2003 and 2007 to investigate whether OSA was associated with increased cancer incidence. A total of 4,910 participants were included and the participants had a mean follow up time of 4.5 (interquartile range, 3.4-5.2) years (127). It was found that elevated AHI was not significantly associated with cancer incidence after adjustments for age, sex, BMI, smoking status, alcohol intake, type of sleep study, and center (Hazard Ratio 1.17; 95% CI 0.84-1.65; P=0.33). Based on the stratification into younger and older cohorts

(age  $\geq$  65 years, n=1,203 and age < 65 years, n =3,707), severe OSA (AHI >43) was found to be independently associated with cancer (Hazard Ratio 1.66; CI 1.04-2.64; P = 0.032) in the younger cohort (127). According to the findings, increased overnight hypoxia, a surrogate of OSA severity, was associated with increased cancer incidence. Nevertheless, the association appeared to be limited to men and individuals younger than 65 years of age (127).

Further, a recent meta-analysis found that OSA has a significant association with the increasing incidence of cancers, however, a subgroup analysis of OSA severity revealed that the incidence of cancers did not linearly increase with the severity of OSA as defined by AHI (128). It has been concluded that more than half of the individuals with cancer also developed OSA (128). Additionally, individuals with OSA are 1.53 times more likely to suffer from cancer when compared to individuals without OSA (128).

Other studies did not find a significant association between OSA and cancer, they found an enhanced risk of new-onset cancer (129,130).

For example, a cohort study examined the association between OSA severity and prevalent and incident cancer, after adjusting for known cancer risk factors (130). In 10 149 individuals with possible OSA who underwent a sleep study, 520 (5.1%) had a cancer diagnosis at the time of the study. A median follow-up of 7.8 years, 627 (6.5%) of the 9629 individuals who were free of cancer at baseline had incident cancer (130). The results showed that OSA severity was not independently associated with cancer incidence when OSA was assessed by AHI the follow-up (130). Additionally, it has been suggested that certain cancer types, such as melanoma, colorectal, and breast cancer, have increased incidence among individuals with OSA, while lung cancer and colorectal cancer were with lower incidence, suggesting that some malignancies are less prominent among individuals with OSA (131).

In a meta-analysis, OSA has been associated with an increased overall risk of cancer (132). Further, another meta-analysis found that moderate-to-severe OSA was independently associated with all types of cancer, and the connection with specific types of cancers was not significant (133).

18

In light of these findings, OSA and cancer incidence remain controversial topics in clinical studies. In some studies, there has been a positive correlation between OSA severity and cancer incidence, while other studies have not found this correlation to be significant. According to these findings, OSA may increase the risk of developing certain types of cancer, but the association between specific types of cancer has not been consistent across studies. Consequently, it is essential to remain vigilant during the management of OSA for the possibility of cancer among those with the condition.

## 1.8. Overview of Screening Tools for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

In light of the high prevalence of OSA that is undiagnosed, an effective, reliable, and easy-to-use screening tool is required. Screening tools for OSA provide the information needed to identify patients who will benefit from downstream management decisions, such as onward referral for objective sleep testing and subsequent treatment if a full diagnosis of OSA is confirmed. In order to address this need, several tools, including the Berlin Questionnaire and the STOP-BANG questionnaire, have been widely adopted (134). Health care providers can quickly and reliably identify individuals at risk of severe OSA and prioritize them for sleep testing by using these questionnaires.

### 1.8.1. Epworth Sleepiness Scale

The Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS), originally designed to assess daytime sleepiness, based on data collected from healthy subjects and individuals with a variety of sleep disorders, the ESS was developed in 1991 to describe "the general level of daytime sleepiness and not feelings of sleepiness in a particular time (135). This tool includes a questionnaire that assesses the attitudes of the individual regarding falling asleep (136). The participants are asked to rate, on a four-point scale, their usual chances of falling asleep in eight different situations that reflect the various levels of "somnificity" they experience as part of their daily lives (135). Basically, somnificity can be defined as propensity of a posture, activity, or situation to promote sleep onset in most individuals (137).

The ESS is an easy-to-use instrument that is inexpensive, easy to administer, easy to complete, and easy to score (137). In the ESS, the total score is the sum of all item scores; the higher the score, the higher a person's level of daytime sleepiness (137). Individuals with an ESS score of >10 is typically categorized as having Excessive Daytime Sleepiness ED. There is a need to emphasize that the majority of individuals experiencing OSA will not have an ESS  $\geq 8$  (138).

In spite of its simplicity, affordability, and wide applicability, the ESS is not well correlated with OSA severity at an individual level, nor does it correlate with objective measures of excessive daytime sleepiness, and it is also susceptible to reporting bias and confounding factors such as age, gender, psychological factors, and fatigue (137). In light of this, the ESS should not be used alone as a screening tool for identifying patients at high risk of OSA. The ESS, used alongside an OSA screening questionnaire, can help identify high-risk individuals with symptomatic disease who may benefit from treatment (139).

## 1.8.2. Berlin Questionnaire

The Berlin Questionnaire (BQ) is a widely recognized screening tool for OSA. It comprises ten questions that evaluate snoring, daytime sleepiness, hypertension, age, sex, body weight, and height, and is primarily validated in primary care setting (140). The questionnaire is divided into three categories that assess the risk of OSA. Individuals are classified into high-risk and low-risk groups based on their responses to individual items and symptom categories setting (140).

The first category contains five items related to snoring, the second category consists of three items related to daytime sleepiness, and the third category includes one item evaluating hypertension and information about BMI. Positive responses to the first two categories indicate frequent symptoms occurring more than three to four times per week, while a positive response to the third category is indicative of a history of hypertension or a BMI > 30 Kg/m<sup>2</sup> (140). The overall score is calculated by tallying the responses to the three categories. Individuals are considered high-risk for OSA if they have

positive scores in two or more categories, whereas those with scores in only one or no category are considered low risk setting (140).

A study conducted in Norway aimed to estimate the prevalence of OSA in the general population by evaluating the BQ's usefulness in screening for OSA (141). The study found that 24% of respondents were high-risk for OSA based on the Berlin Questionnaire. The final sample had a mean age of 48 years, with 45% being female, and a mean BMI of 28 and median AHI of 6.4 (141). However, the study revealed that the accuracy of the BQ for screening AHI 5 or greater was suboptimal (sensitivity, 37%; specificity, 84%), as well as for screening AHI 15 or greater (sensitivity, 43%; specificity, 80%) (141).

Another study evaluated the BQ's accuracy in an unselected sample of 43 adults with T2D recruited from a general internal medicine clinic in the US (142). The sample had a majority of females (53%) and a mean BMI of 38.3 along with a mean AHI of 31.2. The study assessed the accuracy of the BQ for mild (AHI 5-14), moderate (AHI 15-29), and severe (AHI > 30) events per hour for OSA (142). The results showed that the BQ had suboptimal specificity for each of these categories of OSA severity (mild, o%; moderate, 31%; severe, 26%). However, the sensitivity was higher for moderate OSA (89%) and severe OSA (93%) than for mild OSA (80%) (142).

Despite the fact that the BQ is a useful tool for screening OSA, its accuracy should be interpreted cautiously in conjunction with other diagnostic tests. A future study could investigate the possibility of modifying or supplementing the BQ with other measures in order to improve its accuracy.

#### 1.8.3. STOP-BANG Questionnaire

The STOP-BANG questionnaire is a validated and widely used screening tool for OSA populations (143,144). There are eight dichotomous (yes/no) questions, with 1 point assigned for each affirmative response. The acronym stands for Snore, Tired, Observed apnoeas, Pressure, BMI, Age, Neck circumference, and Gender (145).

It should be noted that a score of o-2 indicates a low risk, a score of 3-4 indicates a moderate risk, and a score of 5 or higher indicates a high risk of OSA (146). The

questionnaire is easy to use and can be completed in 1-2 minutes, with a response rate of 90-100% (144).

It has been shown that the STOP-BANG questionnaire has a sensitivity of 79.5% to detect an AHI of 30 events per hour, and a specificity of 48.6%. By adding four additional factors BMI, age, neck circumference, and sex), the sensitivity increases to 100%, but the specificity decreases to 37% (146). A STOP-BANG questionnaire has been shown to be effective in detecting moderate to severe OSA in Korean adults, with moderate sensitivity and specificity for mild to severe OSA (147).

It has been found, however, that the STOP-BANG questionnaire has modest sensitivity and specificity in detecting severe OSA in patients with mild AD (148). In addition, it has been shown to be less effective than the BQ and ESS in detecting mild, moderate, and severe OSA, according to a meta-analysis of two factors (149). In summary, the STOP-BANG questionnaire is a valuable tool for identifying OSA quickly and efficiently, however its limitations should be considered when interpreting the results.

# 1.9. Diagnosis of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

The diagnosis of OSA is based on a combination of clinical and physical manifestations of the disease, as well as objective data obtained from a sleep study (Figure 2)(71). OSA is highly prevalent, and if left untreated, it can have serious consequences for social, economic, and health wellbeing. The diagnostic tests are classified according to how many channels are monitored during the test. The gold standard test for diagnosing OSA is an in-lab sleep study or polysomnography (PSG). If PSG is not feasible, out-of-center sleep testing (OCST) or home sleep apnea testing (HSAT) are acceptable alternatives (150).



Figure 2. Obstructive sleep apnoea symptoms and diagnosis from (71).

# 1.9.1. Polysomnography- Gold Standard Diagnostic Test

OSA diagnosis is traditionally made using overnight (PSG) performed in a sleep unit (151). This is done in order to determine the frequency of episodes of obstructed breathing during sleep-apneas and hypopneas (151). Currently, AHI is used to define and categorize the severity of OSA. It has been reported that AHI is the most significant statistical predictor of cardiovascular mortality and all-cause mortality (152). Additionally, other parameters besides AHI are reported in PSG, such as oxygen desaturation, sleep architecture, position statistics, and periodic leg movements. Furthermore, these parameters are known to be independently related to the outcome of the disease (153–155).

It should be noted, however, that this test has some limitations. First, PSG requires the attachment of several electrodes to the body in order to determine the pattern of sleep (156) Therefore, the patient may feel uncomfortable or sleep poorly, leading to inaccurate results on the test (156). Additionally, testing in an unfamiliar environment such as a hospital may increase waking time and rapid eye movement latency (156,157). There are numerous efforts being made to address these problems, including portable PSG, to reduce or eliminate the number of sensors attached to the patient. There have also been recent advancements in non-contact methods used to assess respiratory status during sleep (156).

According to the International Classification of Sleep Disorders (ICSD), the diagnosis of OSA requires a record of 15 or more predominantly obstructive respiratory events per hour of sleep during a PSG or per hour of monitoring using a portable device (14). However, there is significant cost associated with evaluating all individuals suspected of having OSA with PSG. Further, there also may be limited access to in laboratory testing in some areas. HSAT, which has limitations, is an alternative method to diagnose OSA in adults, and may be less costly and more efficient in some populations (158).

According to AASM guidelines, PSG is recommended as a method for validating an OSA diagnosis. It is not recommended to use clinical tools, questionnaires, or prediction algorithms alone in order to establish a diagnosis of OSA.

Below is a table that summarizes AASM's recommended diagnostic criteria for obstructive sleep apnoea in adults. This criterion is derived from the International Classification of Sleep Disorders, third edition (14).

	Either
	Presence of at least one typical symptom:
	<ul> <li>Daytime sleepiness (ESS &gt; 10), unrefreshing sleep, fatigue, or insomnia</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>The patient wakes up holding his breath, gasping, or choking</li> </ul>
AHI > 5	<ul> <li>The bedpartner reports loud snoring, breathing interruption or both during sleep.</li> </ul>
	AND
	Polysomnographic recording show more than 5 obstructive scoreable respiratory
	events per hour.
	OR
AHI > 15	Polysomnographic recording shows 15 or more scoreable respiratory events (apnea or
	hypopnea) per hour of sleep.

Table 2. AASM algorithms of the two pathways to an OSA diagnosis.

Alternatives to Polysomnography: To meet the increasing need to diagnose OSA, simple diagnostic tools that can be performed at home have been developed and validated (151). HSAT is also known as portable monitoring (159), or out-of-center testing (160) and offer a simple technical solution for the diagnosis of OSA, with greater accessibility, and reasonable accuracy in subjects without other sleep or medical comorbidities (161). HSAT

devices, in contrast to PSG, generally do not include electroencephalographic, electrooculographic, or electromyographic sensors, which are essential for the determination of sleep versus wake. Unlike polysomnography, which measures sleep-disordered breathing severity based on sleep time (i.e., AHI), most HSAT devices measure sleep-disordered breathing severity based on monitoring time (respiratory event index). The limitations of an HSAT may lead to an underestimation of the severity of OSA (158).

An HSAT must be based on an individual's medical history and a face-to-face examination by a healthcare provider, either in person or via telemedicine, to determine whether it is necessary to diagnose OSA or evaluate treatment efficacy (162). HSAT is recommended for patients with a high pretest probability following a comprehensive sleep evaluation (150). It is not recommended to use the HSAT for general screening of asymptomatic populations; a diagnosis, assessment of treatment efficacy, and treatment decision should not solely be based on HSAT data that has been automatically scored, since this could result in suboptimal care (162).

Individuals suffering from comorbid severe pulmonary disease, congestive heart failure, neuromuscular disorders, or other sleep disorders such as periodic limb movement disorder, sleep apnea, or parasomnia the HSAT and should not be used as a screening tool (150). Should the HSAT be negative or technically inadequate, an in-lab PSG should then be performed in a symptomatic patient who exhibits a high index of suspicion for OSA (150).

Overall, the choice of diagnostic method for OSA should be based on individual characteristics and preferences, as well as local availability and resources. Further research is needed to develop more accurate and convenient diagnostic tools for OSA.

## 1.10. Tailored Treatment Approach for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

A primary objective of OSA treatment is to reduce the signs and symptoms, improve the quality of sleep, and normalize apnea-hypopnea index. In order to address OSA effectively, it should be viewed as a chronic disease that requires long-term, multidisciplinary intervention. Treatment of OSA may result in improved clinical outcomes (e.g., less daytime sleepiness), reduced health care utilization, and a reduction in cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (163).

Today, OSA is seen as a heterogeneous disease, which is characterized by a wide range of symptoms, anthropometric characteristics, polysomnographic patterns, long-term outcomes, and comorbid conditions (164)

In order to address these aspects, tailored treatment must be developed based on patient-reported outcome data, individual risk factors, and the available therapeutic options (164,165). The optimal treatment of asymptomatic individuals with mild to moderate OSA remains challenging (166). However, the management approach should be based upon the principle that individuals with different characteristics will be treated differently. Although each treatment option differs in its mode of action, it is common to all of these alternative approaches that efficacy tends to vary between individuals (165).



Figure 3. Current considerations on the heterogeneity of obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA). From (164).

There are a number of international organizations that have published clinical practice guidelines for the management of OSA in adults, including the American Academy of Sleep Medicine, the American Thoracic Society, and the American College of Physicians (26,167–169).

Based on the guidelines, in addition to behavioral modifications discussed in the following section, positive airway pressure (PAP) should be offered as the first treatment option for individuals diagnosed with OSA (26,167–169).

The use of oral appliances as an alternative therapy is recommended for patients with mild to moderate OSA who do not wish to use PAP or do not respond to it (170). Oral appliances have proven effective in improving OSA symptoms and may be better tolerated by some patients than PAP (170).

#### 1.11. Patient Education

In accordance with the Clinical Guideline for the Evaluation, Management, and Long-term Care of Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Adults, it is recommended that OSA educational programs include discussions of OSA's pathophysiology, risk factors, natural history, and clinical consequences. The treatment options should be discussed in the context of the severity of the patient's OSA, their risk factors, any associated conditions, as well as their expectations (171). In addition, general education should be provided regarding the effects of weight loss, sleep position, avoiding alcohol, modifying risk factors, and managing medications. It is important that the patient be counseled on the risks of drowsy driving as well as its management (171). Education should be provided to patients as part of a multidisciplinary chronic disease management team that includes the sleep physician, the referring provider, and allied health professionals. Furthermore, videotapes, handouts, websites, and brochures can be used (171).

#### 1.12. Behavioural Change Interventions

Lifestyle interventions that address diet, exercise-training, sleep hygiene, and/or tobacco/alcohol cessation are recommended in the management of OSA (172). It appears, however, that the effectiveness of interventions differs depending on their components and OSA severity. Those interventions that address weight management and exercise training may be the most effective treatments for individuals with mild to moderate OSA (172).

## 1.12.1. Weight Management

Weight management can be beneficial for individuals with OSA alone or in combination with conventional Therapy (173,174).

The American College of Physicians recommends weight loss for individuals with OSA who overweight or obese as behavioural treatment options for improving the apnoeahypopnoea index (AHI) in obese individuals with OSA but does not mention pharmacological therapy or bariatric surgery (175). As recommended by the American Academy of Sleep Medicine (165) individuals with OSA who are overweight or obese should be educated about the relationship between weight and OSA, and they should be recommended to lose weight. However, no specific strategies are offered beyond consideration of bariatric surgery for achieving weight loss (165).

It has been found that even a <5% weight loss can reduce respiratory events, but  $\geq$ 5% and ideally  $\geq$ 10% weight loss was necessary for reducing the prevalence of severe OSA. Weight loss is associated with both a decrease in AHI and an improvement in hypoxemia (176). To determine whether the initial benefit of intensive lifestyle intervention for weight loss is maintained at 10 years, a multicenter randomized controlled trial was conducted with 306 middle-aged to older adults with overweight or obesity and T2D (177). There were 264 participants with OSA at baseline who had an AHI equal or more of 5 events per hour, a mean age of 61.3 years, and a mean body mass index of 36 kg/m2. Participants were randomized into one of two groups: intense lifestyle intervention intended to reduce weight by at least 10% within one year or diabetes education as part of standard care (control group)(177). At a 10-year follow-up, no statistically significant difference was found between the active intervention arm and the control intervention arm in terms of OSA severity; however, their overall conclusion clearly suggests that weight loss can reduce OSA severity in the long term, might be leading to remission in some cases (177).

The recommendation is that bariatric surgery should be considered when the BMI is greater than 35 kg/m2 and there are obesity-related complications (e.g., hypertension, arthritis, sleep apnoea) or when the BMI is > 40 kg/m2 without complications (178). As a result of bariatric surgery, the systemic hypertension has been found to improve following

bariatric surgery, but less than T2D. additionally, it has been found that the need for antihypertensive medications had decreased from 70% to 21% (179).

Long-term epidemiologic data indicate that bariatric surgery-induced weight loss is associated with improved mortality (180). However, the risks associated with bariatric surgery should not be underestimated, as it can lead to serious complications, it was found that 1338 subjects who had been followed for at least 10 years had the following rates of reoperations or conversion surgeries: banding, 31%; vertical-banded gastroplasty, 21%; and gastric bypass, 17% (180).

In relation to OSA, there is a significant reduction in sleep-related respiratory disturbances after bariatric surgery, as well as improvements in sleep efficiency (181). It was found in a meta-analysis study found that the overall effect size of the pooled, weighted data showed a reduction of 38.2 events per hour in the combined study results, a combined reduction of 71% in AHI. This is a substantial improvement, but it is important to note that residual disease is observed in the majority of patients (62%) following bariatric surgery, with a mean residual AHI more than 5 events per hour (182). Consequently, individuals undergoing bariatric surgery should not expect to be cured of OSA after surgical weight loss.

It has been shown that pharmacological interventions to reduce obesity can reduce upper airway collapsibility, and therefore OSA severity (183,184). As a result of this approach, a weight reduction of 10.2% was achieved compared to a weight loss of 4.3% in the placebo group (or an AHI reduction of 31.5 events per hour versus 16.6 events per hour) with phentermine/topiramate (184); a weight loss of 5.7% compared to 1.6% (or –12.2 versus –6.1 events per hour) with liraglutide compared to placebo (183).

Weight management can be difficult to achieve and even more difficult to maintain substantial weight loss. As such, given the range of health benefits associated with weight loss in addition to reducing OSA, weight loss should be incorporated into a treatment plan for overweight and obese individuals (185).

30

# 1.12.2. Physical Activity

The benefits of physical activity and exercise have long been recognized as key health determinants (186) in particular, they contribute to the prevention of chronic diseases (187). Exercise has been associated with improvements in cardiorespiratory fitness, daytime sleepiness, and sleep efficiency, as well as a reduction in OSA severity (188). Furthermore, walking and vigorous-intensity physical activity were associated with a decreased risk of OSA independent of other factors (186). As an example, it has been demonstrated that increased levels of physical activity are associated with lower cardiovascular diseases morbidity and mortality (189). There may be a difference in the effectiveness of exercise on reducing cardiovascular risk depending upon both the severity of OSA and the intensity of the exercise program (190).

In a randomised controlled trial, the aim was to assess the effectiveness of a 9-month exercise program undertaken outside of hospital as a treatment for moderate OSA, defined by reaching an AHI <15 events per hour at follow-up (191). According to the results, the exercise group demonstrated a significant reduction in AHI (-18% versus +6%; p=0.007)(191). Further, the intervention effect was significantly greater in obese individuals compared to individuals with a BMI <30 kg·m-2 after adjustment for initial AHI (p=0.037)(191).

It has been shown that weight loss interventions reduce BMI the most (-4 kg·m/2), whereas exercise-only interventions (aerobic training, interval training, and muscle training) reduce BMI the least (-0.5 kg·m/2) (192). The combined weight loss and physical activity interventions would have a significant impact on reducing BMI, as shown by metal analyses that found a significant reduction in BMI in both diet-only and combined diet and exercise analyses, but not in exercise-only analyses (192).

There may also be a small protective effect of physical activity on OSA development. The results of a study by Mônico-Neto indicate that people classified as "active" have a lower risk of developing OSA than those classified as "low active"; the relative risk is 0.877 (95% CI 0.780 to 0.986)(193). The results of a study utilizing data from the Ontario Health Study (n=155,448) provide evidence that physical activity may have a protective effect on the prevalence of OSA (186). It was found that higher levels of physical activity, vigorous physical activity, and walking were all associated with a reduced prevalence of OSA (186). It has been indicated that the physical activity may have a role in OSA prevention as well (193). The precise mechanism by which physical activity prevents OSA is not well understood, but there are some indications that it may be able to do so. A hypothesis suggests that increased activation of the calf muscle pump may result in less fluid shifting from the legs to the neck during sleep, thereby reducing the possibility of upper airway collapse (190).

On the other hand, there are several barriers to exercise participation of individuals with OSA, including lack of time and motivation, which are two of the most commonly reported issues (194). Additionally, the primary symptoms of OSA (e.g., excessive daytime sleepiness and fatigue during the day) raise additional concerns. These OSA-related symptoms may make it difficult for the individuals to maintain a regular exercise program (194).

#### 1.13. Positive Airway Pressure Therapy

The use of positive airway pressure (PAP) is widely used to treat OSA symptoms, it seems to be the most effective for improving symptoms of sleepiness and quality of life in individuals who have more symptoms but may offer little or no benefit to individuals with fewer symptoms (195,196). In individuals with OSA, it has been challenging to demonstrate improved cardiovascular outcomes with PAP use (195,196). As outlined in the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association guidelines (197), PAP is recommended for patients who have acute ischemic stroke or transient ischemic attack.

The lack of adherence to PAP remains a challenge, the individuals' adherence to PAP is determined by many factors, including their recognition of the disease, recognition of its symptoms, social support, and acceptance during the initial treatment period (164). The perception of both the disease-related risks and the benefits of CPAP could lead to improved adherence among individuals with OSA. The number of individuals who use the device for less than 4 hours per night varies substantially between 29% and 83% (198). The

recognition or identification of non-adherence is essential as this allows for the development of a variety of educational, behavioral, and trouble-shooting interventions, including optimal mask fitting and the use of telemedicine (199).

There are a variety of reasons for non-adherence to PAP treatment; however, most individuals who discontinue treatment complain of air leakages or skin irritation at the interface between the machine and the face (200). Moreover, individuals with OSA who use PAP devices experience nasal dryness, rhinorrhoea, congestion, as well as dry mouth and throat. In addition, it has been demonstrated that nasal side effects are related to prior nasal symptoms, and that treating these problems can reduce nasal side effects (201). The possibility exists that PAP devices and humidifiers may be contaminated with bacteria or viruses, increasing the risk of infection. It has been demonstrated that humidifiers can increase the risk of respiratory infections in mechanical ventilators (202). Using PAP devices has been reported to affect the voice and may cause vocal changes (203). Furthermore, psychological factors may contribute to non-adherence to PAP (204).

PAP administration can be performed in several forms, including continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP), which maintains a constant level of positive airway pressure throughout the respiratory cycle; autotitrating positive airway pressure (APAP), which adjusts PAP based upon changes in upper airway obstruction; and bilevel positive airway pressure (BiPAP)(205). CPAP was generally preferred as the first therapy, since it was the most familiar and well-studied (205). On the other hand, APAP appears to have the same effectiveness as CPAP, but supplies a lower mean pressure than CPAP (206). Further, both APAP and CPAP had similar effects on patient compliance and satisfaction (206). The selection of PAP device can be influenced by a variety of factors, including associated symptoms or comorbid conditions, and the utility of digital health and the availability of online data management (207).

In the following discussion, we will explore the impact of PAP therapy on a variety of health conditions, including metabolic syndrome, cognitive impairment, OSA-COPD overlap, and cancer. Furthermore, we will examine the potential challenges that COVID-19 may pose to the adherence and management of PAP therapy. Understanding the impact of PAP therapy on these health conditions and the challenges to its adherence can provide valuable insights into optimizing OSA management and improving individuals' quality of life.

PAP therapy and cardiovascular disease: According to a relatively large multicenter randomized clinical trials examining the effects of PAP therapy on cardiovascular outcomes, known as the Sleep Apnea Cardiovascular Endpoints (SAVE) (208). In this study, individuals with moderate to severe OSA and established cardiovascular disease were randomized to receive either CPAP therapy plus usual care or usual care alone and were followed for 3.7 years. Based on the results of the study, it was found that the AHI had been reduced from 29 to 3.7 events per hour per night, confirming that OSA had been adequately controlled (208).

The use of CPAP therapy plus usual care Compared with usual care alone, did not prevent cardiovascular events in individuals with moderate-to-severe OSA (208). In spite of the fact that the rate of cardiovascular events was slightly improved in those adhering to CPAP (i.e.,  $\geq$ 4 h per night), this benefit was not statistically significant (208). Based on the results of this study, CPAP cannot be recommended as a therapy for individuals with moderate to severe OSA with established cardiovascular disease if the sole objective is to reduce cardiovascular complications.

A multicentre, randomized control trial aimed to evaluate the effects of OSA and treatment with CPAP on the clinical evolution of non-sleepy individuals with acute coronary syndrome in 15 Spanish hospitals (209). It was found that OSA was not associated with an increased prevalence of cardiovascular events, and CPAP treatment did not significantly reduce this prevalence (209).

The failure of PAP therapy to demonstrate protective effects on cardiovascular outcomes and vascular deaths might be due to short follow-up periods and limited adherence to treatment (210). In addition, it is unclear whether PAP therapy will benefit "sleepy OSA" individuals since most trials included nonsleepy OSA individuals (27,211).

PAP therapy and metabolic syndrome: A retrospective study conducted in Hong Kong from 2006 to 2013 examined the relationship between OSA severity and incident T2D as well as the effect of long-term CPAP treatment (212). Long-term use of CPAP appears to be associated with a reduced risk of T<sub>2</sub>D, after adjusting for various baseline metabolic risk factors and subsequent changes in body weight (212). In a meta-analysis that included three studies examining the impact of CPAP on insulin sensitivity showed that insulin sensitivity significantly improved after CPAP treatment (p = 0.049) among individuals with OSA and T<sub>2</sub>D (213).

PAP therapy and OSA-COPD overlap: In a retrospective cohort study conducted by Stanchina et al., the impact of CPAP use on mortality was assessed in 227 individuals with OSA-COPD overlap (214). According to a multivariate analysis, hours of CPAP use and age were independently predictive of mortality, implying that greater CPAP usage is associated with better survival benefits (214).

PAP therapy and cognitive impairment: In a systematic review and meta-analysis of four randomized clinical trials, CPAP was compared with a control group in older individuals with OSA (215). The use of CPAP was associated with an improvement of 2.62 points on the ESS, but only slight improvements on cognitive tests (digital span, digital symbol) (215). Furthermore, in a retrospective study, the association between CPAP therapy, adherence, and incident diagnoses of AD, MCI was examined in older individuals with OSA (216). It was found that CPAP treatment and adherence are independently associated with lower odds of incident AD diagnoses among older adults. Moreover, it has been suggested that treatment of OSA may reduce the risk of subsequent dementia (216).

*PAP therapy and Cancer:* The field is still at an early stage, with regard to evaluating whether CPAP therapy can reduce the risk of developing cancer in individuals with OSA. The first and multi-centre cohort study aimed to determine whether adherence to CPAP therapy is associated with a reduction in all-cancer incidence compared with nonadherent individuals with OSA (217). Inclusion criteria were those prescribed CPAP for OSA with no history of cancer prior to the diagnostic sleep study or during the first year of CPAP use (217).

Individuals who have documented CPAP use for at least four hours per night were considered adherents. The study evaluated 4499 OSA individuals without cancer at 1 year

after start of CPAP treatment and the median age was 63 years and median AHI was 37 events per hour, 60% of the individuals adhered to CPAP treatment (217). The nonadherent group consisted of those who discontinued or used CPAP for less than four hours per night. The non-adherent individuals were younger, had lower BMI and less severe OSA. During follow-up, 437 individuals (9.7%) were diagnosed with cancer, 10.7% and 9.1% in non-adherent and adherent individuals. As a result, after a median follow-up period of 5.4 years, adherence to CPAP therapy was not associated with a reduction in all-cancer incidence in individuals with OSA (217).

*Impact of COVID 19 on PAP therapy adherence:* In a prospective cohort study conducted in France, the impact of the COVID-19 national lockdown on CPAP compliance was examined using telemonitoring in 7485 individuals with OSA between 15 January 2019 and 15 April 2020 (218). The adherence rate to CPAP during the first month of lockdown (15 March to 15 April 2020) was compared with the adherence rate during the same time period in 2019, a 4.48% increase was observed during lockdown (p<0.001). Furthermore, the proportion of very low adherers (less than 10 min of CPAP use per night) decreased by 18.5% (p<0.001) between 2019 and 2020 (218).

Other recent study was conducted to evaluate the opinion of individuals with OSA about their disease during the COVID-19 pandemic, their treatment, and their follow-up (219). A telephone questionnaire was used to survey OSA patients treated with CPAP in Thessaloniki, Greece, and adherence was also evaluated objectively through telemonitoring. A total of 100 individuals with OSA aged 54.3±12.5 years (72% males) were evaluated, 41% considered themselves as high-risk group for severe disease due to COVID-19 because they suffered from OSA, and 25% believed CPAP could be protective from COVID-19 (219). Further, COVID-19 infected individuals (31%) did not change their CPAP usage. Approximately 30% of respondents believed that their health care facilities were worse than they were before, and 16% reported poorer sleep quality (219).

A rise in CPAP adherence may be attributed to COVID-19. This may have encouraged the individuals to become more adherent to CPAP in order to protect themselves from the disease, and the fear of hospitalization might have motivated them to adhere to CPAP more closely (218). The clinical impact of COVID-19 on CPAP adherence of individuals with OSA needs to be confirmed in large cohort studies.

PAP therapy adherence and patient education: There are various educational approaches aimed to improve CPAP adherence and, in some instances, other health outcomes utilized in several studies. The educational initiatives include physician-led video education regarding OSA, the importance of CPAP therapy, adherence, prognosis and outcomes related to CPAP use (220), whilst others comprised physician-led in-person, telemedicine or group-based education (221–223).

Some studies evaluated the impact of nurse-led education with video and physical brochure components (224), sleep-technologist-led video education (225), combined physician and nurse-led video (226) and combined nurse and psychologist-led education (227). The comparator or control groups generally comprised the provision of information as a reflection of usual care with less-intensive patient education. Adherence was measured using data derived from CPAP machines and, where reported, the impact upon sleep quality was ascertained using validated tools such as ESS (220,222,225).

Other studies also assessed the impact of CPAP adherence upon quality of life and psychological wellbeing, using appropriate instruments such as FOSQ (223,227), and Calgary Sleep Apnoea Quality of Life Index (227) and Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) (225).

The effects of education upon CPAP adherence and other health outcomes are noted. Basoglu, et al. (220) showed that video education was associated with greater adherence to CPAP across all time points (one month, three months and six month), as compared to usual care. The difference in frequency of adherence between the education and comparator group was approximately 10-15%. The authors also found that exposure to video education led to a significant improvement in sleep quality as indicated by the ESS at six months, compared to baseline (p<0.0001). In contrast, Guralnick, et al. (225) found that subjects who received education observed a slightly higher depression score, than compared to usual care but this was not significant (p>0.05). Moreover, sleep quality was also assessed using the PSQI and scores were more favourable for the education, than usual care group but again this effect was not significantly different (p>0.05).

The importance of novel initiatives with an educational component to support improvements in adherence among persons diagnosed with OSA has been previously recognised but the utility and emergence of research exploring eHealth with a dominant education component has been lacking (228).

However, a lack of an effect has been previously reported by Hui, et al. (226) who conducted a randomised controlled trial of 108 patients with OSA who were equally assigned in an augmented video education group and a basic support. The effects upon CPAP adherence and sleep quality and related quality of life were assessed and it was found that there were no significant between group differences in CPAP usage (p=0.98) but there was a significant effect upon sleep quality and quality of life (p<0.05) among the augmented education group, compared to control. However, this trial only followed individuals for four weeks and thus, any improvements in CPAP adherence may have been missed and the effect size concerning sleep quality and quality of life may have been under-estimated. Comprising education delivered through mobile health or telemedicine mediums represents a key opportunity to help improve the outcomes for individuals with OSA given that remote medicine can be tailored to be highly convenient, accessible and more cost-effective, than conventional approaches to care provision (229).

Overall, the most comprehensive data available regarding the impact of OSA treatment on the various health conditions/comorbidities are related to PAP therapy; there is lack of available data regarding other treatment options such as oral appliance and upper airway surgery.

# 1.14. Exploring Non-PAP Therapies for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

*Sleep positioning:* an emphasis has been placed on the role that body position plays in OSA, as well as effective methods for avoiding sleeping positions that worsen the condition (230,231). It has been reported that individuals with OSA have more obstructive events in supine than in other positions, and both the frequency and duration of apnoeas are influenced by body position (231,232). This observation has led to the definition of the so-called positional OSA. A positional OSA individual is defined as one whose respiratory disturbance index (RDI) or AHI is at least twice that observed in non-supine sleeping positions (231,233). The RDI is a measure used to measure sleep apnea and other respiratory disorders during sleep. A person's RDI is calculated by dividing the number of respiratory disturbances, including partial or complete obstructions of the airway, by the total number of sleep hours (231,233).

It has been found that positional OSA individuals are usually younger and less obese, suggesting they may experience a less severe phenotype of respiratory disturbance than non-positional OSA individuals (231). individuals with non-positional OSA display a higher AHI level and a lower mean oxygen saturation level (SpO2) than those with positional OSA (231,234). It has been reported, however, that there was no significant difference between positional OSA patients and those with non-positional OSA in terms of clinical characteristics such as BMI (231,235). The positional therapy measure of changing from a supine position during sleep can be a simple and effective method for reducing AHI, however it is unsatisfactory for those individuals with non-positional OSA, emphasizing the need for further relevant investigation for an accurate diagnosis (231,234).

It can be challenging for OSA individuals to maintain a non-supine sleeping position, especially for those who are accustomed to sleeping on their backs.(236–238) It is however possible for OSA individuals to achieve this goal by following a few practical tips. A simple solution is using pillows to prop the head and neck up in order to prevent them from falling backward. A body pillow or cushion can also be placed against the back to prevent rolling over during sleep. Additionally, raising the head of the bed by a few inches can reduce the likelihood of rolling onto the OSA individual back (237). It may take some experimentation for the OSA individual to find the best combination of pillows and bed adjustments, but over time, maintaining a non-supine position during sleep will become a habit leading to improved symptoms of OSA (237,238).

*Oral appliances*: Oral appliances are indicated for individuals suffering from mild to moderate OSA, and individuals who are unable to change their lifestyle. Oral appliances

can, however, also be used in severe cases of OSA when the individual cannot tolerate or use a CPAP. An oral appliance therapy is a form of non-invasive therapy in which intraorally applied devices are used to treat individuals with OSA and snoring and these devices are worn during sleep (239). As opposed to CPAP, oral appliance adherence is high, but response to oral appliance therapy varies greatly from individual to individual (240).The purpose of this therapy is to stabilize the mandible and the pharyngeal structures in order to prevent pharyngeal collapsibility and maintain the patency of the upper airway at night (239). Through the use of oral appliances, OSA-related symptoms such as daytime sleepiness and a high AHI can be alleviated (170).

In individuals with OSA, the oral appliance treatment is effective in improving sleepiness, although less effectively than CPAP (241). It has been suggested that when comparing oral appliance therapy with CPAP, CPAP is more effective in treating mild-to-moderate OSA (242,243). However, a comparison of these two therapies in 126 individuals with moderate OSA (mean AHI 25) showed that the two treatments resulted in similar results in terms of sleepiness, driving simulator performance, and disease-specific quality of life after 1 month (170). In the 36-item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36), oral appliance therapy significantly improved four general quality-of-life domains, but no difference was observed between oral appliance therapy and CPAP in the functional outcomes of Sleep Questionnaire (FOSQ)(170).

There was a similar amount of blood pressure (BP) reduction noted in a metaanalysis of oral appliance treatments compared to CPAP trials (between 2- and 3mm Hg)(244). As a result, the oral appliance therapy can be recommended as a first line therapy for individuals with mild, symptomatic OSA (245).

There are some contraindications to oral appliance therapy, such as individuals who suffer from central sleep apnea and other respiratory disorders other than OSA. In the case of individuals who have acute jaw joint pain or severe periodontitis, Oral appliance therapy should not be administered prior to the treatment of these symptoms. Furthermore, those with reduced opening capacity, i.e., <25mm, limited maximum protrusive distance (<6mm), active temporomandibular joint disorder and inability to cooperate, or the

skeleton is not fully developed, oral therapy treatment may be contra-indicated (246). Additionally, side effects, such as mucosal/mouth dryness, tooth discomfort, hypersalivation, and increased temporomandibular joint symptoms are common (247). It has been shown that after 6 months of oral appliance therapy, individuals with mild to severe OSA exhibit a low frequency of clinical signs of temporomandibular pain (248).

It should be noted that these side effects do not limit the use of oral appliances, with approximately 60% of individuals using their device in a long-term therapy (247). It is important to note that there are numerous designs and types of oral appliances available. These are generally divided into three broad categories: soft palate lifters, tongue retaining devices, and devices that work by mandibular advancement. It is no longer common to use soft palate lifters in clinical practice, and tongue retaining devices are rarely employed (249). Oral appliances are generally referred to as Mandibular advancement appliances (MADs), types are mandibular repositioning devices, mandibular advancement splints, and mandibular advancement appliances (250).

#### 1.14.1. Pharmacological Treatment

The first line of treatment for OSA is PAP, as discussed earlier. Nevertheless, it has been suggested that drug therapy may be an alternative to PAP therapy in some individuals with mild to moderate OSA, particularly in individuals who are not tolerant to CPAP (251).

A systematic review was conducted in which randomised placebo-controlled trials of drugs targeted at treating OSA in adults were reviewed (251). The mechanism by which drugs may reduce OSA severity has been proposed in a number of studies. Among these are an increase in tone in the upper airway dilator muscles, an increase in ventilatory drive, a reduction in the proportion of rapid eye movement (REM) sleep, and mechanisms resulting in an increase in cholinergic tone during sleep, a reduction in airway resistance and an increase in upper airway surface tension (251). There were 25 drugs tested, 10 of which had some effect on OSA severity as measured by AHI, and four altered sleepiness symptoms, though the effects were generally modest (251). The use of pharmacological agents to treat obstructive sleep apnoea has had a limited success rate (251). According to the systematic review, there is insufficient evidence to recommend the use of drug therapy in the treatment of OSA (251). It has been demonstrated that some agents have shown positive effects on short-term outcomes in small studies (251). Additionally, AHI has been shown to be reduced by 24% to 45% by certain agents in largely unselected populations with OSA (251). For example, it has been shown that intranasal corticosteroid therapy reduces AHI which is particularly pertinent to patients with reversible nasal obstructions (252).

It is imperative that further research be conducted in order to determine whether drug therapy is a viable treatment option for OSA. In spite of this, PAP therapy remains the first line of treatment for OSA, and healthcare providers should continue to emphasize its importance in the management of the condition.

#### 1.14.2. Surgical Treatment

A Maxillomandibular Advancement (MMA) is a type of skeletal surgery, through MMA, the pharyngeal cavity is enlarged by extending the skeletal framework on which the soft-tissue pharyngeal structures and tongue attach, resulting in a reduction in the collapsibility of the pharyngeal cavity during negative pressure inspiration (253). The main indications for MMA are for individuals with moderate-to-severe OSA, and mild OSA individuals presenting with a dentofacial deformity (254) Further, MMA is considered to be an effective craniofacial surgery technique and an alternative procedure for non-adherers or those who are unable to tolerate lifelong PAP therapy (253,255).

The European Respiratory Society guideline on non-PAP therapies recommends MMA as one of the options for treating adult individuals with OSA (although individual acceptance may vary) (256). The selection of MMA is more individualized and based on the individual phenotype, considering both clinical (i.e., age, comorbidities, neck circumference, BMI, and dentofacial deformity) and polysomnographic evaluation (253). Since MMA is an invasive procedure, it is likely to result in a longer recovery period and a

higher risk of postoperative complications. The duration of OSA individuals' hospitalization following MMA surgery ranges from two to eight days (254).

Surgical cure rate of MMA ranges from 36% to 67.9%(254). It is reported that the major complications associated with MMA are reoperations to remove hardware; it is considered that the individual's age at surgery time increases the likelihood of requiring hardware removal. Additionally, individuals who had a history of smoking or who were active smokers were found to be at higher risk of complications. It has been indicated that facial paresthesia, local infection, and postoperative wound pain are common minor complications in MMA. It has also been suggested that age may increase the likelihood of facial paresthesia (254). A summary of the different treatment options discussed here can be found in table 3.

Treatment	Description	Advantages	Disadvantageous	Recommended for
PAP therapy (i.e. CPAP APAP)	, The use of a machine that delivers continuous positive airway pressure through a mask or nosepiece during sleep is referred to as positive airway pressure therapy	Effective at reducing AHI	May be uncomfortable or difficult to tolerate	Individuals with moderate to severe OSA
Lifestyle modifications (i.e. weight loss, physical activity)	Changes to lifestyle habits such as weight loss, physical activity, smoking cessation, and reduction of alcohol consumption	Effective at reducing AHI	Sustain long-term, can be challenging	Individuals with mild to moderate OSA or as adjunct therapy for severe OSA
Surgery	Various surgical procedures such as maxillomandibular advancement (MMA)	Can improve OSA and overall health outcomes	Risk of complications	Individuals with specific anatomical abnormalities or severe OSA who not tolerate to CPAP or other treatments
Positional therapy	Techniques or devices to encourage sleeping in positions that reduce apnoeas- hypopneasv	Can be effective for positional OSA	May be difficult to maintain throughout the night	Individuals with positional OSA
Pharmacological treatment	Medications- limited effectiveness	Can improve symptoms such as excessive daytime sleepiness and breathing function during sleep Can improve symptoms such as excessive daytime sleepiness and breathing	Side effects and may not treat underlying cause of OSA	Individuals who cannot tolerate other treatment options
Oral appliances	Non-invasive devices that reposition the jaw and tongue to keep the airway open during <u>sleep</u>	Can be effective for mild to moderate OSA	Less effective for severe OSA or individuals with certain jaw conditions	Individuals who cannot tolerate other treatment options or as adjunct therapy

 Table 3. Treatment options for obstructive sleep apnoea: narrative summary.
#### 1.15. International Consensus Document on Obstructive Sleep Apnoea

In the International Consensus Document (ICD) on OSA (257), guidelines are provided for healthcare professionals who manage adult individuals who suffer from this condition. There were 17 scientific societies represented, 56 specialists from different geographic regions, 4 international societies, a methodology expert, and a documentalist from the Iberoamerican Cochrane Center in the expert working group.

As part of the ICD, a clear therapeutic algorithm is provided for managing OSA, which outlines steps such as hygienic-dietary measures, identification and treatment of associated conditions and potentially reversible causes, as well as recommendations for CPAP therapy or alternative treatments in specific circumstances.

The document emphasizes the crucial role of primary care physicians in the management of OSA, addressing the need for training programs in primary care for improving the suspicion and diagnosis process. Additionally, it emphasizes the potential of primary care settings to fulfil the majority of treatment follow-up needs.

According to ICD, OSA is defined as the presence of  $AHI \ge 15/h$ , primarily obstructive, or an  $AHI \ge 5/h$  accompanied by one or more factors, such as excessive daytime sleepiness, non-restorative sleep, excessive tiredness, and/or impaired sleep-related quality of life, unattributable to other causes.

In the ICD, it is stressed that classifications based solely on AHI do not adequately represent the severity of OSA and do not take into account heterogeneity. All medical, surgical, and physical treatment options for OSA should be considered rationally and complementary, either in isolation or in combination, and tailored to each patient after an in-depth evaluation. In multidisciplinary collaboration, an emphasis should be placed on the patient's participation in therapeutic decision-making.

In the OSA therapeutic algorithm, hygienic-dietary measures are recommended for all patients, evaluation is conducted to identify OSA-related conditions and potential reversible causes, and treatment of obesity and reversible factors is provided. Figure 4 shows the proposed therapeutic algorithm for OSA (257). The use of CPAP is recommended for patients with moderate-to-severe OSA, excessive daytime sleepiness, impaired sleep-related quality of life, and/or hypertension. In the event that the therapeutic trial is unsuccessful, alternative treatments should be explored.

The involvement of primary care physicians in OSA underdiagnosis is crucial, as well as the implementation of training plans in primary care that enhance the suspicion of and diagnosis of OSA. A clinical suspicion should be based on at least two of the three primary symptoms: snoring, observed apnoeas, and excessive daytime sleepiness or unexplained intense fatigue. A majority of follow-up requirements can be met in primary care; however, there is insufficient evidence to support initiating CPAP treatment exclusively in a primary care setting. Fig. 8. Shows the proposed therapeutic algorithm for OSA (257).



1. Tonsillar hypertrophy, severe dental or facial alterations, acromegaly, hypothyroidism, and others.

Given lack of specific clinical questionnaires, consider intense snoring, choking episodes, insomnia, morning headache, nocturia, deteriorated occupational or academic performance, social impact, and/or tiredness

3. Use CPAP with short-term evaluation of therapeutic efficacy and withdrawal in case of no response

Figure 4. Proposed therapeutic algorithm for obstructive sleep apnoea. From (257).

#### 1.16. Research Gap

As discussed previously, the management strategies for individuals with OSA fall into three broad categories: medical, surgical, and behavioral. Medical treatments include CPAP devices, oral appliances, and pharmacological solutions. Surgical interventions include procedures such as maxillomandibular advancement. An integrated behavioral approach includes positional therapy and lifestyle changes.

There are several gaps and areas for improvement in OSA management, despite the extensive treatment options available. Firstly, there is a lack of comprehensive, patient-centered care that addresses the multifaceted nature of OSA and its concomitant comorbidities. In addition, limited access to specialized healthcare services and long waiting times for sleep studies can complicate the diagnosis and treatment of sleep disorders. Additionally, suboptimal adherence to treatments, particularly CPAP therapy, has been observed, which may compromise the effectiveness of treatments.

Moreover, there is a substantial gap in addressing the educational needs of individuals with OSA, with a lack of targeted resources and interventions designed to bridge the knowledge gap and empower patients to manage their condition.

A profound need arises from these limitations to improve OSA management by integrating the expertise of healthcare professionals, including nurses. Nurses play an important role in closing these gaps by providing early screening, assessment, patient education, and support for treatment adherence.

Based on this contextual understanding, we will explore in greater depth the role of nurses in OSA management, the effectiveness of nurse-led interventions, the costeffectiveness of primary care management of OSA, and patients' educational needs in the ensuing chapter of this thesis.

#### 1.17. Thesis Hypothesis and Objectives

The objectives and hypotheses of this thesis are as follows:

- Hypothesis 1: Nursing-led interventions in obstructive sleep apnoea management are both cost-effective and improve patient outcomes compared to a specialised sleep unit model.
- Objective 1: To review the existing literature on nurses' roles in obstructive sleep apnoea management, in both sleep units and primary care settings, and with a focus on the cost-effectiveness and effectiveness of nurse-led interventions.
- Hypothesis 2: By identifying the educational needs, beliefs, and experiences of individuals with obstructive sleep apnoea, we will gain valuable insight into developing tailored, patient-centered educational materials and interventions.
- Objective 2: To explore the educational needs, beliefs, and experiences of individuals with obstructive sleep apnoea in Lleida, Spain.
- Hypothesis 3: Based on the findings of the qualitative study, evidence-based recommendations will inform the development of targeted educational materials and interventions designed to improve obstructive sleep apnoea management, and overall health outcomes
- Objective 3: To synthesize the findings of the qualitative study and provide evidence-based recommendations as well as implications to improve obstructive sleep apnoea management and patient outcomes through the development of educational materials and interventions.

# METHODOLOGY

Methodology

### **2.** METHODOLOGY

This PhD thesis is a mixed-methods study that is based on a comprehensive literature review and a qualitative case study. A literature review has previously been published and provides the theoretical basis for the subsequent qualitative study (10) (Annex A). The following sections describe the methods used in each component of the study.

#### 2.1. Literature Review

Firstly, the objective of this thesis was to review the existing literature on nurses' roles in OSA management, both in sleep units and primary care settings, as well as the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of nurse-led interventions. Accordingly, a literature review was conducted. The methodology presented in this section was derived from a scoping review that sought to map current research on nurses' role in OSA management in primary care and sleep units. The review was titled "Nursing Professionals' Role in the Comprehensive Management of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: A Literature Review" (10). The review followed the PRISMA 2020 guidelines for scoping reviews.

The review was based on scholarly publications and included qualitative, quantitative studies, and mixed method studies. The search for relevant literature was conducted using electronic databases such as PubMed/Medline, CINAHL, Scopus, the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, and ScienceDirect. Specific keywords and terms related to the research topic were used in the search.

An inclusion criterion for the studies was established as peer-reviewed articles published in the English language between January 2015 and June 2021 which examined individuals with OSA of any age group and highlighted nursing contributions to the management of OSA in primary care settings or sleep units.

During the review, references were managed using EndNote 9.2, and then titles and abstracts of 345 articles were screened by two reviewers. Upon reviewing the full texts of the articles, it was determined that 10 articles met all the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

In February of 2023, before the journal's final decision, an updated search was conducted. Two additional articles were added, bringing the total number of included articles to 12. A quality assessment was conducted using the Critical Appraisal Skills Program (CASP) and the guiding quality questions provided by the program. This review was published in March 2023 (10).

#### 2.2. Qualitative Study

#### 2.2.1. Conceptual Framework

The second objective of this thesis was to explore the educational needs, beliefs, and experiences of individuals with OSA in Lleida, Spain. It was critical to select an appropriate theoretical framework for addressing the particular research question and population under study (258). Different theoretical frameworks offer various views on a research question, guiding variable selection and data analysis (258).

In this qualitative study, we will utilize the Health Belief Model (HBM) as the theoretical framework to explore the educational needs of individuals with OSA (259,260). Using the HBM, we hope to determine the key factors influencing OSA individuals' viewpoints and identify opportunities to develop tailored education programs that address their needs.

#### 2.2.1.1. Health Belief Model (HBM)

The HBM is a widely recognized psychological model developed by social psychologists Godfrey Hochbaum, Stephen Kegels, and Irwin Rosenstock in the 1950s to explain and predict individual health behaviours (259). The model was originally developed to understand the reluctance of people to participate in preventive health programs (259). However, it has since evolved and has been applied to a wide range of health behaviours, including smoking cessation, weight loss, and vaccination (261). In addition to HIV (262), type 2 diabetes (263), tuberculosis prevention behaviour (264), nutritional behaviours (265), or developing preventive behaviours in young adults (266).

#### 2.2.1.2. Components of HB

There are six main components that make up the HBM:

- Perceived susceptibility: refers to a person's belief that it is likely that they will get a particular disease. Those who receive themselves as more susceptible to a health condition are more likely to take preventive measures (267).
- Perceived Severity: refers to a person's belief about the severity of a health condition and its potential consequences. When people perceive a health condition to be severe, they are more motivated to engage in preventive behaviours (267).
- 3. Perceived Benefits: refers to a person's belief in the effectiveness of a particular action in reducing the risk or severity of a particular health condition. In general, the greater the perceived benefit of a particular action, the more likely it is that a person will engage in that action (267).
- 4. Perceived Barriers: refers to a person's belief in the obstacles or costs involved in undertaking a particular course of action. When perceived barriers outweigh perceived benefits, people are less likely to engage in preventive behaviours (267).
- 5. Cues to Action: refers to factors that cause a person to act, either internally or externally. There are internal cues, such as physical symptoms and emotional experiences, and external cues, such as advice from others, media campaigns, and environmental changes (267).
- 6. Self-efficacy: refers to a person's belief in their ability to perform a task successfully. Those with a high level of self-efficacy are more likely to adhere to a health behaviour over the long term (267,268).

#### 2.2.1.3. Application and Limitations of HBM

This model has been extensively applied to health promotion and intervention programmes for chronic disease prevention, substance abuse prevention, and sexual health

promotion (269). HBM has also been employed to address OSA and treatment adherence in a number of studies, demonstrating relationships between health beliefs, self-efficacy, and treatment adherence (270–272).

The HBM has been criticized for its individualistic focus, which does not take into account social, cultural, or environmental influences on health behaviors (273). Nevertheless, the HBM remains a valuable tool for predicting and understanding health behaviors (274).

#### 2.3. Study Design

The qualitative study utilized a semi-structured interview as the primary method of data collection as it is crucial to choose an appropriate method of data collection to obtain valid and reliable data (275). In the context of exploring the educational needs of individuals with OSA, semi-structured interviews provide several benefits over other methods.

The adaptability of semi-structured interviews is one of their most important advantages. In contrast to structured interviews, semi structured interviews allow the researcher to adjust the questions and expand on themes that emerge during the interviews (276). Furthermore, semi-structured interviews enable researchers to tailor their questions to each participant's unique experiences, resulting in context-specific insights (277). This is particularly beneficial in OSA research due to the diverse nature of individuals with OSA and the myriad factors affecting disease progression and management (23).

Furthermore, semi-structured interviews facilitate in-depth exploration of participants' experiences and reveal subtleties that may not be captured by structured questionnaires or survey instruments (278). The Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research (SRQR) guidelines were used to report the study methodology (279).

#### 2.4. Sampling

This study employed a purposive sampling method (280,281). This approach involves the selection of participants based on certain characteristics, such as the diagnosis

of OSA. As part of purposive sampling, participants are required to possess characteristics or experiences relevant to the research question in order for the sample to accurately represent the population studied (280,281). In this instance, the inclusion and exclusion criteria were used to identify the individuals with specific characteristics relevant to the research study.

#### 2.5. Participants

In this study, participants were recruited from the sleep unit at Hospital Universitario Arnau de Vilanova, Lleida / Spain. Health care providers at sleep units informed individuals who met the eligibility requirements about this qualitative study. Those who expressed interest in the study were provided with an information sheet (Appendix B) explaining the study's objectives, procedures, potential risks, and benefits. All participants provided written informed consent (Appendix C).

The inclusion criteria for participants in this study were that they had moderate OSA with an AHI of 15-30, as well as hypertension as determined by 24-hour ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (24h-ABPM). The study included both men and women of 18 years old or over and who had been diagnosed with OSA in a sleep unit. The participants should be fluent in Catalan and/or Spanish and currently live in Lleida, Spain.

Conversely, those with incapacity to handle technology, bariatric intervention or waiting list, psychiatric disorders, restless legs syndrome, pregnancy, another form of dyssomnia, or parasomnia were excluded from the study. Those who had previously or currently received CPAP, couldn't complete questionnaires, advanced heart failure (New York Heart Association class III or IV), associated advanced pathology (including any active neoplasm or tumor), pregnancy, or a BMI below 17 were also excluded from the study.

#### 2.6. Data Collection

The collection of data is a crucial component of any research study, since it contributes greatly to answering the research questions (275). This study collected data

through in-person semi-structured interviews conducted in a neutral and comfortable environment at the Faculty of Nursing and Physiotherapy at the University of Lleida. This setting was intentionally selected in order to create a relaxed, non-threatening environment that encouraged participants to express themselves freely and reduced the likelihood of external influences (282).

All interviews were audio-recorded with the interviewee's informed written consent and transcribed verbatim to ensure accuracy and facilitate data analysis. The interviews took place between May and December 2022. The duration of the interviews varied between 25 and 85 min.

The final sample included 11 participants, with saturation achieved after data analysis indicated no new themes emerging (283). The interviewer (OM) is a doctoral candidate fluent in both Spanish and Catalan. All interviews were conducted in Spanish, although participants had the option of conducting them in the language of their choice, either Spanish or Catalan.

#### 2.7. Interview Guide

A comprehensive literature review informed the development of an interview guide to facilitate the interviews. There were several key topics covered in the guide, including OSA symptoms, experiences with diagnosis and treatment, and participants' perceptions of OSA-related education. In addition to ensuring thorough coverage of relevant topics, the interview guide was used to encourage in-depth discussions and elicit detailed responses from participants. The use of an interview guide facilitates consistency across interviews, thereby improving the reliability of study findings (275). The questions in the interview guidelines include:

- 1. Would you be able to describe your feelings regarding obstructive sleep apnoea?
- 2. What information have you received from your doctor or nurses regarding obstructive sleep apnoea (symptoms, medication/treatment option, diet, blood pressure control, sleep habits, follow-up, medical tests...)?

- 3. Could you please explain how well you felt that you could manage your care at home (Did you find the information useful, was it overwhelming, did you understand it?)?
- 4. Please describe what you did not receive in the instructions that you felt you could have benefited from knowing and that you need to know?
- 5. What are the advantages of using a technology to manage your condition over visiting a hospital?
- 6. What are the disadvantages of using a technology to manage your condition over visiting a hospital?

#### 2.8. Data Analysis

In this study, we employed a rigorous thematic analysis approach to identify, analyze, and describe the key themes and subthemes in the data. The transcripts were rigorously cross-checked against the original recordings, as outlined by Braun and Clarke (2006), for the purposes of examining, interpreting, and reporting significant patterns or themes emerging from the data collected (284). One of the researcher team OM meticulously transcribed the audio-recorded interviews verbatim, and the transcripts were rigorously verified for accuracy against their respective source recordings. A qualitative data analysis software called Atlas.ti was utilized to enhance the analysis process (285).

RA and MM independently coded the data, assigning codes to salient textual units. FP participated in a comprehensive discussion with RA and MM, facilitating a consensusbased approach to resolving any discrepancies. This collaborative process ensured the consistency and robustness of the coding process. The codes were then systematically amalgamated into cohesive overarching themes and subthemes, enabling us to explore the multifaceted nature of the participants' experiences and perspectives on OSA and its management. The abduction approach was used throughout the data analysis process, as we iteratively moved back and forth between the data and existing theories, in order to generate new insights and explanations. In accordance with the recommendations of Green et al. (2007) (286) and Eakin and Gladstone (2020) (287), we generated meaningful insights and advanced our understanding of the research phenomenon by employing a rigorous and systematic approach to data analysis.

# RESULTS

Results

### **3.** RESULTS

This section will meticulously summarize the significant findings obtained from an exhaustive synthesis of the existing literature, as well as a rigorous qualitative investigation. The results of this synthesis have enabled us to identify pivotal themes, knowledge gaps, and new insights prevalent across our research. Concurrently, the qualitative study has enabled us to delve into the intricate nuances and complexities of the subject matter. This has enhanced our understanding of the phenomena under scrutiny.

The synthesis of literature review and qualitative findings presented herein serves as a valuable resource for understanding the interwoven fabric of our research domain, while simultaneously contributing to the advancement of knowledge and theory in the field.

#### 3.1. Literature Review

In our review (10), 12 articles were included, and three key themes emerged, namely the role of nurses in the diagnosis of obstructive sleep apnoea, the role of nurses in following up and supporting obstructive sleep apnoea patients, and the role of nurses in managing obstructive sleep apnoea in primary care and its cost-effectiveness. It has been demonstrated that nurses can play a very significant role in OSA management. The scope of their contributions encompasses an array of areas including screening, assessment, diagnosis, adherence to therapy, and follow-up care. In addition, they are responsible for providing patient education and collaborating with other health care professionals (10).

Additionally in the review it has been demonstrated that patient education is highly effective in promoting adherence to PAP therapy in both sleep units and primary care settings. Nurses monitor individuals for adverse effects associated with CPAP machines, such as facial irritation. This further reinforces their importance in managing OSA. It has been found that the primary care model of OSA management is more cost-effective than the sleep unit model (10).

Results

#### 3.2. Qualitative Study

This section presents the results of a meticulous thematic analysis of 11 semistructured interviews with OSA individuals. The study included 9 male and 2 female participants aged between 43 and 61. Our findings revealed four primary themes, each encompassing a range of subthemes. Firstly, we identified the theme of "An introduction to obstructive sleep apnoea 101" that indicated a lack of knowledge about the condition. The second theme, "Weight management: how to do it?" emphasized the challenges individuals with OSA face in managing their weight and the need for evidence-based strategies. The third theme, "Sleep, It's All That Matters" shed light on the diverse experiences and impacts of OSA on individuals' lives. Finally, the fourth theme, "Physical Activity: Let's Talk About It" explored the role of physical activity in OSA management and the barriers individuals face in implementing it.

#### 3.2.1. An Introduction to Obstructive Sleep Apnoea 101

In this theme, participants seek a comprehensive understanding of OSA, including the diagnosis, contributing factors, and the influence of OSA severity on treatment choices.

Participant 11 revealed their lack of awareness of the condition, stating:

"Because sometimes you wake up like that, but you don't give it much importance. But yes, it's been a few years. Since you don't know what it is, you don't really pay attention."

"Porque como te de vez en cuando te despiertas así y tampoco no led as importancia, pero si estoy ya hacía unos años, como tampoco no sabes lo que es ni nada, pues dices" Similarly, Participant 5 expressed their desire for more information about OSA:

"I would like to know a little more about the disease, because understanding the disease is the first thing I would like to know. As far as I know, in my family, I am the only one with sleep apnea. I didn't even know about this disease."

"me gustaría saber un poquito más de la enfermedad, porqued a la enfermedad es lo primero que ello me gustaría saber. Porque hasta donde yo sé de mi familia, soy la única quetengo apnea. Es que yo ni conocía esa enfermedad."

Participant 5 commented on the use and attitudes towards technology:

"I don't know anything about this, and I'm just starting to use it now. So, I can't tell you yet if it's beneficial"

"Yo, como no sé nada de esto, apenas ahora lo voy a usar. Entonces no sé decir, no te sé decir todavía si me beneficia"

Meanwhile, participant 6 acknowledged the advantages of technological advancements, stating:

"What I see is that with the new technology, you can integrate it into your everyday life.With the traditional method, of course, you always have to go to the medical center, and you have to adhere to specific schedules. This, on the other hand, provides freedom, and I think it's good for both the patient and the doctor to have real-time data and so on."

"Lo que veo es que la nueva tecnología te puedes conviviren tu día a día normal

El tradicional, pues claro, siempre tienes que acudir al centro médico, tienes que estar respecto aunos horarios. Esto pues, da una libertad y creo que es bueno tanto para el paciente como para elmédico detener atiempo realunos datos y demás"

#### 3.2.1.1. Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: Why do I have it?

In this subtheme, the Participants expressed bewilderment and curiosity about the causes and underlying mechanisms of their OSA diagnosis. In their opinion, health professionals generally provide only brief explanations, which leaves them with a limited understanding of the condition. Participants in this subtheme underscore the importance of comprehensive education on OSA to assist patients in better understanding the cause, symptoms, risk factors, and pathophysiology of their condition.

Participant 2 admitted their lack of awareness of the severity of their condition, saying:

"I knew I snored, but I didn't know I was having apneas".

Sabía que roncaba, pero no sabía que estaba teniendo las apneas.

In addition, the same participant emphasized the importance of understanding the factors affecting their OSA and exploring potential solutions:

"knowing everything that affects me, having a clear understanding of what affects me and then looking at possible solutions to solve or improve my case.....Does it get cured 100%, or how can it be cured?"

"saber en todo lo que me afecta, vale tener claro lo que me afecta a mí y luego mirar las posibles soluciones para solucionar o mejorar mi caso...Se cura 100% o cómo curarla?"

Participant 4 raised questions regarding the OSA etiology and risk factors:

"Maybe if the apnoea has to do with age....If it is a genetic cause...Or what the etiology". Participant4

"Quizá si el apnea tiene que ver con la edad.... Si es una causa genética....O la etiología que tiene."

#### 3.2.1.2. OSA Severity and Its Influence on Treatment Options

This subtheme revealed participant confusion regarding treatment options, particularly when healthcare professionals did not recommend CPAP therapy. The findings highlight the participants' desire to gain a comprehensive understanding of OSA and the need for clear communication and active participation in the decision-making process.

The participant 7 described their experience as follows:

"Nothing at all. The answer was that I didn't need to use a machine."

"Nada de nada.La respuesta fue que no hacía falta que llevará máquina"

Similarly, Participant 8 mentioned, "They told me that the results showed I had apnoeas, but not enough to use a machine."

"Entonces me dijeron de que los resultados que habían dado era que tenía apneas, pero no lo suficiente como para llevar una maquina".

#### 3.2.2. Weight Management: How to Do it?

This theme examines the difficulties experienced by OSA patients in managing their weight and the impact that weight management has on their condition. Although participants acknowledged the importance of maintaining a healthy weight, they expressed difficulties adhering to appropriate dietary practices.

Participant 3 admitted to their diet struggle, saying:

"I know I should lose weight. I could say that I know how to do it more or less. It mostly depends on my diet. And there, I have a bit of a problem because the diet I am currently following may not be the most appropriate, and I find it difficult to give up certain foods and replace them with others" "Sobre todo depende de la alimentación. Y ahí sí que tengo un poco de problema porque igual la alimentación que estoy llevando hoy en día no es la más adecuada y me cuesta renunciar a según que alimento y sustituirlos por otros."

Participant 7 expressed the desire for guidance on weight management and lifestyle changes to control their OSA:

"I would like them to provide methods so that it doesn't reach such extremes. Whether it's doing breathing exercises or eating lighter meals at night. That with a different diet, it could also improve. In other words, they should provide us with ways to control it"

"yo quisiera que me hicieran métodos para que no, no llegará a esos extremos. Se tenía que hacer ejercicios de respiración o por la noche en vez de comer no comemos fuerte, pero que con

otra alimentación también mejorara. O sea, que nos dieran medios para poder controlarla."

Participant 10 shared a positive experience after adopting a healthier diet:

"and also started a diet, and the truth is that I lost weight, and I eat many good things, like vegetables that I didn't eat before, and I'm really happy about it. Because I feel less tired, of course. In the end, nutrition influences how you feel. If you don't eat fats and eat the food you should eat."

"la verdad que bajo peso comes muchas cosas que son buenas,

verduras que antes no comía tantas y la verdad que muy bien, muy contento. Porque me noto menos cansado, claro. Al final la alimentación influye. Si tú no comes grasas y comes la comida que deberías comer, pues también te sientes menos cansado"

#### 3.2.2.1. Integrating Nutritionists into Comprehensive OSA Management

A number of participants expressed dissatisfaction with the vague weight loss guidance provided by healthcare professionals and emphasized the importance of including nutritionists in their OSA management plans.

Participant 3 described their experience with a healthcare professional, saying:

"The doctor simply told me that I should lose weight, but she did not specify anything else."

"Simplemente me dijo la doctora que debería perder peso, pero no me concretó nada más."

In addition, the same participant elaborated on their struggle with making dietary changes and the potential need for external assistance:

" I don't know if I have or will have enough willpower to stop eating some foods and replace them with others. That's where I might need a little external help to improve. I'm going to try, but I don't know if I can do it alone because I tend to eat certain types of food"

"Y yo no sé si voy a tener o tengo la suficiente voluntad para dejar de comer algunos alimentos y sustituirlos por otros. Ahí quizás sí que me vendría bien un poco de ayuda externa para mejorar. Vale, yo lo voy a intentar, pero no sé si solo lo conseguiré porque tengo tendencia a comer de determinados alimentos."

Participant 5 expressed a desire for more concrete guidance from healthcare professionals:

"not just telling me to lose weight. I'd like them to tell me how to do it, how to lose weight." "no que me digan si tengo que bajar de peso. A mi me gustaría que me dijeran como tengo que hacerlo para bajar de peso"

Participant 7 sought nutritionist assistance, recounting:

"I even went to a nutritionist, paying for it privately".

"Alimentación me he ido hasta a un nutricionista pagando yo por privado."

## 3.2.2.2. Weight loss strategies: Distinguishing evidence-based approaches from fallacies

A number of weight loss strategies were discussed by participants, and misconceptions regarding effective methodologies were revealed. Their personal experiences with different dietary approaches to weight management were shared.

Among the strategies used by participants is a low-carb diet. According to participant 4:

"I have followed more or less a diet, which is not a particularly strange diet, but some supplements during the mid-morning and mid-afternoon that prevent me from not being so hungry. And then I've also lowered carbs. The very, very basic diet goes."

"sí que he seguido más o menos una una dieta, que no es una dieta particularmente extraña, sino unos complementos durante la media mañana y media tarde que impiden que hacen no tener tanta hambre. Y después también he bajado carbohidratos. La dieta muy, muy básica va."

Participants have also used intermittent fasting and removing certain foods from their diets. Participant 9 shared their intermittent fasting experience, saying:

"Now, I'm eating once a day. I'm doing intermittent fasting and only eat once a day."

*"Ahora, estoy comiendo una vez al día. Estoy haciendo ayuno intermitente y solo como una vez al dia"* 

Participant 11 described eliminating sugar and processed foods:

"So what I've done is eliminate sugar almost entirely; I can't say 100%, but I rarely consume it. I've eliminated carbonated drinks like Coca-Cola, lemonade, and all that. I've also eliminated processed pastries."

"He eliminado l as bebidas carbonatadas , lo que son cocacolas, limonadas, todo esto. He eliminado la bollería industrial."

#### 3.2.3. Sleep, it's all that Matters.

In the third theme, individuals' sleep experiences are examined. In addition, the impact of OSA symptoms on their sleep quality, interpersonal relationships, and the influence of external factors such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

Participant 1 shared:

"The symptoms are mainly those that my wife has told me about because I don't realize them. She has mentioned that besides snoring, which bothers her the most, she's worried because she has seen me stop breathing several times, and then I start breathing again. I don't notice it, but maybe some of my awakenings are due to apnea."

"Pues los síntomas son básicamente los que me ha comentado mi mujer, porque yo no me doy cuenta, ella sí que me ha dicho que aparte del ronquido, qué es lo que más le molesta. Ella lo que le preocupa es que me ha visto, pues varias veces, pues que me quedo, que no respiro Y entonces después respiro. ¿Bueno, yo no me doy cuenta, no? Yo no he tenido, no sé si alguno delos despertares porque he leído algo de apnea" Participant 5 explained their disrupted sleep experience:

"For example, I'm sleeping, and suddenly, I wake up gasping for air. A friend of mine, who I sometimes share a bed with, tells me that sometimes I stop breathing for a few seconds."

"Yo por ejemplo estoy dormida y de pronto así, y bueno, y una amiga que luego ella, pues compartimos cama, y me dice ella que sí,que vos a veces te quedas como que unos segundos como que no respiras."

Similarly, Participant 7 said:

"but they tell me that at night I snore and that I stop breathing. My wife says that sometimes I stop breathing and suddenly jump out of bed with my arms raised. I've done this several times"

"pero me dicen que por la noche ronco y que me quedo como si no respirara. Mi mujer dice que a veces me quedo sin respirar y de golpe salto de la cama con los brazos hacia arriba. Esto lo he hecho varias veces"

# 3.2.3.1. Sleep Position Recommendations: A Call for Individualized Approaches

A side-sleeping position was recommended in order to alleviate snoring, according to participants. The generic recommendation, however, did not adequately address their sleep-related concerns.

Participant 5 shared their experience with this advice:

"The only thing they've told me is to try to sleep on your side. OK no face up on the side, more than anything, I guess it's because he broke it, because I also I've noticed, I sleep on my side and I think I don't snore as much as if I'm on my back" lo único que me han dicho es que que procure dormir de lado.Vale, no boca arriba de lado, más que todo, me imagino que es por lo rompió, porque yo también me he notado, yo duermo de lado y creo que no ronco tanto, como si estoy boca arriba"

#### 3.2.3.2. Understanding the Extensive Effects of Snoring on Sleep Quality and Interpersonal Relationships

In this subtheme, participants discussed the impact of snoring on sleep quality and interpersonal relationships.

As participant 8 described, sleeping in separate rooms helps to get better sleep, but it also creates challenges when monitoring each other's sleep patterns and identifying potential apneas:

""because I snore quite a bit and my wife also have a somewhat light sleep, we decided to sleep in separate rooms, and she can't monitor me because we are in separate rooms, so she can't tell me if I have apneas or not"

"mi mujer también tiene un sueño un poco superficial, superficial, pues entonces decidimos de dormir en habitaciones separadas y el control, claro, no me lo lleva a ella, porque con

siestamos en habitaciones separadas, pues no, no podemos, no me puede decir si tengo apneas, no"

#### 3.2.3.3. Impact of OSA on Daytime Functioning and Sleep Hygiene

This subtheme examined the effects of OSA on participants' daytime functioning, including excessive daytime sleepiness, difficulty concentrating, and poor work performance.

Participant 2 described their experience:

"I have a feeling of tiredness. The feeling of a lack of energy".

"Tengo sensación de cansancio. Tener la sensación de. De falta de energía. Vale".

#### Participant 5 shared:

"The problem is that if I sleep four or five hours, I don't sleep through it because every time I go to the bathroom. So, no, rest well. So that's where I feel a little bit the next day that I'm like I'm tired like."

"El problema es que si duermo cuatro o 5 horitas no los duermo de tirón porque cada vez estoy yendo al baño. Entonces, no, descanso bien. Entonces ahí es donde me siento un poco al otro día que como que estoy cansada como."

Participant 8 explained their sleep disruptions:

"Usually, after about 1:30 or 2 hours of sleep, I tend to wake up, often with a nightmare or a feeling of sleeping poorly. Then I fall back asleep and wake up again maybe every half hour or every 20 minutes, something like that."

"Normalmente, cuando llevo 1:30 h o dos de estas dormido me acostumbro a despertar normalmente con una, una pesadilla o más sensación de estar durmiendo mal. Vale, después me

vuelvo otra vez a dormir y me vuelvo a despertar a lo mejora la media hora o cada 20 minutos, una cosa así alguna"

Participant 10 recounted a dangerous situation:

"I took the highway, and I crashed into a truck. I didn't get hurt, thanks God."

"me coge la autopista y cuando me quise dar cuenta me postré contra un camión. Me quede dormido.No me pasó nada, gracias a Dios"

#### 3.2.4. Physical Activity: Let's Talk About It

The fourth theme examines the role that physical activity plays in the management of OSA.

#### 3.2.4.1. Navigating the Exercise Landscape: A Call for Professional Guidance

Participants expressed a desire for professional guidance on exercise, as they were unsure about the appropriateness, intensity, and frequency of their physical activities.

Participant 2 shared:

"I suppose you can't start doing the exercise you want the way you want, someone has to guide you on what to do to start."

"Supongo que tampoco puedes empezar a hacer el ejercicio que quieres de la manera que quieras, sino alguien que te guíe de lo que has de hacer para ir haciendo. Vale."

Participant 3 explained their uncertainty:

"Of course, I can do physical activity, but I don't really know if I'm doing the right kind for my age and everything else, or if I'm doing too little or too much, or if I'm doing it regularly enough. If I'm not doing it regularly enough, I don't know. Maybe a professional could guide me a bit more."

"Porque claro, yo puedo hacer actividad física, pero no sé tampoco muy bien si hago la adecuada a mi edad y a todos, y hago pocas y hago demasiadas y la hago con la suficiente regularidad. Si no lo hago con la suficiente regularidad, no lo sé. Quizás un profesional que me orientará un poquito más."

Participant 4 wanted more specific information:

"but I would like to know what is the minimum frequency and time per day and what is the maximum desirable for." *"El mínimo y el máximo de ejercicio físico que son recomendables para recomendaciones muy genéricas, pero me gustaría saber cuál es el mínimo de frecuencia y de tiempo al día y cuál es el máximo deseable para."* 

#### 3.2.5. Physical Activity and OSA Symptom Severity

This subtheme explores the relationship between physical activity levels and OSA symptom severity, with participants acknowledging that regular exercise may contribute to a reduction in OSA symptoms.

Some participants were uncertain about the impact of physical activity on their OSA symptoms, as exemplified by Participant 8:

"Well, I can't be sure if it's good or not. I couldn't answer that question because I don't know if it affects"

"Pues no puedo estar seguro si va bien o no, no, no podría. No podría contestarte a esta pregunta porque no sé si influye en este tema"

However, despite this uncertainty, a number of participants believed that regular exercise could help alleviate some symptoms of OSA.

#### 3.2.6. Barriers to Exercise

In this subtheme, a variety of barriers were identified by patients as preventing them from participating in physical activity, including a lack of motivation, time constraints, and physical limitations and comorbidities.

The majority of participants reported that comorbidities, such as arthritis, asthma, and previous surgeries, held them back from engaging in physical activity due to their comorbid conditions.

72

Results

Participant 5 shared their challenges:

"Because I have several good things, I have arthritis, I have asthma, I have and right now in May I had surgery on my knee, they have given me a prosthesis."

"porque yo tengo bueno varias cosas, tengo artritis, tengo asma, tengo y ahorita en mayo me operaron de la rodilla, me han puesto una prótesis."

It was mentioned that time constraints, such as family and work commitments, were some of the barriers to participating in physical activity.

Participant 3 said:

" Time has probably been a significant factor. I've had three children fairly close together, so they've occupied me for about 20 years. Now, they're older, so it's not as much of an issue, but between work and family, it was all-consuming."

"Seguramente el tiempo ha sido importante. He tenido tres hijos bastantes seguidos, con lo cual me han ocupado. Ahora no, porque ya son mayores. Me han ocupado digamos que durante bastante 20 años. Aparte de trabajar todo era toda la"

Physical limitations, such as comorbidities or workplace constraints, can hinder individuals' ability to engage in physical activity.

Participant 4 mentioned, "I would say that the main reason to not engaging in physical activity at some point is the work environment."

"diría que la limitación principal para no realizar en algún momento actividad física es el ámbito laboral"

Table 4. An overview of the four main themes, subthemes, and corresponding codes derived from the transcripts.

Table 5. An overview (	of the four main themes, subthemes, and correspond	ing codes derived from the transcripts.
Theme	Subtheme	Codes
1. An introduction to obstructive sleep	1.1 Obstructive sleep apnoea: why do I have it?	<ul> <li>Confusion about OSA etiology</li> <li>Superficial information from healthcare professionals</li> </ul>
apnoea <i>101</i>	1.2 OSA Severity and Its Influence on Treatment Options	- Treatment options -Why not CPAP
	2.1 Integrating Nutritionists into Comprehensive OSA Management	<ul> <li>Dissatisfaction with unclear weight loss guidelines</li> <li>Incorporating nutritionists</li> </ul>
2. שפוצוור ווומוומצפווופוור. ווטא נס מס וני	2.2 Weight Loss Strategies: Distinguishing Evidence- Based Approaches from Fallacies	<ul> <li>Dissatisfaction with unclear weight loss guidelines</li> <li>Incorporating nutritionists</li> </ul>
	3.1 Sleep Position Recommendations: The Call for Individualized Approaches	- Sleep on your side - Inadequate sleep-related advice
2. Weight management: how to do it?	3.2 Understanding the extensive effects of snoring on sleep quality and interpersonal relationships.	<ul> <li>Effects of snoring on sleep quality</li> <li>Impact of snoring on interpersonal relationships</li> <li>Importance of addressing snoring consequences</li> </ul>
	3.3 Impact of OSA on Daytime Functioning and Sleep Hygiene Practices	<ul> <li>Daytime sleepiness</li> <li>Difficulty concentrating</li> <li>Impaired work performance</li> </ul>
	4.1 Navigating the Exercise Landscape: A Call for Professional Guidance	<ul> <li>Need for specialized exercise recommendations</li> <li>Uncertainty about exercise appropriateness, intensity,</li> </ul>
4. Physical Activity: Let's Talk About It	4.2 Physical Activity and OSA Symptom Severity	<ul> <li>Relationship between physical activity and OSA symptoms</li> <li>Acknowledgment of exercise benefits</li> <li>Advocating for physical activity in OSA management</li> </ul>
	4.3 Barriers to Exercise	Comorbidities Time Work Home responsibilities

### DISCUSSION

Discussion

### **4**• DISCUSSION

This discussion section explores the implications and significance of the research findings in the context of the broader scholarly landscape. In order to clarify the contributions that this study makes to our understanding of the OSA topic, we will examine the results and draw connections with prior studies. Furthermore, we will critically evaluate the study's limitations, and provide insights into potential avenues for future research that could build upon and refine the current knowledge base.

#### 4.1. Literature Review

Our literature review emphasizes the vital role nurses play in the journey of individuals with OSA. The literature review indicates that nurses play a crucial role in the diagnosis, assessment, management, and follow-up of individuals with OSA. The various roles performed by nurses are presented in Figure 5. Nurses are responsible for providing superior standards of care. They impart their expertise in promoting patients' health and wellbeing, educating patients, and integrating evidence-based practices into all settings of care (10).



Figure 5. Conceptualisation of nurse roles in care of patients with OSA. From (10).

#### 4.2. Qualitative Study

Below is the discussion of the qualitative study themes in aims to provide an indepth examination of the themes that emerged from the study results, with a focus on the Health Belief Model.

#### 4.2.1. Theme 1: An Introduction to OSA 101

Integrating empirical findings and theoretical constructs, our study examines participants' awareness and trepidation regarding OSA. As a result, this supports prior assertions suggesting that a lack of knowledge and misperceptions concerning OSA may lead to unwarranted expectations and excessive healthcare demands (288,289). The

findings are consistent with previous research that has highlighted the importance of patient education in the treatment of chronic diseases (290,291).

This study indicates that meeting individuals' educational needs, particularly those related to the origins, causes, and consequences of the condition is critical and can improve treatment patient satisfaction, and health outcomes. The findings of our study are consistent with those of Jamil (2022) and Watach et al. (2021), which also emphasize the importance of personalized and comprehensive patient education in the management of OSA (292,293).

Individuals with OSA frequently misunderstand treatment due to their own perception of need and case severity concerns, especially when healthcare professionals do not recommend CPAP therapy for moderate OSA. The findings of our study are consistent with those raised by Sawyer et al. (2011) (228) regarding the importance of patient involvement in treatment decision-making. It is important that individuals with OSA participate in treatment sourcing and intermediation, which supports the body of literature supporting shared decision-making in healthcare (294).

There are alternative treatments or behavioural interventions that may provide alleviation without the use of PAP-related therapies for some individuals, such as positional therapy (230) pharmacological treatments (251), and lifestyle interventions (295). The findings of this study support the concept that these treatment options should be considered and discussed with the individuals to facilitate informed decision-making, which has been demonstrated to enhance patient satisfaction, positive behavioural outcomes and treatment compliance (296,297).

This phenomenon can be analyzed through the lens of the Health Belief Model (259,260,267), we discern the criticality of perceived susceptibility and severity in health behaviour, reflected in our participants' demand for comprehensive patient education encompassing the pathogenesis, etiology, and repercussions of OSA. These insights will enable healthcare professionals to better address the education needs and create a more collaborative approach to treatment planning.

#### Discussion

#### 4.2.2. Theme 2. Weight Management

As a result of the data and theoretical insights, participants' perceptions of the value of behavioral interventions are highlighted, illuminating the benefits perceived within the Health Belief Model. Despite this, our study highlights participants' dissatisfaction with the lack of comprehensive guidance provided by healthcare professionals, which is a crucial perceived barrier to their health.

According to the participants, behavioural interventions can play an important role in improving their health and wellbeing. It has been shown that weight loss interventions have a positive effect on BMI, one of the main determinants of OSA risk (172). However, the study participants were dissatisfied with the lack of guidance they received from healthcare providers in order to achieve their weight loss goals. It is therefore imperative that the healthcare system enhances its capacity to offer comprehensive weight loss guidance and support, particularly through the integration of nutritionists and physical therapists.

The current study indicates that participants who consulted with nutritionists achieved better weight loss outcomes and experienced less OSA symptoms. This is in line with previous research that has demonstrated the importance of individualized diet counselling, and weight management strategies for achieving long-term weight loss success (298,299). There is, however, a need for further research to determine the most effective dietary strategies for OSA individuals.

Further, the current study's findings highlight the challenges OSA patients face in navigating the wide variety of diet recommendations and weight loss programs available.

The importance of this is heightened in the digital age, in which false information is widely disseminated and individuals may adopt ineffective or harmful weight loss practices. This assertion necessitates an enhancement of the healthcare system's capacity to deliver detailed weight loss guidance and support. Such an endeavor, we argue, should involve the integration of nutritional experts and physiotherapists, thereby fostering an interdisciplinary approach to patient care, vital for managing complex conditions like OSA.

#### Discussion

#### 4.2.3. Theme 3. Sleep, it's all that Matters

The empirical findings, corroborated by theoretical underpinnings, shine a light on the deleterious impacts of snoring on both the quality of sleep and interpersonal relationships of individuals with OSA. This resonates with prior literature that highlights the pervasive implications of snoring on sleep quality and relationship dynamics (300,301). Furthermore, we enhance this understanding by illuminating how snoring disrupts sleep environments, precipitating help-seeking behaviour—a crucial 'cue to action' within the Health Belief Model.

Our study adds to the existing literature by providing a comprehensive understanding of how snoring can disrupt sleep environments. Furthermore, it affects the quality of sleep of individuals and their partners as well as causing strain in relationships. Moreover, the negative consequences of snoring often act as a catalyst for help-seeking behaviour among OSA individuals, since they recognize the need for intervention in order to address the adverse effects of their snoring. The implications of this insight highlight the importance of incorporating the interpersonal dynamics and consequences of snoring into educational interventions and resources for OSA individuals and their partners.

Moreover, we identified the consequences of OSA on individuals' daytime functioning. The participants reported excessive daytime sleepiness, difficult concentration, and impaired performance at work. One participant had a car accident because of excessive daytime sleepiness. This finding is consistent with previous research that has demonstrated the negative impact of OSA on cognitive function and quality of life (77,115). This study contributes to the literature by highlighting the importance of developing educational interventions for individuals with OSA that address these daytime effects.

#### 4.2.4. Theme 4. Physical Activity: Let's Talk About it.

Our data illustrates the challenges participants face in engaging with physical activity due to various comorbidities and physical limitations, thus underlining the significance of perceived barriers in the Health Belief Model. We advocate for expert
guidance to address these barriers, facilitate a better understanding of the interplay between physical activity and OSA symptom severity, and provide strategies to surmount these obstacles.

According to the findings of our study, comorbidities, and physical limitations, including arthritis, asthma, and prior surgeries, hindered participants' participation in physical activity. This finding is consistent with existing studies that have demonstrated the intricate interplay between OSA and various comorbid conditions (194,302,303). The results of this study emphasize the importance of providing expert guidance, addressing comorbidities, understanding the relationship between physical activity and OSA symptom severity, and overcoming physical activity barriers.

Healthcare professionals can support OSA individuals in managing their overall health and achieving optimal treatment outcomes by addressing comorbidities and their impact on physical activity.

Based on our findings, OSA individuals need tailored educational interventions focused on physical activity. It was noted that participants expressed a desire for expert guidance regarding exercise, as they were uncertain about the suitability, intensity, and frequency of their physical activities. As a result of the integration of these insights into educational programs, healthcare providers and educators can better address the unique challenges faced by OSA individuals and aid them in achieving improved health and symptom management.

The study emphasizes the importance of exercise in managing OSA. In accordance with Aiello et al. (2016) (304), the participants in our study recognized the potential benefits of regular physical activity in alleviating OSA symptoms. Furthermore, they emphasized the need for additional expert guidance.

Our study unveiled several obstacles to exercise faced by OSA patients, such as lack of motivation, time constraints, and physical limitations. In order to overcome these barriers, healthcare professionals may consider strategies such as customized exercise programs, group classes, motivational tools and resources, as well as education on the benefits of physical activity. As a result of addressing the exercise barriers that were identified in this study, healthcare professionals can better assist OSA patients in achieving their physical activity objectives, ultimately improving their health and quality of life.

Our study proposes tailored educational interventions that underscore the value of physical activity and offer evidence-based advice to OSA individuals. By integrating empirical and theoretical perspectives, healthcare providers can address the unique challenges faced by OSA individuals, contributing to improved health outcomes and symptom management.

#### 4.3. Theoretical discussion

Based on the Health Belief Model (259,260,267), and in alignment with Green et al. (2007) and Eakin and Gladstone (2020), our study adopts an abductive analytical approach, weaving together empirical data and theoretical perspectives to construct a comprehensive narrative around OSA. This method allows us to illuminate the lived experiences of individuals with OSA within the rich framework of the Health Belief Model.

Perceived susceptibility and severity emerge as crucial facets driving OSA individuals to seek comprehensive understanding of their condition. A recognition of the benefits of weight management, improved sleep quality, and physical activity reinforces their commitment to maintaining a healthy lifestyle. However, perceived barriers such as inadequate weight loss guidance and limitations affecting physical activity impede their progress toward a healthy lifestyle. Notably, the disruption in sleep environments and interpersonal relationships resulting from snoring provide potent cues to action, triggering help-seeking behaviour.

Our findings thus underscore the potential of a multidimensional, abductive analytical approach to deliver nuanced insights into the lived experiences of individuals with OSA.

Ultimately, the results of the qualitative study can be interpreted in terms of the Health Belief Model, which emphasizes the importance of addressing individuals' perceptions of susceptibility, severity, benefits, barriers, cues to action, and self-efficacy. Healthcare professionals are able to better support OSA individuals in managing their condition and improving their health outcomes through the development of tailored educational materials and interventions that take into account these factors.

### 4.4. Recommendations and Implications

The third objective of this PhD thesis was to formulate recommendations to guide the creation of educational materials for the individuals with OSA as well as the implications.

## 4.4.1. Recommendations

It is essential that educational materials provide comprehensive and personalized information about OSA, including its causes, symptoms, consequences, and treatment options. It will enable patients to make informed decisions regarding their care and manage their condition more efficiently.

There are several misconceptions about OSA. These include the belief that it only affects overweight individuals, meal starving technique or that it is not a serious medical condition. As a result of dispelling these myths, patients and their families will be able to gain a deeper understanding of the disorder and the importance of seeking appropriate treatment.

Information about alternative treatments and behavioral interventions for OSA, such as positional therapy, pharmacological treatment, and lifestyle interventions, should be included in educational resources. In collaboration with healthcare professionals, individuals will be able to explore various options and make informed decisions about their care.

It is essential that the materials provide guidance on effective weight management strategies that are tailored to the specific needs of OSA individuals. There may be information on nutrition, portion control, and exercise included. In addition, working with nutritionists and other healthcare professionals may contribute to long-term weight loss success. It is important that educational resources provide information about developing adaptive exercise programs that take into account the comorbid conditions and physical limitations of patients. In some instances, this may involve presenting examples of lowimpact exercises, aquatic therapy, or other modified activities that are appropriate for patients with specific health conditions.

OSA individuals and their partners should be made aware of the interpersonal consequences of snoring in educational materials. Snoring may be mitigated through communication strategies, sleep environment modifications, and coping mechanisms.

It is important that resources are developed that explore OSA's daytime consequences, such as excessive sleepiness, difficulty concentrating, and impaired performance at work. Furthermore, they should be able to provide practical coping strategies and techniques in order to improve their day-to-day functioning and overall quality of life.

To meet diverse learning preferences and increase accessibility, educational resources should be developed in digital and multimedia formats in addition to traditional print materials. A variety of interactive websites, mobile applications, videos, and podcasts might be included in this category.

Based on these findings, educational materials can be developed which will better meet the needs of OSA individuals and their families, ultimately leading to better patient outcomes.

#### 4.4.2. Implications

#### 4.4.2.1. Implications on the Policy Level

The insights derived from semi-structured interviews with OSA individuals highlight several policy-level implications that can be addressed in order to improve OSA management and to enhance the quality of health care provided to individuals. Policies should be developed that provide comprehensive, evidence-based education on OSA for individuals and healthcare professionals that address salient subjects such as its etiology, consequences, and treatment options. Consequently, healthcare professionals will be better able to manage OSA, resulting in better outcomes for individuals.

The promotion of shared decision-making and facilitation of collaboration between healthcare providers and individuals is important for improving treatment adherence and patient satisfaction. Additionally, policymakers should advocate for the inclusion of multidisciplinary care teams in OSA management, including nutritionists, physical therapists, and specialists from different fields. As a result, a holistic, integrated care approach can more effectively address OSA patients' intricate needs.

It is also important that policies allocate resources for nutrition and exercise counseling for OSA individuals, so that qualified professionals can provide them with personalized advice and support. Furthermore, healthcare professionals should be provided with guidelines for identifying and treating potential comorbidities that may affect the ability of OSA individuals to participate in physical activity. In addition to comprehensive health assessments and adaptive exercise programs, guidelines should emphasize monitoring individuals with comorbid conditions on a continuing basis.

Healthcare professionals will be able to provide superior care if research is supported on effective treatment strategies for OSA, including alternative treatments and behavioral interventions. Moreover, policymakers should support public awareness campaigns to educate the public on the signs, symptoms, and consequences of OSA, leading to earlier diagnosis, timely intervention, and better outcomes.

In addressing these policy-level implications, potential weaknesses and areas for improvement should be considered. It may be necessary to ensure diverse perspectives, evaluate cost-effectiveness of interventions, address potential implementation barriers, monitor and evaluate policy outcomes, foster collaboration and information sharing, and address socioeconomic disparities in access to OSA services. Considering these factors can help policymakers create an environment conducive to improved understanding, management, and treatment of OSA, ultimately resulting in improved patient outcomes and enhanced quality of care.

Discussion

# 4.4.2.2. Implications for Research

Based on the findings of the semi-structured interviews with OSA individuals, the following implications can be drawn for future research on the management of OSA:

The findings of our study highlight the importance of comprehensive and personalized patient education in the management of OSA. Future research should focus on identifying the most effective means of providing patient education, including the use of digital platforms, multimedia resources, and group sessions. Furthermore, research should be focused on maximizing patient participation in treatment decisions, particularly when it comes to alternative treatments and behavioral interventions.

The findings of this study demonstrate the importance of individualized weight loss guidance for individuals suffering from OSA. Future research is needed to determine the most effective dietary strategies for OSA individuals, while taking into account individual differences and preferences. In addition to providing tailored support to individuals with OSA, nutritionists can also play a significant role in the integration of multidisciplinary teams into weight loss programs.

Based on our findings, we believe that tailored exercise programs are needed to accommodate the comorbidities and physical limitations of OSA individuals. There is a need for further research to examine how such programs can be developed and implemented, as well as their effectiveness in improving OSA symptoms and overall health. Furthermore, research should focus on creating innovative strategies to overcome exercise barriers experienced by OSA individuals, such as motivational tools, group sessions, and targeted educational materials.

This study provides insight into the interpersonal consequences of snoring among OSA individuals and their partners. Further research should be conducted to examine the dynamics of these relationships, investigating the impact of snoring on the quality of sleep, the well-being of the partner, and the satisfaction with the relationship. In addition, research should be conducted on the effectiveness of interventions and resources aimed at mitigating the negative effects of snoring on OSA individuals and their partners.

86

It is possible to gain valuable insight into the trajectory of OSA individuals over time through longitudinal research designs. This includes changes in symptom severity, adherence to treatment, and general health. Studies examining these aspects longitudinally can identify patterns and predictors of successful OSA management, which can be used to optimize treatment plans.

It is recognized in our study that external factors, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, may have an impact on sleep patterns and the diagnosis of OSA. Further research should examine how external factors affect OSA patients, including access to healthcare, diagnosis, and adherence to treatment.

# 4.4.2.3. Implications for Healthcare Professionals: Nurses, Nutritionists, and Physical Therapists

The nurse plays a crucial role in providing patient education regarding the causes, consequences, and management of OSA. Based on our findings, it is evident that personalized, comprehensive patient education plays a significant role in addressing the knowledge gaps and misconceptions associated with OSA. In order to improve treatment adherence, patient satisfaction, and health outcomes, nurses should prioritize clear communication and encourage patient participation in treatment decision-making. This should include considering alternative treatments or behavioral interventions.

Nutritionists can provide valuable support to OSA individuals in achieving their weight loss goals and managing their condition. The results of our study emphasize the importance of individualized dietary counseling and physical activity interventions for the long-term success of weight loss programs. The role of nutritionists is to provide tailored dietary guidance to OSA individuals, considering their unique circumstances, and helping them navigate the plethora of diet recommendations and weight management programs available. It is possible to enhance the effectiveness of these interventions by collaborating with other healthcare professionals.

A physical therapist can make a significant contribution to the management of OSA by designing and implementing exercise programs that are customized to accommodate the comorbidities and physical limitations of patients. Our findings emphasize the importance of addressing barriers to exercise, such as a lack of motivation, a lack of time, and physical limitations. Individuals with OSA should be assisted by physical therapists in developing strategies for overcoming these barriers through tailored exercise programs, group sessions, motivational tools and resources, and education on the benefits of physical activity. It is important for physical therapists to address these challenges in order to be able to effectively support OSA individuals in achieving their physical activity goals and improving their overall health and well-being.

Nurses, nutritionists, and physical therapists can enhance the care and support they provide to OSA patients by incorporating insights from this study into their practice. This will ultimately result in improved patient outcomes and quality of life.

# 4.5. Limitations

This section of the PhD thesis describes the limitations and shortcomings of the literature review, the qualitative study, and the overall research project. A comprehensive analysis of the limitations is presented in this thesis in order to provide a comprehensive understanding of the limitations of the sources and methods used during the research, as well as the limitations inherent in the study itself. As a result of acknowledging these limitations, it is possible to identify areas for future research and improvement, which will contribute to the advancement of knowledge in the field.

#### 4.5.1. Overall PhD Project Limitations

## 1. Impact of COVID-19 on the thesis-3 years PhD programme:

*Time Constraints:* The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in a significant loss of time, as several months were spent with little progress on the thesis. As a result, alongside the first year spent preparing the study proposal and working slowly on the systematic review, time constraints imposed by the three-year, non-renewable contract with Lleida University were exacerbated.

Discussion

#### 2. Systematic Review Delays:

Duplication of Research: The systematic review of the effectiveness of eHealth interventions for OSA individuals was expected to be completed by January 2023. However, the publication of similar systematic review by other authors, with approximately similar objectives, necessitated a reassessment of the systematic review. Therefore, the supervisors decided to postpone the review and consider potential modifications to the objectives.

# 3. Study Protocol Exclusion:

*Moore4Medical Project:* This PhD thesis included a study protocol for the European project called Moore4Medical. Unfortunately, the supervisors determined that incorporating the study protocol would be inappropriate for the thesis as the main focus of the project is patient education through e-health tool, resulting in its exclusion.

## 4. Educational Materials Preparation:

Integration with European Project: The PhD student developed educational materials based on the thesis findings for individuals with OSA. The educational materials were intended to be video recorded and incorporated into an eHealth platform within the aforementioned European funded project. Additionally, the student prepared paper-format education brochures for individuals with OSA based on the qualitative study's findings. As the European study protocol is not included in this thesis the presentation of the developed education materials is not feasible.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, non-renewable contract constraints, and the need to adjust the research plan, the development of this PhD thesis was limited in many ways. As a result of these challenges, the thesis' progress and direction were significantly impacted.

# 4.5.2. Literature Review Limitations

The scope of the literature review was limited by the time frame of the articles reviewed, as only articles published between 2015 and 2023 were included (10). Due to this

constraint, there may have been a limited pool of articles that may have hindered the identification of a more comprehensive understanding of the role of nurses in the management of OSA.

#### 4.5.3. Qualitative Study

The semi-structured interview study with OSA individuals provided valuable insights into the experiences, needs, and challenges. However, a few limitations should be considered when interpreting the results:

*Diversity:* The participants may not adequately represent the diversity of OSA individuals in terms of age, gender, ethnicity, and OSA severity (Moderate only).

*Cross-Sectional Design:* The cross-sectional design of this study restricts the ability to observe changes in experiences, needs, and challenges over time and to infer causality.

*Focus on Adult OSA individuals:* This study focuses on adult OSA individuals, and the findings may not apply to paediatric OSA or to other subgroups within the OSA population.

This study, despite its limitations, provides valuable insights into the experiences of OSA individuals. These insights can be used to inform the development of educational materials, clinical practices, and future research in this area.

There are several subgroups within this category, including paediatric OSA individuals, geriatric OSA individuals, pregnant OSA individuals, individuals with comorbid mental health conditions, obese OSA individuals, and individuals from multicultural backgrounds. This subpopulation of OSA individuals can be included in the scope of research in order to facilitate a more comprehensive understanding of OSA. This will facilitate the development of effective, tailored interventions and healthcare approaches suited to diverse individuals' populations.

The social determinants of health, which include socioeconomic status, access to healthcare, social support systems, and living conditions, can have a significant influence on an individual's experience with OSA and health outcomes. We focused our study on lifestyle interventions and themes associated with the Health Belief Model based on the objectives. We recognize, however, that social determinants of health also play an important role in the management of OSA which is not elaborated on in detail in this study.

It would be beneficial for future studies to consider these social determinants in detail to gain a more comprehensive understanding of OSA management and the impact it has on individuals' well-being. To develop more targeted and effective interventions that address not only lifestyle aspects but also the broader societal context in which individuals with OSA live and seek care, researchers and healthcare professionals must explore how social factors interact with OSA and its management.

#### 4.5.4. Trustworthiness

During qualitative research, trustworthiness is defined as the extent to which the research findings are credible, transferable, dependable, and reliable (305).

Several strategies were used to ensure trustworthiness, including member checking, and reflexive journaling (306). By utilizing a collaborative approach between RA, MM and FP, triangulation was enhanced, thereby enhancing the study's credibility and rigor.

Through reflexive journaling, the researchers were able to reflect on their positionality, biases, and potential influence on the research process. The interviewer (OM) is a doctoral candidate fluent in both Spanish and Catalan who was trained to minimize bias and maintain consistency throughout the interview process. In order to enhance the study's rigor, all researchers-including the interviewer-actively acknowledged and addressed potential biases, assumptions, and preconceptions during the research process.

# 4.6. Conclusion

The findings of the literature review indicate that nurses can significantly contribute to the management of OSA through a variety of crucial tasks, including screening, assessment, diagnosis, follow-up, education of patients, and coordination with other healthcare providers. These nurse-led interventions have been shown to be highly effective in promoting patient adherence to PAP therapy in both sleep units and primary care settings. The review also found that the primary care model is more cost-effective in the management of OSA patients than the sleep unit model. The results of the review highlight the significant role that nurses play in the management of OSA, as well as the importance of considering the nurse's contribution in the design and implementation of patientcentered care plans.

Ultimately, the semi-structured interviews conducted with OSA individuals have provided valuable insight into the varied experiences, challenges, and educational needs of individuals with this complex condition. As a result, crucial gaps have been identified in individuals' understanding of OSA, including its etiology, symptoms, and treatment options. The study also shed light on how the condition affects individuals' daily functioning, interpersonal relationships, and overall quality of life.

The interview data have been thoroughly analyzed, and several key areas have been identified that need to be addressed in the development of educational materials and interventions for individuals with OSA. The themes provide comprehensive information, addresses misconceptions, investigates alternative treatment options and behavioral interventions, such as weight management, promotes adaptive exercise programs, addresses interpersonal dynamics and snoring management. It is important to acknowledge that the results of our study represent a single snapshot of OSA Individuals' experiences and educational needs. Future research should explore the perspectives of diverse OSA populations in order to build upon these findings.

Overall, this study contributed to a better understanding of OSA individuals' experiences and educational needs. This paves the way for more effective and targeted educational materials and interventions.

# 4.7. Ethical Considerations

This study received approval from the Hospital Universitario Arnau de Vilanova's Institutional Review Board with approval number (CEIC-2511). Informed consent was obtained from all participants before conducting interviews, with assurances that participation was voluntary, and participants could withdraw at any time without repercussions. All data were anonymized and securely stored to ensure participants' confidentiality and privacy.



- McMillan A, Morrell MJ. Sleep disordered breathing at the extremes of age: the elderly. Breathe [Internet]. 2016 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Jan 19];12(1):50–60. Available from: https://breathe.ersjournals.com/content/12/1/50
- Malhotra A, Orr JE, Owens RL. On the cutting edge of obstructive sleep apnoea: where next? Lancet Respir Med [Internet]. 2015 May 1 [cited 2023 Jan 19];3(5):397– 403. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25887980/
- Jun JC, Chopra S, Schwartz AR. Sleep apnoea. Eur Respir Rev [Internet]. 2016 Mar 1
   [cited 2023 Jan 19];25(139):12–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26929416/
- Benjafield A V, Ayas NT, Eastwood PR, Heinzer R, Ip MSM, Morrell MJ, et al. Estimation of the global prevalence and burden of obstructive sleep apnoea: a literature-based analysis. Lancet Respir Med [Internet]. 2019 Apr;7(8):687–98. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31300334/
- Malhotra A, Heinzer R, Morrell MJ, Penzel T, Pepin JL, Valentine K, et al. Late Breaking Abstract - European prevalence of OSA in adults: Estimation using currently available data. European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2018 Sep 15 [cited 2023 Feb 9];52(suppl 62):OA4961. Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/52/suppl\_62/OA4961
- Jaiswal S, Owens R, Malhotra A. Raising awareness about sleep disorders. Lung India [Internet]. 2017 Apr;34(3):262–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28474653/
- 7. Laratta CR, Ayas NT, Povitz M, Pendharkar SR. Diagnosis and treatment of obstructive sleep apnea in adults. CMAJ [Internet]. 2017 Apr;189(48):E1481-8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29203617/
- Tarraubella N, Sánchez-De-La-Torre M, Nadal N, Batlle J De, Benítez I, Cortijo A, et al. Management of obstructive sleep apnoea in a primary care vs sleep unit setting: a randomised controlled trial. Thorax [Internet]. 2018 Apr;73(12):1152–60. Available from: https://thorax.bmj.com/content/73/12/1152

- Donovan LM, Shah A, Chai-Coetzer CL, Barbé F, Ayas NT, Kapur VK. Redesigning Care for OSA. Chest. 2020 Apr;157(4):966–76.
- Arab RA El, Sánchez-de-la-Torre M, Valenzuela-Pascual F, Rubinat-Arnaldo E, Blanco-Blanco J, Rubí-Carnacea F, et al. Nursing Professionals' Role in the Comprehensive Management of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: A Literature Review. Applied Sciences. 2023 Apr;13(6):3516.
- Feltner C, Wallace IF, Aymes S, Middleton JC, Hicks KL, Schwimmer M, et al. Screening for Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Adults: Updated Evidence Report and Systematic Review for the US Preventive Services Task Force. JAMA [Internet]. 2022 Nov 15 [cited 2023 Jan 19];328(19):1951–71. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2798400
- Berry RB, Budhiraja R, Gottlieb DJ, Gozal D, Iber C, Kapur VK, et al. Rules for Scoring Respiratory Events in Sleep: Update of the 2007 AASM Manual for the Scoring of Sleep and Associated Events. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine [Internet]. 2012 Oct 15 [cited 2023 Feb 8];8(5):597–619. Available from: https://jcsm.aasm.org/doi/10.5664/jcsm.2172
- Won CHJ. When will we ditch the AHI? Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine [Internet]. 2020 Jul 15 [cited 2023 Jan 19];16(7):1001-3. Available from: https://jcsm.aasm.org/doi/10.5664/jcsm.8594
- Sateia MJ. International classification of sleep disorders-third edition: highlights and modifications. Chest [Internet]. 2014 Nov 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];146(5):1387–94. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25367475/
- 15. Yalciner G, Babademez MA, Gul F. Association of sleep time in supine position with apnea-hypopnea index as evidenced by successive polysomnography. Sleep and Breathing. 2017 May 1;21(2):289–94.
- 16. Osman AM, Carter SG, Carberry JC, Eckert DJ. Obstructive sleep apnea: current perspectives. Nat Sci Sleep [Internet]. 2018 Jan 23 [cited 2023 Jan 20];10:21–34.

Available from: https://www.dovepress.com/obstructive-sleep-apnea-currentperspectives-peer-reviewed-fulltext-article-NSS

- Eckert DJ, White DP, Jordan AS, Malhotra A, Wellman A. Defining phenotypic causes of obstructive sleep apnea. Identification of novel therapeutic targets. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2013 Oct 15 [cited 2023 Jan 20];188(8):996–1004. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23721582/
- Eckert DJ. Phenotypic approaches to obstructive sleep apnoea New pathways for targeted therapy. Sleep Med Rev. 2018 Feb 1;37:45–59.
- 19. Kim AM, Keenan BT, Jackson N, Chan EL, Staley B, Poptani H, et al. Tongue Fat and its Relationship to Obstructive Sleep Apnea. Sleep [Internet]. 2014 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Jan 20];37(10):1639–48. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/sleep/article/37/10/1639/2416812
- Degache F, Sforza E, Dauphinot V, Celle S, Garcin A, Collet P, et al. Relation of central fat mass to obstructive sleep apnea in the elderly. Sleep. 2013 Apr 1;36(4):501–7.
- Antonaglia C, Passuti G. SLEEP BREATHING PHYSIOLOGY AND DISORDERS •
   REVIEW Obstructive sleep apnea syndrome in non-obese patients. Sleep and
   Breathing [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Jan 20];1:3. Available from:
   https://doi.org/10.1007/S11325-021-02412-1
- 22. Riha RL. Defining obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome: a failure of semantic rules.
   Breathe [Internet]. 2021 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Jan 19];17(3). Available from:
   /pmc/articles/PMC8753646/
- 23. Gottlieb DJ, Punjabi NM. Diagnosis and Management of Obstructive Sleep Apnea: A Review. JAMA [Internet]. 2020 Apr 14 [cited 2022 Feb 23];323(14):1380-400. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32286648/
- 24. Karimi M, Hedner J, Häbel H, Nerman O, Grote L. Sleep apnea-related risk of motor vehicle accidents is reduced by continuous positive airway pressure: Swedish

References

Traffic Accident Registry data. Sleep [Internet]. 2015 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Jan 20];38(3):341-9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25325460/

- Punjabi NM. The epidemiology of adult obstructive sleep apnea. Proc Am Thorac Soc. 2008 Feb;5(2):136–43.
- 26. Chowdhuri S, Quan SF, Almeida F, Ayappa I, Batool-Anwar S, Budhiraja R, et al. An Official American Thoracic Society Research Statement: Impact of Mild Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Adults. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2016 May 1 [cited 2023 Jan 24];193(9):e37–54. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27128710/
- 27. Barbé F, Durán-Cantolla J, Sánchez-De-La-Torre M, Martínez-Alonso M, Carmona C, Barceló A, et al. Effect of Continuous Positive Airway Pressure on the Incidence of Hypertension and Cardiovascular Events in Nonsleepy Patients With Obstructive Sleep Apnea: A Randomized Controlled Trial. JAMA [Internet]. 2012 May 23 [cited 2023 Jan 25];307(20):2161–8. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/1167316
- Jehan S, Masters-Isarilov A, Salifu I, Zizi F, Jean-Louis G, Pandi-Perumal SR, et al. Sleep Disorders in Postmenopausal Women. J Sleep Disord Ther [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2023 Jan 19];4(5). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4621258/
- 29. Rundo JV. Obstructive sleep apnea basics. Cleve Clin J Med [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2023 Jan 19];86. Available from: www.clevelandclinicmeded.com/online/sleep-apnea/default.asp
- 30. Young T, Skatrud J, Peppard PE. Risk Factors for Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Adults. JAMA [Internet]. 2004 Apr 28 [cited 2023 Jan 19];291(16):2013–6. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/198600
- Mansour A ben, Zaibi H, Dahri B, Ammar J ben, Baccar MA, Azzabi S, et al.
  Obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) in young and elderly patients Does age matter?
  European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2015 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Jan 23];46(suppl 59):PA2383. Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/46/suppl 59/PA2383

- 32. Pinilla L, Santamaria-Martos F, Benitez ID, Zapater A, Targa A, Mediano O, et al. Association of Obstructive Sleep Apnea with the Aging Process. Ann Am Thorac Soc [Internet]. 2021 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Jan 23];18(9):1540–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33662230/
- 33. Eikermann M, Jordan AS, Chamberlin NL, Gautam S, Wellman A, Lo YL, et al. The Influence of Aging on Pharyngeal Collapsibility During Sleep. Chest [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2023 Jan 23];131(6):1702. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2278166/
- Malhotra A, Huang Y, Fogel R, Lazic S, Pillar G, Jakab M, et al. Aging influences on pharyngeal anatomy and physiology: the predisposition to pharyngeal collapse. Am J Med [Internet]. 2006 [cited 2023 Jan 23];119(1):72.e9-72.e14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16431197/
- 35. Patil SP, Schneider H, Marx JJ, Gladmon E, Schwartz AR, Smith PL.
  Neuromechanical control of upper airway patency during sleep. J Appl Physiol (1985) [Internet]. 2007 Feb [cited 2023 Jan 23];102(2):547–56. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17008440/
- 36. Bonsignore MR, Saaresranta T, Riha RL, Riha R, Bonsignore M. Sex differences in obstructive sleep apnoea. European Respiratory Review [Internet]. 2019 Dec 31
  [cited 2023 Jan 23];28(154). Available from: https://err.ersjournals.com/content/28/154/190030
- 37. Kirkness JP, Schwartz AR, Schneider H, Punjabi NM, Maly JJ, Laffan AM, et al.
   Contribution of male sex, age, and obesity to mechanical instability of the upper airway during sleep. J Appl Physiol (1985) [Internet]. 2008 Jun [cited 2023 Jan 23];104(6):1618–24. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18420722/
- 38. Villaneuva ATC, Buchanan PR, Yee BJ, Grunstein RR. Ethnicity and obstructive sleep apnoea. Sleep Med Rev. 2005 Dec 1;9(6):419–36.
- 39. Hnin K, Mukherjee S, Antic NA, Catcheside P, Chai-Coetzer CL, McEvoy D, et al. The impact of ethnicity on the prevalence and severity of obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep Med Rev. 2018 Oct 1;41:78–86.

- 40. Sutherland K, Keenan BT, Bittencourt L, Chen N hung, Gislason T, Leinwand S, et al. A Global Comparison of Anatomic Risk Factors and Their Relationship to Obstructive Sleep Apnea Severity in Clinical Samples. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2023 Jan 23];15(4):629–39. Available from: https://jcsm.aasm.org/doi/10.5664/jcsm.7730
- Ralls FM, Grigg-Damberger M. Roles of gender, age, race/ethnicity, and residential socioeconomics in obstructive sleep apnea syndromes. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2012 Nov;18(6):568–73.
- 42. Štengl M, Hirani R, Smiley A. A Scoping Review of Sleep Apnea: Where Do We Stand? Life 2023, Vol 13, Page 387 [Internet]. 2023 Jan 31 [cited 2023 Feb 8];13(2):387. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2075-1729/13/2/387/htm
- 43. Redline S, Tishler P v., Tosteson TD, Williamson J, Kump K, Browner I, et al. The familial aggregation of obstructive sleep apnea. https://doi.org/101164/ajrccm15137881656. 2012 Dec 20;151(3 I):682-7.
- Varvarigou V, Dahabreh IJ, Malhotra A, Kales SN. A review of genetic association studies of obstructive sleep apnea: field synopsis and meta-analysis. Sleep [Internet]. 2011 Nov 1 [cited 2023 Feb 8];34(11):1461–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22043116/
- 45. Young T, Peppard PE, Taheri S. Excess weight and sleep-disordered breathing. J
  Appl Physiol (1985) [Internet]. 2005 Oct [cited 2023 Jan 24];99(4):1592–9. Available
  from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16160020/
- Schwartz AR, Patil SP, Squier S, Schneider H, Kirkness JP, Smith PL. Obesity and upper airway control during sleep. J Appl Physiol (1985) [Internet]. 2010 Feb [cited 2023 Jan 24];108(2):430-5. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19875707/
- 47. Stadler DL, McEvoy RD, Sprecher KE, Thomson KJ, Ryan MK, Thompson CC, et al. Abdominal compression increases upper airway collapsibility during sleep in obese

References

male obstructive sleep apnea patients. Sleep [Internet]. 2009 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jan 24];32(12):1579–87. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20041593/

- 48. Kumar P, Rai D, Kanwar M. Comparison of clinical and polysomnographic parameters between obese and nonobese obstructive sleep apnea. J Family Med Prim Care [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2023 Jan 20];9(8):4170. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/jfmpc/Fulltext/2020/09080/Comparison\_of\_clinical\_and \_polysomnographic.59.aspx
- 49. Simou E, Britton J, Leonardi-Bee J. Alcohol and the risk of sleep apnoea: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med [Internet]. 2018 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Feb 8];42:38. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC5840512/
- Joannidou D, Kalamaras G, Kotoulas SC, Pataka A. Smoking and Obstructive Sleep Apnea: Is There An Association between These Cardiometabolic Risk Factors?— Gender Analysis. Medicina (B Aires) [Internet]. 2021 Nov 1 [cited 2023 Feb 8];57(11). Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8621446/
- 51. Zeng X, Ren Y, Wu K, Yang Q, Zhang S, Wang D, et al. Association Between Smoking Behavior and Obstructive Sleep Apnea: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Nicotine & Tobacco Research [Internet]. 2022 Aug 4 [cited 2023 Feb 8]; Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ntr/advancearticle/doi/10.1093/ntr/ntac126/6654900
- 52. Kashyap R, Hock LM, Bowman TJ. Higher prevalence of smoking in patients diagnosed as having obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep Breath [Internet]. 2001 [cited 2023 Feb 8];5(4):167–72. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11868156/
- Bielicki P, Trojnar A, Sobieraj P. The impact of smoking status on obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) severity. European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2018 Sep 15 [cited 2023 Feb 8];52(suppl 62):PA4356. Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/52/suppl\_62/PA4356
- 54. Franklin KA, Lindberg E. Obstructive sleep apnea is a common disorder in the population-a review on the epidemiology of sleep apnea. J Thorac Dis [Internet].

2015 [cited 2023 Feb 8];7(8):1311–22. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26380759/

- Baik I, Seo HS, Yoon D, Kim SH, Shin C. Associations of Sleep Apnea, NRG1
  Polymorphisms, Alcohol Consumption, and Cerebral White Matter
  Hyperintensities: Analysis with Genome-Wide Association Data. Sleep [Internet].
  2015 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Feb 8];38(7):1137-1143C. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25325441/
- 56. Almendros I, Basoglu ÖK, Conde S v., Liguori C, Saaresranta T. Metabolic dysfunction in OSA: Is there something new under the sun? J Sleep Res [Internet].
  2022 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Feb 23];31(1):e13418. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/jsr.13418
- 57. Sánchez-de-la-Torre M, Barbé F. Sleep disorders and cardiovascular disease.
   Medicina Clínica (English Edition). 2022 Jan;158(2):73–5.
- 58. Nikodemova M, Finn L, Mignot E, Salzieder N, Peppard PE. Association of sleep disordered breathing and cognitive deficit in APOE ε4 carriers. Sleep [Internet].
  2013 Jun 1 [cited 2022 Feb 23];36(6):873–80. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23729930/
- 59. Gaeta AM, Benítez ID, Jorge C, Torres G, Dakterzada F, Minguez O, et al. Prevalence of obstructive sleep apnea in Alzheimer's disease patients. J Neurol [Internet]. 2020 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Feb 23];267(4):1012–22. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31832828/
- Jorge C, Targa A, Benítez ID, Dakterzada F, Torres G, Minguez O, et al. Obstructive sleep apnoea and cognitive decline in mild-to-moderate Alzheimer's disease. Eur Respir J [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2022 Feb 23];56(5). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32554539/
- 61. Sánchez-de-la-Torre M, Cubillos C, Veatch OJ, Garcia-Rio F, Gozal D, Martinez-Garcia MA. Potential Pathophysiological Pathways in the Complex Relationships

References

between OSA and Cancer. Cancers 2023, Vol 15, Page 1061 [Internet]. 2023 Apr;15(4):1061. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2072-6694/15/4/1061

- 62. Gupta MA, Simpson FC. Obstructive sleep apnea and psychiatric disorders: A systematic review. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine. 2015;11(2):165–75.
- 63. Basta M, Lin HM, Pejovic S, Sarrigiannidis A, Bixler EO, Vgontzas AN. Lack of Regular Exercise, Depression, and Degree of Apnea are Predictors of Excessive Daytime Sleepiness in Patients with Sleep Apnea: Sex Differences. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2008 Feb 2 [cited 2023 Feb 21];4(1):19. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2276821/
- 64. Saunamäki T, Jehkonen M. Depression and anxiety in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: a review. Acta Neurol Scand [Internet]. 2007 Nov 1 [cited 2023 Feb 21];116(5):277–88. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1600-0404.2007.00901.x
- 65. Harris M, Glozier N, Ratnavadivel R, Grunstein RR. Obstructive sleep apnea and depression. Sleep Med Rev [Internet]. 2009 Dec [cited 2023 Feb 21];13(6):437-44. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19596599/
- 66. Kellesarian S V, Malignaggi VR, Feng C, Javed F. Association between obstructive sleep apnea and erectile dysfunction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Impot Res [Internet]. 2018 Apr;30(3):129-40. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29795528/
- 67. Feng C, Yang Y, Chen L, Guo R, Liu H, Li C, et al. Prevalence and Characteristics of Erectile Dysfunction in Obstructive Sleep Apnea Patients. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) [Internet]. 2022 Apr;13:1. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8896119/
- McNicholas WT. COPD-OSA Overlap Syndrome: Evolving Evidence Regarding Epidemiology, Clinical Consequences, and Management. Chest [Internet]. 2017 Apr;152(6):1318–26. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28442310/

- McSharry D, Malhotra A. Potential influences of obstructive sleep apnea and obesity on COVID-19 severity. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2020 Sep 15 [cited 2023 Feb 4];16(9):1645. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32356516/
- 70. Pazarlı AC, Ekiz T, İlik F. Coronavirus disease 2019 and obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Sleep Breath [Internet]. 2021 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Feb 4];25(1):371. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32342265/
- Yeghiazarians Y, Jneid H, Tietjens JR, Redline S, Brown DL, El-Sherif N, et al.
  Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Cardiovascular Disease: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation [Internet]. 2021 Jul 20 [cited 2023 Jan 21];144(3):E56–67. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1161/CIR.00000000000088
- Tietjens JR, Claman D, Kezirian EJ, de Marco T, Mirzayan A, Sadroonri B, et al. Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Cardiovascular Disease: A Review of the Literature and Proposed Multidisciplinary Clinical Management Strategy. J Am Heart Assoc [Internet]. 2019 Jan 8 [cited 2023 Jan 27];8(1). Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1161/JAHA.118.010440
- 73. Logan AG, Perlikowski SM, Mente A, Tisler A, Tkacova R, Niroumand M, et al. High prevalence of unrecognized sleep apnoea in drug-resistant hypertension. J
  Hypertens [Internet]. 2001 [cited 2023 Jan 27];19(12):2271–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11725173/
- 74. Dong JY, Zhang YH, Qin LQ. Obstructive sleep apnea and cardiovascular risk:
  Meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Atherosclerosis. 2013 Aug 1;229(2):489–95.
- 75. SHAHAR E, WHITNEY CW, REDLINE S, LEE ET, NEWMAN AB, JAVIER NIETO F, et al. Sleep-disordered breathing and cardiovascular disease: cross-sectional results of the Sleep Heart Health Study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2001 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Jan 27];163(1):19–25. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11208620/

- Quan SF, Howard B v., Iber C, Kiley JP, Nieto FJ, O'Connor GT, et al. The Sleep Heart Health Study: Design, Rationale, and Methods. Sleep [Internet]. 1997 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jan 27];20(12):1077–85. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/sleep/article/20/12/1077/2749934
- 77. Marin JM, Carrizo SJ, Vicente E, Agusti AG. Long-term cardiovascular outcomes in men with obstructive sleep apnoea-hypopnoea with or without treatment with continuous positive airway pressure: an observational study. The Lancet. 2005 Mar;365(9464):1046–53.
- 78. Sánchez-de-la-Torre M, Sánchez-de-la-Torre A, Bertran S, Abad J, Duran-Cantolla J, Cabriada V, et al. Effect of obstructive sleep apnoea and its treatment with continuous positive airway pressure on the prevalence of cardiovascular events in patients with acute coronary syndrome (ISAACC study): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Respir Med [Internet]. 2020 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Apr 30];8(4):359–67. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31839558/
- 79. Peker Y, Glantz H, Eulenburg C, Wegscheider K, Herlitz J, Thunström E. Effect of positive airway pressure on cardiovascular outcomes in coronary artery disease patients with nonsleepy obstructive sleep apnea: The RICCADSA randomized controlled trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2016 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Apr 30];194(5):613–20. Available from: www.clinicaltrials.gov
- 80. Chai-Coetzer CL, Luo YM, Antic NA, Zhang XL, Chen BY, He QY, et al. Predictors of long-term adherence to continuous positive airway pressure therapy in patients with obstructive sleep apnea and cardiovascular disease in the SAVE study. Sleep. 2013 Apr;36(12):1929-37.
- Zapater A, Sánchez-De-La-Torre M, Benítez ID, Targa A, Bertran S, Torres G, et al. The Effect of Sleep Apnea on Cardiovascular Events in Different Acute Coronary Syndrome Phenotypes. https://doi.org/101164/rccm202004-1127OC [Internet]. 2020 Dec 15 [cited 2023 Apr 30];202(12):1698–706. Available from: www.atsjournals.org.

References

- 82. Li M, Li X, Lu Y. Obstructive Sleep Apnea Syndrome and Metabolic Diseases.
  Endocrinology [Internet]. 2018 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Jan 31];159(7):2670-5. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/endo/article/159/7/2670/4998994
- 83. Ryan S, Cummins EP, Farre R, Gileles-Hillel A, Jun JC, Oster H, et al. Understanding the pathophysiological mechanisms of cardiometabolic complications in obstructive sleep apnoea: towards personalised treatment approaches. European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2020 Aug 1 [cited 2023 Jan 31];56(2). Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/56/2/1902295
- 84. Bonsignore MR, Esquinas C, Barcelo A, Sanchez-de-la-Torre M, Paternó A, Duran-Cantolla J, et al. Metabolic syndrome, insulin resistance and sleepiness in real-life obstructive sleep apnoea. European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2012 May 1 [cited 2023 Jan 31];39(5):1136–43. Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/39/5/1136
- Muraki I, Wada H, Tanigawa T. Sleep apnea and type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Investig
   [Internet]. 2018 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Jan 31];9(5):991. Available from:
   /pmc/articles/PMC6123041/
- 86. Wang F, Xiong X, Xu H, Huang H, Shi Y, Li X, et al. The association between obstructive sleep apnea syndrome and metabolic syndrome: a confirmatory factor analysis. Sleep Breath [Internet]. 2019 Apr;23(3):1011–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30820851/
- Xu PH, Hui CKM, Lui MMS, Lam DCL, Fong DYT, Ip MSM. Incident Type 2 Diabetes in OSA and Effect of CPAP Treatment: A Retrospective Clinic Cohort Study. Chest [Internet]. 2019 Apr;156(4):743–53. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31128116/
- Reutrakul S, Mokhlesi B. Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Diabetes: A State of the Art Review. Chest. 2017 Nov 1;152(5):1070–86.
- 89. Montesi L, Mazzotti A, Moscatiello S, Forlani G, Marchesini G. Insulin resistance: mechanism and implications for carcinogenesis and hepatocellular carcinoma in

NASH. Hepatol Int [Internet]. 2013 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jan 31];7 Suppl 2(2):S814-22. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26202296/

- 90. Bonsignore MR, Borel AL, Machan E, Grunstein R. Sleep apnoea and metabolic dysfunction. Eur Respir Rev [Internet]. 2013 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Jan 31];22(129):353-64. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23997062/
- 91. Butcher JN. Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory. The Corsini Encyclopedia of Psychology [Internet]. 2010 Jan 30 [cited 2023 Feb 21];1–3. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/9780470479216.corpsy0573
- 92. Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J. An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry [Internet]. 1961 [cited 2023 Feb 21];4(6):561-71.
   Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/13688369/
- 93. Ohayon MM. The effects of breathing-related sleep disorders on mood disturbances in the general population. J Clin Psychiatry [Internet]. 2003 Oct 15 [cited 2023 Feb 21];64(10):1195–200. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/14658968/
- 94. Bixler E, Gaines J, Respiratory AVE, 2017 undefined. Obstructive sleep apnoea and depression: is there an association? Eur Respiratory Soc [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2023 Feb 21]; Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/49/6/1700858.short
- 95. Kendzerska T, Gershon AS, Hawker GA, Tomlinson GA, Leung RS. Obstructive sleep apnoea is not a risk factor for incident hospitalised depression: a historical cohort study. Eur Respiratory Soc [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2023 Feb 21];49:1601361. Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/49/6/1601361.short
- 96. Feng C, Yang Y, Chen L, Guo R, Liu H, Li C, et al. Prevalence and Characteristics of Erectile Dysfunction in Obstructive Sleep Apnea Patients. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) [Internet]. 2022 Feb 18 [cited 2023 Feb 21];13:1. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8896119/
- 97. Kellesarian S v., Malignaggi VR, Feng C, Javed F. Association between obstructive sleep apnea and erectile dysfunction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J

Impot Res [Internet]. 2018 Jun 1 [cited 2023 Feb 21];30(3):129–40. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29795528/

- 98. Chen KF, Liang SJ, Lin CL, Liao WC, Kao CH. Sleep disorders increase risk of subsequent erectile dysfunction in individuals without sleep apnea: a nationwide population-base cohort study. Sleep Med [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2023 Feb 21];17:64–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26847976/
- 99. Smith S, Sullivan K, Hopkins W, Douglas J. Frequency of insomnia report in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea hypopnea syndrome (OSAHS). Sleep Med [Internet]. 2004 Sep [cited 2023 Feb 21];5(5):449–56. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15341889/
- Hoyos CM, Melehan KL, Phillips CL, Grunstein RR, Liu PY. To ED or not to ED--is erectile dysfunction in obstructive sleep apnea related to endothelial dysfunction? Sleep Med Rev [Internet]. 2015 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Feb 21];20:5–14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24813467/
- Macrea MM, Martin TJ, Zagrean L. Infertility and obstructive sleep apnea: the effect of continuous positive airway pressure therapy on serum prolactin levels. Sleep Breath [Internet]. 2010 Sep [cited 2023 Feb 21];14(3):253-7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20563862/
- Luboshitzky R, Aviv A, Hefetz A, Herer P, Shen-Orr Z, Lavie L, et al. Decreased pituitary-gonadal secretion in men with obstructive sleep apnea. J Clin Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2023 Feb 21];87(7):3394–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12107256/
- 103. Pitteloud N, Dwyer AA, DeCruz S, Lee H, Boepple PA, Crowley WF, et al. The relative role of gonadal sex steroids and gonadotropin-releasing hormone pulse frequency in the regulation of follicle-stimulating hormone secretion in men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2023 Feb 21];93(7):2686–92. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18445673/

- 104. Vogelmeier CF, Criner GJ, Martinez FJ, Anzueto A, Barnes PJ, Bourbeau J, et al. Global Strategy for the Diagnosis, Management, and Prevention of Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease 2017 Report. GOLD Executive Summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2017 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Jan 30];195(5):557–82. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28128970/
- 105. World Health Organization. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)
   [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Jan 30]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/chronic-obstructive-pulmonary-disease-(copd)
- 106. Singh D, Agusti A, Anzueto A, Barnes PJ, Bourbeau J, Celli BR, et al. Global Strategy for the Diagnosis, Management, and Prevention of Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease: the GOLD science committee report 2019. Eur Respir J [Internet]. 2019 May 1 [cited 2023 May 2];53(5). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30846476/
- 107. Zhang P, Chen B, Lou H, Zhu Y, Chen P, Dong Z, et al. Predictors and outcomes of obstructive sleep apnea in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in China. BMC Pulm Med [Internet]. 2022 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jan 30];22(1):1–11. Available from: https://bmcpulmmed.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12890-021-01780-4
- McNicholas WT. COPD-OSA Overlap Syndrome: Evolving Evidence Regarding Epidemiology, Clinical Consequences, and Management. Chest [Internet]. 2017 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jan 30];152(6):1318–26. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28442310/
- Weitzenblum E, Chaouat A, Kessler R, Canuet M. Overlap syndrome: obstructive sleep apnea in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc [Internet]. 2008 Feb [cited 2023 Jan 30];5(2):237-41. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18250217/
- 110. Malhotra A, Schwartz AR, Schneider H, Owens RL, DeYoung P, Han MLK, et al. Research Priorities in Pathophysiology for Sleep-disordered Breathing in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. An Official American Thoracic Society Research Statement. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2018 Feb 1 [cited

2023 Jan 30];197(3):289-99. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29388824/

- Brennan M, McDonnell MJ, Walsh SM, Gargoum F, Rutherford R. Review of the prevalence, pathogenesis and management of OSA-COPD overlap. Sleep and Breathing [Internet]. 2022 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jan 30];26(4):1551-60. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11325-021-02540-8
- Naranjo M, Willes L, Prillaman BA, Quan SF, Sharma S. Undiagnosed OSA May Significantly Affect Outcomes in Adults Admitted for COPD in an Inner-City Hospital. Chest [Internet]. 2020 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Jan 30];158(3):1198–207. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32247716/
- Li X, Cao X, Guo M, Xie M, Liu X. Trends and risk factors of mortality and disability adjusted life years for chronic respiratory diseases from 1990 to 2017: systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. BMJ [Internet]. 2020 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Jan 30];368. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32075787/
- 114. Du W, Liu J, Zhou J, Ye D, OuYang Y, Deng Q. Obstructive sleep apnea, COPD, the overlap syndrome, and mortality: results from the 2005–2008 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis [Internet]. 2018 Feb 27 [cited 2023 Jan 30];13:665–74. Available from: https://www.dovepress.com/obstructive-sleep-apnea-copd-the-overlap-syndrome-and-mortality-result-peer-reviewed-fulltext-article-COPD
- Beebe DW, Groesz L, Wells C, Nichols A, McGee K. The neuropsychological effects of obstructive sleep apnea: a meta-analysis of norm-referenced and case-controlled data. Sleep [Internet]. 2003 May 1 [cited 2023 Feb 1];26(3):298–307. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12749549/
- 116. Verstraeten E, Cluydts R. Executive control of attention in sleep apnea patients: Theoretical concepts and methodological considerations. Sleep Med Rev. 2004;8(4):257–67.

- Naëgelé B, Launois SH, Mazza S, Feuerstein C, Pépin JL, Lévy P. Which memory processes are affected in patients with obstructive sleep apnea? An evaluation of 3 types of memory. Sleep [Internet]. 2006 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Feb 1];29(4):533-44. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16676787/
- Findley LJ, Barth JT, Powers DC, Wilhoit SC, Boyd DG, Suratt PM. Cognitive impairment in patients with obstructive sleep apnea and associated hypoxemia. Chest [Internet]. 1986 [cited 2023 Feb 1];90(5):686–90. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/3769569/
- II9. Greenberg GD, Watson RK, Deptula D. Neuropsychological dysfunction in sleep apnea. Sleep [Internet]. 1987 [cited 2023 Feb 1];10(3):254–62. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/3629088/
- 120. Lal C, Varga AW, Ayappa I, Ayas N, Beaudin AE, Hoyos C, et al. The Link between Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Neurocognitive Impairment: An Official American Thoracic Society Workshop Report. https://doi.org/101513/AnnalsATS202205-380ST. 2022 Aug 1;19(8):1245–56.
- 121. Leng Y, McEvoy CT, Allen IE, Yaffe K. Association of Sleep-Disordered Breathing With Cognitive Function and Risk of Cognitive Impairment: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Neurol [Internet]. 2017 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Feb 1];74(10):1237–45. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28846764/
- 122. Emamian F, Khazaie H, Tahmasian M, Leschziner GD, Morrell MJ, Hsiung GYR, et al. The association between obstructive sleep apnea and Alzheimer's disease: A meta-analysis perspective. Front Aging Neurosci. 2016 Apr 12;8(APR):78.
- 123. Quan SF, Chan CS, Dement WC, Gevins A, Goodwin JL, Gottlieb DJ, et al. The association between obstructive sleep apnea and neurocognitive performance--the Apnea Positive Pressure Long-term Efficacy Study (APPLES). Sleep [Internet]. 2011 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Feb 1];34(3). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21358847/

- 124. Sforza E, Roche F, Thomas-Anterion C, Kerleroux J, Beauchet O, Celle S, et al. Cognitive function and sleep related breathing disorders in a healthy elderly population: the SYNAPSE study. Sleep [Internet]. 2010 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Feb 1];33(4):515–21. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20394321/
- Tsai MS, Li HY, Huang CG, Wang RYL, Chuang LP, Chen NH, et al. Risk of Alzheimer's Disease in Obstructive Sleep Apnea Patients With or Without Treatment: Real-World Evidence. Laryngoscope [Internet]. 2020 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Feb 1];130(9):2292–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32045010/
- Brenner R, Kivity S, Peker M, Reinhorn D, Keinan-Boker L, Silverman B, et al.
  Increased Risk for Cancer in Young Patients with Severe Obstructive Sleep Apnea.
  Respiration [Internet]. 2019 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Feb 2];97(1):15–23. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30419556/
- 127. Campos-Rodriguez F, Martinez-Garcia MA, Martinez M, Duran-Cantolla J, de La Penã M, Masdeu MJ, et al. Association between obstructive sleep apnea and cancer incidence in a large multicenter Spanish cohort. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2013 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Feb 2];187(1):99–105. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23155146/
- 128. Cao Y, Ning P, Li Q, Wu S. Cancer and obstructive sleep apnea: An updated metaanalysis. Medicine [Internet]. 2022 Mar 3 [cited 2023 Feb 3];101(10):E28930. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8913079/
- Gozal D, Ham SA, Mokhlesi B. Sleep Apnea and Cancer: Analysis of a Nationwide Population Sample. Sleep [Internet]. 2016 Aug 1 [cited 2023 Feb 2];39(8):1493–500. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27166241/
- 130. Kendzerska T, Leung RS, Hawker G, Tomlinson G, Gershon AS. Obstructive sleep apnea and the prevalence and incidence of cancer. CMAJ [Internet]. 2014 Sep 16 [cited 2023 Feb 2];186(13):985–92. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25096668/

- 131. Sillah A, Watson NF, Gozal D, Phipps AI. Obstructive sleep apnea severity and subsequent risk for cancer incidence. Prev Med Rep [Internet]. 2019 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Feb 4];15:100886. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6525275/
- 132. Cheng L, Guo H, Zhang Z, Yao Y, Yao Q. Obstructive sleep apnea and incidence of malignant tumors: a meta-analysis. Sleep Med [Internet]. 2021 Aug 1 [cited 2023 Feb 2];84:195–204. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34166986/
- 133. Cheng H, Li D. Investigation into the association between obstructive sleep apnea and incidence of all-type cancers: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Feb 2];88:274–81. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34219029/
- Bernhardt L, Brady EM, Freeman SC, Polmann H, Réus JC, Flores-Mir C, et al.
  Diagnostic accuracy of screening questionnaires for obstructive sleep apnoea in adults in different clinical cohorts: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep and Breathing [Internet]. 2022 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];26(3):1053–78. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11325-021-02450-9
- 135. Johns MW. A new method for measuring daytime sleepiness: The Epworth sleepiness scale. Sleep. 1991;14(6):540–5.
- Johns MW. Sensitivity and specificity of the multiple sleep latency test (MSLT), the maintenance of wakefulness test and the epworth sleepiness scale: failure of the MSLT as a gold standard. J Sleep Res [Internet]. 2000 [cited 2023 Jan 19];9(1):5-11. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10733683/
- 137. Kendzerska TB, Smith PM, Brignardello-Petersen R, Leung RS, Tomlinson GA.
  Evaluation of the measurement properties of the Epworth sleepiness scale: a systematic review. Sleep Med Rev [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2023 Jan 19];18(4):321–31.
  Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24135493/
- 138. Heinzer R, Vat S, Marques-Vidal P, Marti-Soler H, Andries D, Tobback N, et al.Prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in the general population: the HypnoLaus

study. Lancet Respir Med [Internet]. 2015 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];3(4):310-8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25682233/

- 139. Hamilton GS, Chai-Coetzer CL. Update on the assessment and investigation of adult obstructive sleep apnoea. Aust J Gen Pract. 2019 Apr 1;48(4):176–81.
- Netzer NC, Stoohs RA, Netzer CM, Clark K, Strohl KP. Using the Berlin Questionnaire to identify patients at risk for the sleep apnea syndrome. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 1999 Oct 5 [cited 2023 Jan 20];131(7):485-91. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10507956/
- 141. Hrubos-Strøm H, Randby A, Namtvedt SK, Kristiansen HA, Einvik G, Benth J, et al. A Norwegian population-based study on the risk and prevalence of obstructive sleep apnea. The Akershus Sleep Apnea Project (ASAP). J Sleep Res [Internet]. 2011 Mar [cited 2023 Jan 20];20(1 Pt 2):162–70. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20561172/
- 142. Edmonds PJ, Gunasekaran K, Edmonds LC. Neck Grasp Predicts Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Sleep Disord [Internet]. 2019 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];2019:1–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31355009/
- 143. Hwang M, Zhang K, Nagappa M, Saripella A, Englesakis M, Chung F. Validation of the STOP-Bang questionnaire as a screening tool for obstructive sleep apnoea in patients with cardiovascular risk factors: a systematic review and meta-analysis.
  BMJ Open Respir Res [Internet]. 2021 Mar 4 [cited 2023 Jan 21];8(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33664122/
- 144. Chung F, Yegneswaran B, Liao P, Chung SA, Vairavanathan S, Islam S, et al. STOP questionnaire: a tool to screen patients for obstructive sleep apnea. Anesthesiology [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2023 Jan 21];108(5):812–21. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18431116/
- 145. The Official STOP-Bang Questionnaire Website [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jan 21].Available from: http://www.stopbang.ca/osa/screening.php

- 146. Chung F, Subramanyam R, Liao P, Sasaki E, Shapiro C, Sun Y. High STOP-Bang score indicates a high probability of obstructive sleep apnoea. Br J Anaesth [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2023 Jan 21];108(5):768–75. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22401881/
- 147. Shin C, Baik I. Evaluation of a Modified STOP-BANG Questionnaire for Sleep Apnea in Adults from the Korean General Population. Sleep Med Res [Internet].
  2021 [cited 2023 Jan 21];12(1):28–35. Available from: http://sleepmedres.org/journal/view.php?number=172
- 148. Jorge C, Benítez I, Torres G, Dakterzada F, Minguez O, Huerto R, et al. The STOP-Bang and Berlin questionnaires to identify obstructive sleep apnoea in Alzheimer's disease patients. Sleep Med [Internet]. 2019 May 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];57:15–20. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30897451/
- 149. Chiu HY, Chen PY, Chuang LP, Chen NH, Tu YK, Hsieh YJ, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of the Berlin questionnaire, STOP-BANG, STOP, and Epworth sleepiness scale in detecting obstructive sleep apnea: A bivariate meta-analysis. Sleep Med Rev [Internet]. 2017 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];36:57–70. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27919588/
- 150. Goyal M, Johnson J. Obstructive Sleep Apnea Diagnosis and Management. Mo Med [Internet]. 2017 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];114(2):120. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6140019/
- 151. Veasey SC, Rosen IM. Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Adults. New England Journal of Medicine [Internet]. 2019 Apr 11 [cited 2023 Jan 21];380(15):1442-9. Available from: https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMcp1816152
- 152. Kendzerska T, Gershon AS, Hawker G, Leung RS, Tomlinson G. Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Risk of Cardiovascular Events and All-Cause Mortality: A Decade-Long Historical Cohort Study. PLoS Med. 2014;11(2).
- 153. Tkacova R, McNicholas WT, Javorsky M, Fietze I, Sliwinski P, Parati G, et al. Nocturnal intermittent hypoxia predicts prevalent hypertension in the European

Sleep Apnoea Database cohort study. Eur Respir J [Internet]. 2014 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];44(4):931-41. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25102963/

- 154. Choi JW, Song JS, Lee YJ, Jeong DU. Periodic Limb Movements in Sleep is Associated with Increased Mortality. Psychiatry Investig [Internet]. 2017 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];14(5):669–73. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29042893/
- 155. de Ruiter MHT, Benoist LBL, de Vries N, de Lange J. Durability of treatment effects of the Sleep Position Trainer versus oral appliance therapy in positional OSA: 12-month follow-up of a randomized controlled trial. Sleep Breath [Internet]. 2018 May 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];22(2):441–50. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28913630/
- 156. An JY, Shin HJ, Yang M, Park DY, Yang J, Kim HJ. Non-contact diagnosis of sleep breathing disorders using infrared optical gas imaging: a prospective observational study. Scientific Reports 2022 12:1 [Internet]. 2022 Dec 6 [cited 2023 Jan 21];12(1):1–11. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-022-25637-w
- 157. Zambotti M de, Cellini N, ... AGM and science, 2019 undefined. Wearable sleep technology in clinical and research settings. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2023 Jan 21]; Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6579636/
- 158. Kapur VK, Auckley DH, Chowdhuri S, Kuhlmann DC, Mehra R, Ramar K, et al. Clinical Practice Guideline for Diagnostic Testing for Adult Obstructive Sleep Apnea: An American Academy of Sleep Medicine Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2023 Jan 21];13(3):479–504. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28162150/
- 159. Collop NA, Anderson WMD, Boehlecke B, Claman D, Goldberg R, Gottlieb DJ, et al. Clinical Guidelines for the Use of Unattended Portable Monitors in the Diagnosis of Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Adult Patients. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2007 Dec 12 [cited 2023 Jan 21];3(7):737. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2556918/
- 160. Collop NA, Tracy SL, Kapur V, Mehra R, Kuhlmann D, Fleishman SA, et al.
   Obstructive sleep apnea devices for out-of-center (OOC) testing: technology
   evaluation. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2011 Oct 15 [cited 2023 Jan 21];7(5):531–48.
   Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22003351/
- Ioachimescu OC, Dholakia SA, Venkateshiah SB, Fields B, Samarghandi A, Anand N, et al. Improving the performance of peripheral arterial tonometry-based testing for the diagnosis of obstructive sleep apnea. Journal of Investigative Medicine [Internet]. 2020 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];68(8):1370–8. Available from: https://jim.bmj.com/content/68/8/1370
- 162. Rosen IM, Kirsch DB, Carden KA, Malhotra RK, Ramar K, Aurora RN, et al. Clinical Use of a Home Sleep Apnea Test: An Updated American Academy of Sleep Medicine Position Statement. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2018 Dec 15 [cited 2023 May 2];14(12):2075. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6287732/
- Borsoi L, Armeni P, Donin G, Costa F, Ferini-Strambi L. The invisible costs of obstructive sleep apnea (OSA): Systematic review and cost-of-illness analysis. PLoS One [Internet]. 2022 May 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];17(5):e0268677. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0268677
- 164. Randerath W, de Lange J, Hedner J, Ho JPTF, Marklund M, Schiza S, et al. Current and novel treatment options for obstructive sleep apnoea. ERJ Open Res [Internet].
  2022 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Jan 24];8(2). Available from: https://openres.ersjournals.com/content/8/2/00126-2022
- 165. Lim DC, Sutherland K, Cistulli PA, Pack AI. P4 medicine approach to obstructive sleep apnoea. Respirology [Internet]. 2017 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Jan 24];22(5):849-60. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/resp.13063
- 166. Lee-Iannotti JK, Parish JM. Exercise as a treatment for sleep apnea. Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine [Internet]. 2020 Jul 15 [cited 2023 Jan 25];16(7):1005-6. Available from: https://jcsm.aasm.org/doi/10.5664/jcsm.8582

- 167. Qaseem A, Holty JEC, Owens DK, Dallas P, Starkey M, Shekelle P. Management of obstructive sleep apnea in adults: A clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2023 Jan 24];159(7):471–83. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24061345/
- 168. Mysliwiec V, Martin JL, Ulmer CS, Chowdhuri S, Brock MS, Spevak C, et al. The Management of Chronic Insomnia Disorder and Obstructive Sleep Apnea: Synopsis of the 2019 U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs and U.S. Department of Defense Clinical Practice Guidelines. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2020 Mar 3 [cited 2023 Jan 24];172(5):325–36. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32066145/
- Patil SP, Ayappa IA, Caples SM, John Kimoff R, Patel SR, Harrod CG. Treatment of Adult Obstructive Sleep Apnea with Positive Airway Pressure: An American Academy of Sleep Medicine Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet].
  2019 [cited 2023 Jan 24];15(2):335–43. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30736887/
- 170. Phillips CL, Grunstein RR, Darendeliler MA, Mihailidou AS, Srinivasan VK, Yee BJ, et al. Health outcomes of continuous positive airway pressure versus oral appliance treatment for obstructive sleep apnea: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2013 Apr 15 [cited 2023 Jan 24];187(8):879–87. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23413266/
- 171. Epstein LJ, Kristo D, Strollo PJ, Friedman N, Malhotra A, Patil SP, et al. Clinical Guideline for the Evaluation, Management and Long-term Care of Obstructive Sleep Apnea in Adults. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2009 Jun 6 [cited 2023 Feb 8];5(3):263. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC2699173/
- 172. Carneiro-Barrera A, Díaz-Román A, Guillén-Riquelme A, Buela-Casal G. Weight loss and lifestyle interventions for obstructive sleep apnoea in adults: Systematic review and meta-analysis. 2019 [cited 2023 Jan 24]; Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/obr.12824
- 173. Hudgel DW, Patel SR, Ahasic AM, Bartlett SJ, Bessesen DH, Coaker MA, et al. The Role of Weight Management in the Treatment of Adult Obstructive Sleep Apnea.

An Official American Thoracic Society Clinical Practice Guideline. https://doi.org/101164/rccm201807-1326ST [Internet]. 2018 Sep 14 [cited 2023 Jan 24];198(6):e70–87. Available from: http://www.atsjournals.org/doi/suppl/10.1164/rccm.201807-1326ST.

- Schwartz AR, Gold AR, Schubert N, Stryzak A, Wise RA, Permutt S, et al. Effect of weight loss on upper airway collapsibility in obstructive sleep apnea. Am Rev Respir Dis [Internet]. 1991 [cited 2023 Jan 24];144(3 Pt 1):494–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/1892285/
- 175. Bassetti CLA, Randerath W, Vignatelli L, Ferini-Strambi L, Brill AK, Bonsignore MR, et al. EAN/ERS/ESO/ESRS statement on the impact of sleep disorders on risk and outcome of stroke. European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2020 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Jan 24];55(4):24. Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/55/4/1901104
- 176. Strobel RJ, Rosen RC. Obesity and weight loss in obstructive sleep apnea: a critical review. Sleep [Internet]. 1996 [cited 2023 Jan 24];19(2):104–15. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8855032/
- 177. Kuna ST, Reboussin DM, Strotmeyer ES, Millman RP, Zammit G, Walkup MP, et al. Effects of Weight Loss on Obstructive Sleep Apnea Severity. Ten-Year Results of the Sleep AHEAD Study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2021 Jan 15 [cited 2023 Jan 25];203(2):221–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32721163/
- Mechanick JI, Kushner RF, Sugerman HJ, Gonzalez-Campoy JM, Collazo-Clavell ML, Spitz AF, et al. AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF CLINICAL ENDOCRINOLOGISTS, THE OBESITY SOCIETY, AND AMERICAN SOCIETY FOR METABOLIC & BARIATRIC SURGERY MEDICAL GUIDELINES FOR CLINICAL PRACTICE FOR THE PERIOPERATIVE NUTRITIONAL, METABOLIC, AND NONSURGICAL SUPPORT OF THE BARIATRIC SURGERY PATIENT. Obesity [Internet]. 2009 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Jan 25];17(S1):S3–72. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1038/oby.2009.28

- 179. Dixon JB, O'Brien PE, Playfair J, Chapman L, Schachter LM, Skinner S, et al. Adjustable Gastric Banding and Conventional Therapy for Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Controlled Trial. JAMA [Internet]. 2008 Jan 23 [cited 2023 Jan 25];299(3):316–23. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/1149302
- 180. Sjöström L, Narbro K, Sjöström CD, Karason K, Larsson B, Wedel H, et al. Effects of Bariatric Surgery on Mortality in Swedish Obese Subjects. New England Journal of Medicine [Internet]. 2007 Aug 23 [cited 2023 Jan 25];357(8):741–52. Available from: https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJM0a066254
- 181. Nastałek P, Polok K, Celejewska-Wójcik N, Kania A, Sładek K, Małczak P, et al. Impact of bariatric surgery on obstructive sleep apnea severity and continuous positive airway pressure therapy compliance—prospective observational study. Scientific Reports 2021 11:1 [Internet]. 2021 Mar 2 [cited 2023 Jan 25];11(1):1–10. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-021-84570-6
- 182. Greenburg DL, Lettieri CJ, Eliasson AH. Effects of Surgical Weight Loss on Measures of Obstructive Sleep Apnea: A Meta-Analysis. Am J Med. 2009 Jun 1;122(6):535–42.
- 183. Blackman A, Foster GD, Zammit G, Rosenberg R, Aronne L, Wadden T, et al. Effect of liraglutide 3.0 mg in individuals with obesity and moderate or severe obstructive sleep apnea: the SCALE Sleep Apnea randomized clinical trial. Int J Obes (Lond) [Internet]. 2016 Aug 1 [cited 2023 Feb 6];40(8):1310–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27005405/
- 184. Winslow DH, Bowden CH, DiDonato KP, McCullough PA. A randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of an oral, extended-release formulation of phentermine/topiramate for the treatment of obstructive sleep apnea in obese adults. Sleep [Internet]. 2012 Nov 1 [cited 2023 Feb 6];35(11):1529–39. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23115402/
- 185. Carberry JC, Amatoury J, Eckert DJ. Personalized Management Approach for OSA. Chest. 2018 Mar 1;153(3):744–55.

- 186. Hall KA, Singh MM, Mukherjee S, Palmer LJ. Physical activity is associated with reduced prevalence of self-reported obstructive sleep apnea in a large, general population cohort study. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2020 Jul 15 [cited 2023 Jan 25];16(7):1179–87. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32248899/
- 187. Pedersen BK, Saltin B. Exercise as medicine evidence for prescribing exercise as therapy in 26 different chronic diseases. Scand J Med Sci Sports [Internet]. 2015 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Jan 25];25:1–72. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/sms.12581
- 188. Aiello KD, Caughey WG, Nelluri B, Sharma A, Mookadam F, Mookadam M. Effect of exercise training on sleep apnea: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Respir Med. 2016 Jul 1;116:85–92.
- 189. Myers J, Kaykha A, George S, Abella J, Zaheer N, Lear S, et al. Fitness versus physical activity patterns in predicting mortality in men. Am J Med [Internet]. 2004 Dec 15 [cited 2023 Jan 26];117(12):912–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15629729/
- 190. Dobrosielski DA, Papandreou C, Patil SP, Salas-Salvadó J. Diet and exercise in the management of obstructive sleep apnoea and cardiovascular disease risk. European Respiratory Review [Internet]. 2017 Jun 30 [cited 2023 Jan 26];26(144). Available from: https://err.ersjournals.com/content/26/144/160110
- Berger M, Barthélémy JC, Hupin D, Raffin J, Dupré C, Labeix P, et al. Benefits of supervised community physical activity in obstructive sleep apnoea. European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2018 Nov 1 [cited 2023 Feb 3];52(5). Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/52/5/1801592
- 192. Edwards BA, Bristow C, O'Driscoll DM, Wong AM, Ghazi L, Davidson ZE, et al. Assessing the impact of diet, exercise and the combination of the two as a treatment for OSA: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Respirology [Internet].
  2019 Aug 1 [cited 2023 Jan 25];24(8):740-51. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/resp.13580

- Mônico-Neto M, Moreira Antunes HK, Thomatieli Dos Santos RV, D'Almeida V, Lino De Souza AA, Azeredo Bittencourt LR, et al. Physical activity as a moderator for obstructive sleep apnoea and cardiometabolic risk in the EPISONO study. European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2018 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Jan 26];52(4):1701972. Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/52/4/1701972
- Hong S, Dimsdale JE. Physical activity and perception of energy and fatigue in obstructive sleep apnea. Med Sci Sports Exerc [Internet]. 2003 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Jan 26];35(7):1088–92. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12840627/
- Yu J, Zhou Z, McEvoy RD, Anderson CS, Rodgers A, Perkovic V, et al. Association of Positive Airway Pressure With Cardiovascular Events and Death in Adults With Sleep Apnea: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA [Internet]. 2017 Jul 11 [cited 2023 Jan 25];318(2):156–66. Available from: https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2643307
- 196. Labarca G, Dreyse J, Drake L, Jorquera J, Barbe F. Efficacy of continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) in the prevention of cardiovascular events in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med Rev. 2020 Aug 1;52:101312.
- 197. Kernan WN, Ovbiagele B, Black HR, Bravata DM, Chimowitz MI, Ezekowitz MD, et al. Guidelines for the prevention of stroke in patients with stroke and transient ischemic attack: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2023 Jan 25];45(7):2160–236. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24788967/
- 198. Bouloukaki I, Giannadaki K, Mermigkis C, Tzanakis N, Mauroudi E, Moniaki V, et al. Intensive versus standard follow-up to improve continuous positive airway pressure compliance. European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2014 Nov 1 [cited 2023 Jan 26];44(5):1262–74. Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/44/5/1262
- 199. Labarca G, Schmidt A, Dreyse J, Jorquera J, Barbe F. Telemedicine interventions for CPAP adherence in obstructive sleep apnea patients: Systematic review and meta-

analysis. Sleep Med Rev [Internet]. 2021 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Feb 13];60. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34537668/

- 200. Lebret M, Martinot JB, Arnol N, Zerillo D, Tamisier R, Pepin JL, et al. Factors Contributing to Unintentional Leak During CPAP Treatment: A Systematic Review. Chest [Internet]. 2017 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Feb 6];151(3):707–19. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27986462/
- 201. Baltzan MA, Elkholi O, Wolkove N. Evidence of interrelated side effects with reduced compliance in patients treated with nasal continuous positive airway pressure. Sleep Med [Internet]. 2009 Feb [cited 2023 Feb 6];10(2):198–205. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18314388/
- 202. Bonten MJM, Bergmans DCJJ, Ambergen AW, de Leeuw PW, van der Geest S,
   Stobberingh EE, et al. Risk factors for pneumonia, and colonization of respiratory
   tract and stomach in mechanically ventilated ICU patients.
   https://doi.org/101164/ajrccm15458912745. 2012 Dec 20;154(5):1339-46.
- 203. Hamdan AL, Sabra O, Rifai H, Tabri D, Hussari A. Vocal changes in patients using nasal continuous positive airway pressure. J Voice [Internet]. 2008 Sep [cited 2023 Feb 6];22(5):603–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18762134/
- 204. Wild MR, Engleman HM, Douglas NJ, Espie CA. Can psychological factors help us to determine adherence to CPAP? A prospective study. European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2004 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Feb 6];24(3):461–5. Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/24/3/461
- 205. Bloch KE, Huber F, Furian M, Latshang TD, lo Cascio CM, Nussbaumer-Ochsner Y, et al. Autoadjusted versus fixed CPAP for obstructive sleep apnoea: a multicentre, randomised equivalence trial. Thorax [Internet]. 2018 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Jan 26];73(2):174–84. Available from: https://thorax.bmj.com/content/73/2/174
- 206. Patil SP, Ayappa IA, Caples SM, Kimoff RJ, Patel SR, Harrod CG. Treatment of Adult Obstructive Sleep Apnea with Positive Airway Pressure: An American Academy of Sleep Medicine Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2019 Feb 15

[cited 2023 Jan 26];15(2):335-43. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30736887

- 207. Freedman N. Treatment of Obstructive Sleep Apnea: Choosing the Best Positive Airway Pressure Device. Sleep Med Clin. 2020 Jun 1;15(2):205–18.
- 208. McEvoy RD, Antic NA, Heeley E, Luo Y, Ou Q, Zhang X, et al. CPAP for Prevention of Cardiovascular Events in Obstructive Sleep Apnea. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2016 Sep 8 [cited 2023 Jan 27];375(10):919–31. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27571048/
- 209. Sánchez-de-la-Torre M, Sánchez-de-la-Torre A, Bertran S, Abad J, Duran-Cantolla J, Cabriada V, et al. Effect of obstructive sleep apnoea and its treatment with continuous positive airway pressure on the prevalence of cardiovascular events in patients with acute coronary syndrome (ISAACC study): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Respir Med [Internet]. 2020 Apr 1 [cited 2022 Feb 23];8(4):359–67. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31839558/
- Perger E, Gonzaga-Carvalho C, Inami T, Ryan CM, Lyons OD. Obstructive sleep apnea and cardiovascular disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2019 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Jan 27];199(3):377–9. Available from: www.atsjournals.org
- 211. Peker Y, Glantz H, Eulenburg C, Wegscheider K, Herlitz J, Thunström E. Effect of Positive Airway Pressure on Cardiovascular Outcomes in Coronary Artery Disease Patients with Nonsleepy Obstructive Sleep Apnea. The RICCADSA Randomized Controlled Trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2016 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Jan 27];194(5):613–20. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26914592/
- 212. Xu PH, Hui CKM, Lui MMS, Lam DCL, Fong DYT, Ip MSM. Incident Type 2
  Diabetes in OSA and Effect of CPAP Treatment: A Retrospective Clinic Cohort
  Study. Chest [Internet]. 2019 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Jan 31];156(4):743–53. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31128116/
- 213. Feng Y, Zhang Z, Dong Z zhou. Effects of continuous positive airway pressure therapy on glycaemic control, insulin sensitivity and body mass index in patients

with obstructive sleep apnoea and type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. npj Primary Care Respiratory Medicine 2015 25:1 [Internet]. 2015 Feb 26 [cited 2023 Jan 31];25(1):1–7. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/npjpcrm20155

- 214. Stanchina ML, Welicky LM, Donat W, Lee D, Corrao W, Malhotra A. Impact of CPAP use and age on mortality in patients with combined COPD and obstructive sleep apnea: the overlap syndrome. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2023 Jan 30];9(8):767–72. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23946706/
- Labarca G, Saavedra D, Dreyse J, Jorquera J, Barbe F. Efficacy of CPAP for Improvements in Sleepiness, Cognition, Mood, and Quality of Life in Elderly Patients With OSA: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Chest [Internet]. 2020 Aug 1 [cited 2023 Feb 2];158(2):751–64. Available from: http://journal.chestnet.org/article/S0012369220306711/fulltext
- 216. Dunietz GL, Chervin RD, Burke JF, Conceicao AS, Braley TJ. Obstructive sleep apnea treatment and dementia risk in older adults. Sleep [Internet]. 2021 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Feb 2];44(9). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33769542/
- Justeau G, Bailly S, Gervès-Pinquié C, Trzepizur W, Meslier N, Goupil F, et al.
  Cancer risk in patients with sleep apnoea following adherent 5-year CPAP therapy.
  European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2022 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Feb 2];59(4).
  Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/59/4/2101935
- 218. Attias D, Pepin JL, Pathak A. Impact of COVID-19 lockdown on adherence to continuous positive airway pressure by obstructive sleep apnoea patients. European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2020 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Feb 5];56(1). Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/56/1/2001607
- Pataka A, Kalamaras G, Kotoulas S, Fekete K, Daskalopoulou-Vlachogianni E. OSA patients' opinions concerning their disease and treatment during the pandemic. European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2022 Sep 4 [cited 2023 Feb 5];60(suppl 66):1281. Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/60/suppl\_66/1281

- 220. Basoglu OK, Midilli M, Midilli R, Bilgen C. Adherence to continuous positive airway pressure therapy in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: Effect of visual education.
  Sleep and Breathing [Internet]. 2012 Dec 14 [cited 2023 Feb 19];16(4):1193-200.
  Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11325-011-0631-9
- 221. Saraç S, Afşar GÇ, Oruç Ö, Topçuoğlu ÖB, Saltürk C, Peker Y. Impact of Patient Education on Compliance with Positive Airway Pressure Treatment in Obstructive Sleep Apnea. Med Sci Monit [Internet]. 2017 Apr 13 [cited 2023 Feb 19];23:1792–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28406882/
- 222. Soares Pires F, Drummond M, Marinho A, Sampaio R, Pinto T, Gonçalves M, et al. Effectiveness of a group education session on adherence with APAP in obstructive sleep apnea A randomized controlled study. Sleep and Breathing [Internet]. 2013 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Feb 19];17(3):993–1001. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/S11325-012-0789-9
- Hwang D, Chang JW, Benjafield A v., Crocker ME, Kelly C, Becker KA, et al. Effect of Telemedicine Education and Telemonitoring on Continuous Positive Airway Pressure Adherence. The Tele-OSA Randomized Trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2018 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Feb 19];197(1):117–26. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28858567/
- Hu ST, Yu CC, Liu CY, Tsao LI. The effects of integrated nursing education on quality of life and health-related outcomes among obstructive sleep apnea patients receiving continuous positive airway pressure therapy. Sleep and Breathing [Internet]. 2017 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Feb 19];21(4):845–52. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11325-017-1480-y
- 225. Guralnick AS, Balachandran JS, Szutenbach S, Adley K, Emami L, Mohammadi M, et al. Educational video to improve CPAP use in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea at risk for poor adherence: a randomised controlled trial. Thorax [Internet].
  2017 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Feb 19];72(12):1132–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28667231/

- 226. Hui DSC, Chan JKW, Choy DKL, Ko FWS, Li TST, Leung RCC, et al. Effects of augmented continuous positive airway pressure education and support on compliance and outcome in a Chinese population. Chest [Internet]. 2000 [cited 2023 Feb 19];117(5):1410–6. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/10807830/
- 227. Lai AYK, Fong DYT, Lam JCM, Weaver TE, Ip MSM. The Efficacy of a Brief Motivational Enhancement Education Program on CPAP Adherence in OSA: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Chest. 2014 Sep 1;146(3):600–10.
- 228. Sawyer AM, Gooneratne NS, Marcus CL, Ofer D, Richards KC, Weaver TE. A systematic review of CPAP adherence across age groups: clinical and empiric insights for developing CPAP adherence interventions. Sleep Med Rev [Internet].
  2011 Dec [cited 2023 Feb 19];15(6):343–56. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21652236/
- 229. Marcolino MS, Oliveira JAQ, D'Agostino M, Ribeiro AL, Alkmim MBM, Novillo-Ortiz D. The Impact of mHealth Interventions: Systematic Review of Systematic Reviews. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth [Internet]. 2018 Jan 1 [cited 2023 Feb 19];6(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29343463/
- 230. Yingjuan M, Siang WH, Leong Alvin TK, Poh HP. Positional Therapy for Positional Obstructive Sleep Apnea. Sleep Med Clin [Internet]. 2019 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];14(1):119–33. Available from: http://www.sleep.theclinics.com/article/S1556407X18300833/fulltext
- Jo JH, Kim SH, Jang JH, Park JW, Chung JW. Comparison of polysomnographic and cephalometric parameters based on positional and rapid eye movement sleep dependency in obstructive sleep apnea. Scientific Reports 2022 12:1 [Internet]. 2022 Jun 14 [cited 2023 Jan 21];12(1):1–10. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-022-13850-6
- 232. Leppänen T, Töyräs J, Muraja-Murro A, Kupari S, Tiihonen P, Mervaala E, et al. Length of Individual Apnea Events Is Increased by Supine Position and Modulated by Severity of Obstructive Sleep Apnea. Sleep Disord. 2016;2016:1–13.

References

- 233. Oksenberg A, Silverberg DS, Arons E, Radwan H. Positional vs nonpositional obstructive sleep apnea patients: Anthropomorphic, nocturnal polysomnographic, and multiple sleep latency test data. Chest [Internet]. 1997 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];112(3):629–39. Available from: http://journal.chestnet.org/article/Soo12369216317299/fulltext
- 234. Heinzer R, Petitpierre NJ, Marti-Soler H, Haba-Rubio J. Prevalence and characteristics of positional sleep apnea in the HypnoLaus population-based cohort. Sleep Med. 2018 Aug 1;48:157–62.
- 235. Chung JW, Enciso R, Levendowski DJ, Westbrook PR, Clark GT. Patients with positional versus nonpositional obstructive sleep apnea: A retrospective study of risk factors associated with apnea-hypopnea severity. Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology, Oral Radiology and Endodontology [Internet]. 2010 Nov 1 [cited 2023 Jan 21];110(5):605–10. Available from: http://www.oooojournal.net/article/S1079210410004907/fulltext
- 236. Omobomi O, Quan SF. Positional therapy in the management of positional obstructive sleep apnea-a review of the current literature. Sleep Breath [Internet].
  2018 May 1 [cited 2023 Feb 26];22(2):297–304. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28852945/
- 237. Iannella G, Cammaroto G, Meccariello G, Cannavicci A, Gobbi R, Lechien JR, et al. Head-Of-Bed Elevation (HOBE) for Improving Positional Obstructive Sleep Apnea (POSA): An Experimental Study. Journal of Clinical Medicine 2022, Vol 11, Page 5620 [Internet]. 2022 Sep 23 [cited 2023 Feb 26];11(19):5620. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2077-0383/11/19/5620/htm
- 238. van Maanen JP, de Vries N. Long-term effectiveness and compliance of positional therapy with the sleep position trainer in the treatment of positional obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Sleep [Internet]. 2014 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Feb 26];37(7):1209–15. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25061249/
- 239. Johal A, Haria P, McLindent M, Manek S, Joury E, Riha R. Ready-Made Versus Custom-Made Mandibular Repositioning Devices in Sleep Apnea: A Randomized

Clinical Trial. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2023 Jan 29];13(2):175–82. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27784410/

- 240. de Beeck SO, Dieltjens M, Azarbarzin A, Willemen M, Verbraecken J, Braem MJ, et al. Mandibular Advancement Device Treatment Efficacy Is Associated with Polysomnographic Endotypes. Ann Am Thorac Soc [Internet]. 2021 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Feb 8];18(3):511–8. Available from: www.atsjournals.org.
- 241. Bratton DJ, Gaisl T, Schlatzer C, Kohler M. Comparison of the effects of continuous positive airway pressure and mandibular advancement devices on sleepiness in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea: a network meta-analysis. Lancet Respir Med [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2023 Jan 29];3(11):869–78. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26497082/
- 242. Barnes M, McEvoy RD, Banks S, Tarquinio N, Murray CG, Vowles N, et al. Efficacy of positive airway pressure and oral appliance in mild to moderate obstructive sleep apnea. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2004 Sep 15 [cited 2023 Jan 29];170(6):656–64. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15201136/
- 243. Randerath WJ, Heise M, Hinz R, Ruehle KH. An individually adjustable oral appliance vs continuous positive airway pressure in mild-to-moderate obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Chest [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2023 Jan 29];122(2):569–75. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12171833/
- 244. Iftikhar IH, Hays ER, Iverson MA, Magalang UJ, Maas AK. Effect of oral appliances on blood pressure in obstructive sleep apnea: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2023 Jan 27];9(2):165–74. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23372472/
- 245. Lim J, Lasserson TJ, Fleetham J, Wright JJ. Oral appliances for obstructive sleep apnoea. Cochrane Database Syst Rev [Internet]. 2006 Jan 25 [cited 2023 Jan 29];2006(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16437488/
- 246. Petit FX, Pépin JL, Bettega G, Sadek H, Raphaël B, Lévy P. Mandibular advancement devices: rate of contraindications in 100 consecutive obstructive sleep apnea

References

patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2002 Aug 1 [cited 2023 Jan 29];166(3):274-8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12153957/

- 247. Gindre L, Gagnadoux F, Meslier N, Gustin JM, Racineux JL. Mandibular advancement for obstructive sleep apnea: Dose effect on apnea, long-term use and tolerance. Respiration. 2008 Nov;76(4):386–92.
- 248. Nikolopoulou M, Aarab G, Ahlberg J, Hamburger HL, de Lange J, Lobbezoo F. Oral appliance therapy versus nasal continuous positive airway pressure in obstructive sleep apnea: A randomized, placebo-controlled trial on temporomandibular sideeffects. Clin Exp Dent Res [Internet]. 2020 Aug 1 [cited 2023 Feb 9];6(4):400. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC7453778/
- Patil SP, Schneider H, Schwartz AR, Smith PL. Adult obstructive sleep apnea: pathophysiology and diagnosis. Chest [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2023 Jan 29];132(1):325– 37. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/17625094/
- 250. Hoffstein V. Review of oral appliances for treatment of sleep-disordered breathing. Sleep and Breathing [Internet]. 2007 Mar 29 [cited 2023 Jan 29];11(1):1–22. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11325-006-0084-8
- 251. Mason M, Welsh EJ, Smith I. Drug therapy for obstructive sleep apnoea in adults.
  Cochrane Database Syst Rev [Internet]. 2013 May 31 [cited 2023 Jan 29];2013(5).
  Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23728641/
- 252. Liu HT, Lin YC, Kuan YC, Huang YH, Hou WH, Liou TH, et al. Intranasal Corticosteroid Therapy in the Treatment of Obstructive Sleep Apnea: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. https://doi.org/102500/ajra2016304305
  [Internet]. 2016 May 1 [cited 2023 Jan 29];30(3):215–21. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.2500/ajra.2016.30.4305
- 253. Holty JEC, Guilleminault C. Maxillomandibular advancement for the treatment of obstructive sleep apnea: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med Rev.
  2010 Oct;14(5):287-97.

- Zhou N;, Ho JPTF;, Zhou N, Ho JPTF, Spijker R, Aarab G, et al. Maxillomandibular Advancement and Upper Airway Stimulation for Treatment of Obstructive Sleep Apnea: A Systematic Review. Journal of Clinical Medicine 2022, Vol 11, Page 6782 [Internet]. 2022 Nov 16 [cited 2023 Feb 8];11(22):6782. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2077-0383/11/22/6782/htm
- 255. Pirklbauer K, Russmueller G, Stiebellehner L, Nell C, Sinko K, Millesi G, et al. Maxillomandibular advancement for treatment of obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: a systematic review. J Oral Maxillofac Surg [Internet]. 2011 Jun [cited 2023 Feb 8];69(6). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21605790/
- 256. Randerath W, Verbraecken J, de Raaff CAL, Hedner J, Herkenrath S, Hohenhorst W, et al. European Respiratory Society guideline on non-CPAP therapies for obstructive sleep apnoea. European Respiratory Review [Internet]. 2021 Dec 31 [cited 2023 Jan 29];30(162):210200. Available from: https://err.ersjournals.com/content/30/162/210200
- 257. Mediano O, Mangado NG, Montserrat JM, Alonso-Álvarez ML, Almendros I, Alonso-Fernández A, et al. [Translated article] International consensus document on obstructive sleep apnea. Arch Bronconeumol [Internet]. 2022 Apr;58(1):T52–68. Available from: https://www.archbronconeumol.org/en-translated-articleinternational-consensus-document-articulo-S0300289621004099
- 258. Green J, Thorogood N. Qualitative methods for health research. 2018 [cited 2023 Feb 18];420. Available from: https://books.google.com/books/about/Qualitative\_Methods\_for\_Health\_Research .html?hl=sv&id=HUhLDwAAQBAJ
- 259. Rosenstock IM. Historical Origins of the Health Belief Model. Health Education & Behavior. 1974;2(4):328-35.
- 260. Rosenstock IM. The Health Belief Model and Preventive Health Behavior. Health Education & Behavior. 1977;2(4):354-86.

- 261. Carpenter CJ. A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of health belief model variables in predicting behavior. Health Commun [Internet]. 2010 Dec [cited 2023 Mar 25];25(8):661–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21153982/
- 262. Steers WN, Elliott E, Nemiro J, Ditman D, Oskamp S. Health Beliefs as Predictors of HIV-Preventive Behavior and Ethnic Differences in Prediction.
  https://doi.org/101080/0022454519969923032 [Internet]. 2010 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Feb 18];136(1):99–110. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00224545.1996.9923032
- 263. Chao J, Nau DP, Aikens JE, Taylor SD. The mediating role of health beliefs in the relationship between depressive symptoms and medication adherence in persons with diabetes. Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy. 2005 Dec 1;1(4):508–25.
- 264. Yoshitake N, Omori M, Sugawara M, Akishinonomiya K, Shimada S. Do health beliefs, personality traits, and interpersonal concerns predict TB prevention behavior among Japanese adults? PLoS One [Internet]. 2019 Feb 1 [cited 2023 Feb 18];14(2):e0211728. Available from: https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0211728
- 265. Vahedian-Shahroodi M, Tehrani H, Robat-Sarpooshi D, GHolian-Aval M, Jafari A,
- Alizadeh-Siuki H. The impact of health education on nutritional behaviors in female students: an application of health belief model. Int J Health Promot Educ. 2021;59(2):70-82.
- 266. Luquis R, Health WKIJ of, 2019 undefined. Applying the health belief model to assess prevention services among young adults. Taylor & Francis [Internet]. 2018
  Jan 2 [cited 2023 Feb 18];57(1):37-47. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/14635240.2018.1549958
- 267. Rosenstock IM, Strecher VJ, Becker MH. Social Learning Theory and the Health Belief Model. Health Education & Behavior. 1988;15(2):175-83.

- 268. Bandura A. Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Advances in Behaviour Research and Therapy. 1978;1(4):139–61.
- 269. Glanz K, Rimer B, Viswanath K. Health behavior and health education: theory, research, and practice [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2023 Feb 18]. Available from: https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=1xuGErZCfbsC&oi=fnd&pg=PT12&d q=Champion,+V.+L.,+%26+Skinner,+C.+S.+(2008).+The+health+belief+model.+In+K.+Glanz,+B.+K.+Rimer,+%26+K.+Viswanath+(Eds.),+Health+behavior+and+health +education:+Theory,+research,+and+practice+(pp.+45%E2%80%9365).+Jossey-Bass.&ots=-q8a8G45-t&sig=srhNsJdoOVVIiPAeP5\_lXW1myAE
- 270. Maffucci R, Nicolai A, Tartaglione S, Gioia MR, Gaglione P, Grella E, et al. Self efficacy treatment: how health belief model can influence CPAP compliance in OSAS. European Respiratory Journal [Internet]. 2019 Sep 28 [cited 2023 Feb 19];54(suppl 63):PA4157. Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/54/suppl\_63/PA4157
- Olsen S, Smith S, Oei T, Douglas J. Health belief model predicts adherence to CPAP before experience with CPAP. Eur Respir J [Internet]. 2008 Sep [cited 2023 Feb 19];32(3):710–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18417510/
- 272. Sage CE, Southcott AM, Brown SL. The health belief model and compliance with CPAP treatment for obstructive sleep apnoea. Behaviour Change. 2001;18(3):177–85.
- 273. Edberg M. Introduction: The Links Between Health and Behavior. Essentials of health behavior: Social and behavioral theory in public health. 2007;37–52.
- 274. Glanz K, Ammerman A. Introduction to community and group models of health behavior change. Health behavior: Theory, research, and practice, 5th ed [Internet].
  2015 [cited 2023 Mar 25];(2015):271–6. Available from: https://www.wiley.com/en-us/Health+Behavior%3A+Theory%2C+Research%2C+and+Practice%2C+5th+Editio n-p-9781118628980
- 275. Creswell JW, Hanson WE, Clark Plano VL, Morales A. Qualitative Research Designs. http://dx.doi.org/101177/0011000006287390 [Internet]. 2016 Jun 30 [cited

2023 Mar 16];35(2):236–64. Available from:

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0011000006287390?journalCode=tcpa

- 276. Bell E, Bryman A, Harley B. Business research methods [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Mar 1]. Available from: https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=J9J2DwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1& dq=37.%09Bryman+A,+Bell+E.+Business+research+methods.+Oxford+University+P ress,+USA%3B+2015.&ots=GMdAed6QHL&sig=QVVlQU6gTWtLX7L\_xRMEDGGZZ yM
- 277. Galletta A. Mastering the semi-structured interview and beyond: From research design to analysis and publication [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Available from:

https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=NdbtHg6sPgIC&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&d q=Mastering+the+semistructured+interview+and+beyond:+From+research+design+to+analysis+and+publi

cation+January+2013+A.+GallettaCross,+W.E.,+Jr&ots=dzDATVVGj&sig=qho8n1UCSoxpsoJAXBj-AAwgO\_o

- 278. Dearnley C. A reflection on the use of semi-structured interviews. Nurse Res [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2023 Mar 16];13(1):19–28. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/16220838/
- 279. O'Brien BC, Harris IB, Beckman TJ, Reed DA, Cook DA. Standards for reporting qualitative research: a synthesis of recommendations. Acad Med [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2022 Oct 24];89(9):1245-51. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24979285/
- 280. DiCicco-Bloom B, Crabtree BF. The qualitative research interview. Med Educ [Internet]. 2006 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Mar 16];40(4):314-21. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02418.x
- 281. Patton MQ. Qualitative research and evaluation methods: Theory and practice.SAGE Publications, Inc. 2015;832.

- 282. Roulston K. Considering quality in qualitative interviewing. http://dx.doi.org/101177/1468794109356739 [Internet]. 2010 Apr 12 [cited 2023 Mar 16];10(2):199–228. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1468794109356739
- 283. Bryman A. Social Research Methods Alan Bryman Google Books [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2022 Jan 23]. Available from: https://books.google.es/books?hl=es&lr=&id=N2zQCgAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq =Alan+Bryman-Social+Research+Methods,+4th+Edition-Oxford+University+Press+&ots=dpMuBSI2wk&sig=ZG56\_CoO6KgoDFjBUKW6Ho5 O\_SE&redir\_esc=y#v=onepage&q=Alan%2oBryman-Social%2oResearch%2oMethods%2C%204th%2oEdition-Oxford%2oUniversity%2oPress&f=false
- 284. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol. 2006;3(2):77-101.
- 285. Friese S. Qualitative data analysis with ATLAS.ti. 2019;307.
- 286. Green J, Willis K, Hughes E, Small R, Welch N, Gibbs L, et al. Generating best evidence from qualitative research: the role of data analysis. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2007 Dec 1;31(6):545–50.
- 287. Eakin JM, Gladstone B. "Value-adding" Analysis: Doing More With Qualitative Data. https://doi.org/101177/1609406920949333 [Internet]. 2020 Aug 27 [cited 2023 Jul 23];19. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1609406920949333
- 288. Cai Y, Tripuraneni P, Gulati A, Stephens EM, Nguyen DK, Durr ML, et al. Patient-Defined Goals for Obstructive Sleep Apnea Treatment. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg [Internet]. 2022 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Mar 17];167(4):791–8. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35133912/

- 289. Hilbert J, Yaggi HK. Patient-centered care in obstructive sleep apnea: A vision for the future. Sleep Med Rev [Internet]. 2018 Feb 1 [cited 2022 Feb 23];37:138–47. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28633915/
- 290. Battersby M, Von Korff M, Schaefer J, Davis C, Ludman E, Greene SM, et al. Twelve evidence-based principles for implementing self-management support in primary care. Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2023 Mar 26];36(12):561–70. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/21222358/
- 291. Lorig KR, Holman HR. Self-management education: history, definition, outcomes, and mechanisms. Ann Behav Med [Internet]. 2003 [cited 2023 Mar 26];26(1):1–7.
   Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12867348/
- 292. Watach AJ, Hwang D, Sawyer AM. Personalized and Patient-Centered Strategies to Improve Positive Airway Pressure Adherence in Patients with Obstructive Sleep Apnea. Patient Prefer Adherence [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 17];15:1557. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC8286071/
- 293. Jamil SM. Do Patient Education Materials in Sleep Apnea Hit the Target? ATS Sch [Internet]. 2022 Mar 1 [cited 2023 Mar 17];3(1):1-4. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC9131882/
- 294. Elwyn G, Frosch D, Thomson R, Joseph-Williams N, Lloyd A, Kinnersley P, et al. Shared Decision Making: A Model for Clinical Practice. J Gen Intern Med [Internet].
  2012 Oct [cited 2023 Mar 26];27(10):1361. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC3445676/
- 295. Hall KA, Singh MM, Mukherjee S, Palmer LJ. Physical activity is associated with reduced prevalence of self-reported obstructive sleep apnea in a large, general population cohort study. J Clin Sleep Med [Internet]. 2020 Jul 15 [cited 2023 Mar 17];16(7):1179–87. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32248899/
- 296. Staveley I, Sullivan P. We need more guidance on shared decision making. The British Journal of General Practice [Internet]. 2015 Dec 1 [cited 2023 Mar 26];65(641):663. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC4655730/

- 297. Légaré F, Adekpedjou R, Stacey D, Turcotte S, Kryworuchko J, Graham ID, et al. Interventions for increasing the use of shared decision making by healthcare professionals. Cochrane Database Syst Rev [Internet]. 2018 Jul 19 [cited 2023 Mar 26];2018(7):CD006732. Available from: /pmc/articles/PMC6513543/
- 298. Fruh SM. Obesity: Risk factors, complications, and strategies for sustainable longterm weight management. J Am Assoc Nurse Pract [Internet]. 2017 Oct 1 [cited 2023 Mar 17];29(S1):S3-14. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29024553/
- 299. Wadden TA, Butryn ML, Byrne KJ. Efficacy of lifestyle modification for long-term weight control. Obes Res [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2023 Mar 17];12 Suppl. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/15687411/
- 300. Luyster FS, Dunbar-Jacob J, Aloia MS, Martire LM, Buysse DJ, Strollo PJ. Patient and Partner Experiences With Obstructive Sleep Apnea and CPAP Treatment: A Qualitative Analysis. Behavioral sleep medicine [Internet]. 2016 Jan 2 [cited 2023 Mar 17];14(1):67–84. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25203283/
- Parish JM, Lyng PJ. Quality of life in bed partners of patients with obstructive sleep apnea or hypopnea after treatment with continuous positive airway pressure. Chest [Internet]. 2003 Sep 1 [cited 2023 Mar 17];124(3):942-7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/12970021/
- 302. Althoff MD, Ghincea A, Wood LG, Holguin F, Sharma S. Asthma and Three Colinear Comorbidities: Obesity, OSA, and GERD. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract [Internet]. 2021 Nov 1 [cited 2023 Mar 17];9(11):3877–84. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34506967/
- 303. Marin-Oto M, Vicente EE, Marin JM. Long term management of obstructive sleep apnea and its comorbidities. Multidiscip Respir Med [Internet]. 2019 Jul 4 [cited 2023 Mar 17];14(1). Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31312448/
- 304. Aiello KD, Caughey WG, Nelluri B, Sharma A, Mookadam F, Mookadam M. Effect of exercise training on sleep apnea: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Respir

Med [Internet]. 2016 Jul 1 [cited 2023 Mar 17];116:85–92. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27296826/

- 305. Shenton AK. Strategies for ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research projects. Education for Information. 2004;22(2):63–75.
- 306. Lincoln YS, Guba EG. But is it rigorous? Trustworthiness and authenticity in naturalistic evaluation. New Directions for Program Evaluation [Internet]. 1986
   Apr;1986(30):73-84. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/ev.1427

# ANNEXES

# ${f A}$ PPENDIX A: Nursing Professionals' Role in the Comprehensive Management of **Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: A Literature Review**

Annex 1. Nursing Professionals' Role in the Comprehensive Management of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: A Literature Review (10)





#### Review

#### Nursing Professionals' Role in the Comprehensive Management of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea: A Literature Review

Rabie A del El Arab<sup>1,2</sup>, Manuel Sánchez-de-la-Torre<sup>1,3,4,\*</sup>, Fran Valenzuela-Pascual<sup>1,2,5,\*</sup>, Esther Rubinat-Arnaldo<sup>1,2,5</sup>, Joan Blanco-Blanco<sup>1,2,5</sup>, Francesc Rubi-Carnacea<sup>1,2,5</sup>, Oriol Martinez-Navarro<sup>1,2</sup>, Olga Mediano<sup>4,6,7</sup> and Montserrat Gea-Sánchez<sup>1,2,5</sup>

- Department of Nursing and Physiotherapy, Faculty of Nursing and Physiotherapy, University of Lleida, Sport Lieida, Spair, Tabeadel2020@yahoa.com (R.A.F.A.) Grup de Recerca de Cures de Salut (GRECS), IRBLeida, 25198 Lleida, Spain
- Group of Precision Medicine in Chronic Diseases, Respiratory Department, University Hospital A mau de Vilanova and Santa María, IRBL/eida, 25198 Lleida, Spain Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Enfermedades Respiratorias (CIBERES), 28029 Madrid, Spain
- Grup d'Estudis Societat, Salut, Educació i Cultura (GESEC), University of Lleida, 25002 Lleida, Spai 6 Unidad de Sueño, Departamento de Neumología, Hospital Universitario de Guadalajara
- 19002 Guadalajara, Spain Departamento de Medicina, Universidad de Alcalá, Alcalá de Henares, 28871 Madrid, Spain
- Correspondence: sanchezdelatorre@gmail.com (M.S.-d.-L-T.); fran.valenzuela@udl.cat (EV-P.)

Abstract: Background: obstructive sleep apnoea is a common and burdensome condition, characterised by obstruction of the airway during sleep at the level of the pharynx, which may occur with symptoms or without any symptoms. The most common place for obstructive sleep apnoea management is in specialised sleep units. Aim: to identify what is known about nurses' role in comprehensive management of obstructive sleep apnoea, and to determine the effectiveness of nurse-led interventions as well as the cost effectiveness of management of obstructive sleep apnoea in primary care settings. Methods: a scoping review was carried out by searching PubMed/ Medline, CINAHL, Scopus, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews and ScienceDirect. The study findings were synthesised using a thematic analysis approach. Results: In this review, 12 articles were included, and three key themes emerged, namely the role of nurses in the diagnosis of obstructive sleep apnoea, role of nurses in the follow up and support of obstructive sleep apnoea patients, and role of nurses in the management of obstructive sleep apnoea in primary care and the cost-effectiveness. Conclusion: Nurses can play a critical role in obstructive sleep apnoea. There are many ways in which nurses can contribute, including screening, assessment, diagnosis, promotion of therapy adherence, and following up with patients, including monitoring for any side effects associated with the CPAP machine, such as irritation of the face. Additionally, nurses can provide patient education and coordinate with other health care providers. Nursing interventions such as patient education have been demonstrated to be highly effective in promoting adherence to PAP therapy in both sleep units and primary care settings. Based on the findings of this review, the primary care model is more cost-effective than the sleep unit model in the management of obstructive sleep apnoea patients. The role of nurses in managing Obstructive Sleep Apnoea in both paediatric and adult populations shares similarities, but also includes differences that should be carefully considered and explored. In this review, one article only explored the role of nurses in paediatric OSA care. Thus, there is a need to identify the potential role of nursing in the comprehensive management of paediatric obstructive sleep apnoea, as well as to explore alternative cost-effective approaches that include primary care settings.

Keywords: obstructive sleep apnoea; adult; paediatric; chronic diseases; clinical care; clinical management; personalised medicine; precision medicine; nursing care; sleep nurse



re El Arab, R.A.; sinchez-de-la-Torie, M.; Valenzuela, Pascual, E-Rubinat-Arnaldo, E.; Blanco-Blanco, L; Rubi-Carnacea, E; Martinez-Navarro, O.; Mediano, O.; a-Sánchez, M. Nursing Professionals' Role in the Comprehensive Management of tructive Skep Apnoea: A ure Review. Appl. Sci. 2023, 13, 3516. https://doi.org/10.3390/ app13063516

mic Editor: Salvatore Pasta

Received: 23 January 2023 Revised: 28 February 2023 Accepted: 8 March 2023 Published: 9 March 2023



Copyright © 2023 by the authors Licensee MDPL Basel, Switzerland, This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Common Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creative commons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/)

Appl. Sci. 2023, 13, 3516. https://doi.org/10.3390/app13063516

https://www.mdpi.com/journal/applsci

# **A**PPENDIX B: Information Sheet

## HOJA DE INFORMACIÓN

Esta hoja informativa se dirige a los pacientes derivados a la unidad del sueño del Hospital Universitario Arnau de Vilanova de Lleida – Santa Maria. Se les invita a participar en el siguiente estudio piloto llevado a cabo por el equipo de investigación del Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Lleida (IRB) conjuntamente con la Facultad de Enfermería y Fisioterapia de la Universidad de Lleida

Título del estudio: Efectividad de una intervención *eHealth* sobre la tensión arterial, la calidad del sueño y la actividad física en pacientes con apnea obstructiva del sueño en Lleida.

### Código Comité Ética: CEIC2511

**Código del Proyecto:** Proyecto "H2020-ECSEL-2019-IA-876190" financiado por "Electronic Components and Systems for European Leadership Joint Undertaking (ECSEL JU)" en colaboración con la Unión Europea y el programa H2020 (H2020/2014-2020).

Investigador Principal: Dr. Francesc Valenzuela Pascual.

Col. 2703.

**Investigadores:** Oriol Martínez Navarro, Dr. Manuel Sánchez de la Torre, Dr. Ferran Barbé Illa, Dr. Joan Blanco Blanco, Dra. Esther Rubinat Arnaldo, Dr. Francesc Rubí Carnacea, Dr. Gerard Torres, Dr. Jordi de Batlle, Dra. María Masbernat Almenara, Blanca Manuel, Rabie Adel El Arab, Francisco José Verdejo, Dra. Jessica González.

**Centro:** Universidad de Lleida. Facultad de Enfermería y Fisioterapia C/ Montserrat Roig, 2. 25198 Lleida Telf. 973 702 459

Annexes

#### Introducción

Nuestro grupo de investigación de la Facultad de Enfermería y Fisioterapia de la Universidad de Lleida junto al IRB-Lleida pretende explorar los desafíos que presentan el uso de sensores y dispositivos de tecnología de la salud para pacientes con apnea del sueño, profesionales de la salud y cuidadores informales, para acabar desarrollando una herramienta educativa biopsicosocial que formará parte de una plataforma web. De esta forma, se podrá evaluar la eficacia de una intervención educativa, a través de la misma, en pacientes adultos diagnosticados de apnea obstructiva del sueño.

A continuación, va a recibir información y va a ser invitado a participar el estudio piloto. Antes de dar su consentimiento lea con atención esta hoja informativa. No tiene que responder hoy, puede consultar con el equipo de investigación u otros profesionales ajenos antes de tomar una decisión. Si tiene dudas, formule todas las preguntas que sean necesarias.

#### Participación Voluntaria

Su participación en esta investigación es totalmente voluntaria. Usted puede elegir si quiere o no participar. Su decisión no tendrá repercusiones en su actividad laboral. De aceptar participar, podrá abandonar el estudio en cualquier momento con total libertad y sin prejuicio alguno.

#### Descripción General del Estudio

Se trata de un estudio piloto en el que pretendemos evaluar la efectividad del algoritmo usado en el dispositivo electrónico de muñeca en relación con la recogida de datos de diferentes parámetros físicos. Por este motivo se le pedirá que use la pulsera electrónica durante un mes, tanto tiempo como sea posible, para recoger el máximo de información posible. En la misma sesión, se realizaría una entrevista semiestructurada para la realización de un estudio cualitativo. En esta investigación, se pretende conocer con la máxima profundidad posible, su experiencia en relación a la apnea obstructiva del sueño.

#### Beneficios y Riesgos Derivados de su Participación en el Estudio

No se espera que le aporte ningún efecto positivo, ya que se trata de un estudio para la recogida de información para mejorar la herramienta y poder ofrecerle un mejor servicio de rehabilitación en un futuro.

Debido a que su participación en el estudio no implica ninguna intervención física, no existe ningún riesgo derivado del estudio para el profesional sanitario o participante.

#### Confidencialidad

La gestión, la comunicación y la cesión de los datos de carácter personal de todos los participantes se ajustará a lo dispuesto en la Ley Orgánica de protección de datos de carácter personal 3/2018 en los artículos 4, 5, y 6. De acuerdo con lo que se establece en dicha legislación, usted puede ejercer los derechos de acceso, modificación, oposición y cancelación de datos, para lo cual deberá dirigirse a la persona de contacto.

La información recogida durante la investigación será totalmente confidencial. Esta será recogida por los mismos dispositivos eHealth y a través de ellos enviada directamente a un ordenador al cuál solo tendrán acceso el investigador principal y los miembros del equipo que gestionan el dispositivo electrónico. Los datos estarán identificados mediante un código, de forma que nadie pueda asociar la información a su persona.

Le pediremos también si es posible grabar el audio durante la entrevista semi estructurada. Esto se debe a el posterior análisis de la información, con el objetivo de mejorar el tratamiento que podamos ofrecerle en un futuro. Esta grabación se guardará y no se utilizará para ningún otro fin.

El acceso a su información personal quedará restringido al personal del estudio, autoridades sanitarias, al Comité Ético de Investigación Clínica y personal autorizado por el investigador, cuando lo precisen para comprobar los datos y el procedimiento del estudio, pero siempre manteniendo la confidencialidad de estos de acuerdo a la legislación vigente. Excepcionalmente, en caso de requerimiento legal será relevada su identidad.

#### Compensación Económica

Su participación en el estudio no le supondrá ningún gasto. Por otro lado, tampoco recibirá ninguna compensación económica ya que su participación no le supone ningún riesgo para su salud.

#### Derecho a Negarse o Retirarse

Usted no tiene obligación de participar en la presente investigación si no desea hacerlo. En el caso de aceptar, podrá dejar de participar en cualquier momento. Si decide retirar el consentimiento para participar en este estudio, ningún dato nuevo será añadido a la base de datos y puede exigir la destrucción de todos los datos identificables previamente registrados. Serán respetados todos sus derechos.

#### **Con Quien Contactar**

En caso de dudas durante y posteriormente a su participación en el estudio puede contactar con la persona responsable de la investigación.

Francesc Valenzuela Pascual, Doctor en salud.	Col.2703
fran.valenzuela@udl.cat	692864540
Delegado de Protección de Datos	
Fundació TicSalut i Social	
Dpd@ticsalutsocial.cat	935532642

#### **Otra Información Relevante**

Cualquier información que surja durante la investigación y pueda afectar a su participación, le será comunicada por el investigador lo antes posible.

El investigador podrá excluir del estudio si lo considera oportuno a los participantes que no sigan el procedimiento del estudio establecido, o dejen de cumplir los criterios de elegibilidad. En el caso de ser excluido, usted recibirá una explicación adecuada del motivo que ha ocasionado su retirada del estudio.

Al firmar la hora de consentimiento adjunta, se compromete a cumplir con el procedimiento del estudio que se le ha expuesto anteriormente.

# **A**PPENDIX C: Consent Form

# CONSENTIMIENTO

**Título del estudio:** Efectividad de una intervención *eHealth* sobre la tensión arterial, la calidad del sueño y la actividad física en pacientes con apnea obstructiva del sueño en Lleida.

Investigador Principal: Dr. Francesc Valenzuela Pascual.

**Investigadores:** Oriol Martínez Navarro, Dr. Manuel Sánchez de la Torre, Dr. Ferran Barbé Illa, Dr. Joan Blanco Blanco, Dra. Esther Rubinat Arnaldo, Dr. Francesc Rubí Carnacea, Dr. Gerard Torres, Dr. Jordi de Batlle, Dra. María Masbernat Almenara, Blanca Manuel, Rabie Adel El Arab, Francisco José Verdejo, Dra. Jessica González.

Su consentimiento significa que nos autoriza a realizar esta sesión.

Usted puede retirar este consentimiento cuando lo desee. Firmarlo no le obliga a participar en el estudio. De su rechazo no se derivará ninguna consecuencia adversa respecto a la calidad del resto de la atención médica recibida. Antes de firmar, es importante que haya leído atentamente la información contenida en la hoja informativa del estudio, que ha recibido junto con este consentimiento.

Si tiene alguna duda o necesita más información no dude en decírnoslo, le atenderemos con mucho gusto.

## Consentimiento informado

## DATOS DEL/ DE LA PACIENTE

Apellidos y nombre del / de la paciente:

Teléfono:		

Dirección:	

# PROFESIONAL QUE INTERVIENE EN EL PROCESO DE INFORMACIÓN Y / O CONSENTIMIENTO:

Apellidos y nombre:			Firma:
Fecha:			
Consentimiento			
Yo, D / Dña			manifiesto
que estoy conforme	con el estudio	que se me ha	a propuesto. He leído y comprendido la
información conteni	da en la hoja i	nformativa q	jue se me ha proporcionado. He podido
preguntar y aclarar to	odas mis dudas.	Por eso he to	omado consciente y libremente la decisión
de participar. Tambié	én sé que puedo	retirar mi con	nsentimiento cuando lo estime oportuno.
Autorizo a los	investigadores	a grabar el au	udio de la sesión, que se utilizará para un
estudio cualitativo en	n relación a la e	experiencia de	e los pacientes con apnea obstructiva del
sueño.	Si	í ()	No ()
En	el de	d	le 2022
El/La PACIEN	ITE		
Firmado			

# Revocación del consentimiento

Yo, \_\_\_\_\_, de forma consciente y libre he decidido retirar mi consentimiento a participar en este estudio.

En \_\_\_\_\_ el \_\_\_\_ de \_\_\_\_\_ de 2022 El/La PACIENTE

\_\_\_\_\_

Firmado